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LEADING THE WAY IN
DIGITAL REVOLUTION

Since inception in 1959, UBL has gradually evolved into
Pakistan’s leading financial institution. Just like a butterfly’s
metamorphosis from a caterpillar to an adult, a bank can also
evolve over time as it adapts to changes in the market and the
needs of its customers. Similar to the butterfly's transformation,
this process can involve gradual changes to the bank's
organisational structure, operations, products and services
offered to the customers.

The butterfly emerges from the cocoon with wings, colorful
patterns, and other adaptations that enable it to survive and
reproduce in its environment. UBL has evolved from purely a
traditional brick-and-mortar model to one that is in the metaverse,
with the development of new digital technologies and changes in
consumer behavior.

With careful planning, strategic investments and the willingness to
adapt to change, UBL has shed its cocoon with a new set of
capabilities and strengths to thrive in its environment.
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VISION

To be a world class bank dedicated to excellence, and to surpass the
highest expectations of our customers and all other stakeholders.

MISSION

Be the undisputed leader in financial services for our customers
Most innovative and fastest growing bank in targeted businesses
Continue to diversify across chosen geographies

Achieve operational excellence with the highest level of compliance
Consistently create leaders through inspired human capital
Contribute positively to the communities we operate in

VALUES

Customer first
Honesty of purpose
Teamwork
Excellence
Meritocracy



THE FUTURE ERA OF
TRANSFORMATION

UBL leads the way in terms of cutting-edge technology. As the
country's leading bank, we are dedicated to lightning-fast and
convenient digital services. Our exceptional products are used by
over 11 million customers, and we have been recognised as the
Best Digital Bank in Pakistan on both national and international
platforms. This positions us to bring the global digital
transformation of banking services to our customers and provide
the ultimate banking experience.
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CHAIRMAN'S PROFILE

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE H Pk

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE H Pk is the Chairman of the
Board of Directors of United Bank Limited since December 2013.
He is also the Chairman of the Board Nomination Committee
(BNC) and Member of the Board Human Resource &
Compensation Committee (HRCC). Moreover, he is the Chairman
of Bestway Group & its subsidiaries, which include Batleys
Limited, Well Pharmacy and Bestway Cement Limited.

Sir Anwar began his career in the food business in 1963 when he
opened a convenience store in London. He ventured into the
wholesale business in 1976 and has been responsible for growing
Bestway Group into the 9th largest family business in the UK.

Today, it is the 2nd largest wholesaler in the UK, the 3rd largest
retail pharmacy in the UK, the 2nd largest cement producer in
Pakistan and the 2nd largest private bank in Pakistan. The Group
provides employment to over 33,600 globally.

Sir Anwar was awarded the Order of the British Empire (OBE) in
1992 and was conferred the title of Knight’s Bachelor in 1999 by
Her Majesty the Queen for his services to the food industry and
various charitable causes in the UK. In 2000 he was awarded
‘Hilal-e-Pakistan (H Pk)’.

In 2005, Sir Anwar Pervez was voted winner of the prestigious
‘Grocer Cup for Outstanding Business Achievement’ by the
Institute of Grocery Distribution, UK.

In 2006, he received ‘Sitara-e-Essar’ by the President of Pakistan.
The same year he was chosen as the ‘Master Entrepreneur — UK’
at the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year 2006 Awards.

In 2011, Sir Anwar was awarded with an honorary Doctor of Laws
degree by FC College Lahore.

In 2012, in recognition of his philanthropic services to the
Community, the University of Bradford conferred on Sir Anwar

Pervez an honorary Doctor of Laws degree.

He is also the Chairman of Bestway Foundation UK and
Patron-in-Chief of Bestway Foundation Pakistan.

Annual Report 2022 11



BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Lord Zameer Mohammed
Choudrey, CBE, SI Pk, FCA

Director

Lord Zameer Mohammed Choudrey CBE, S| Pk has been a
Member of the Board of Directors of United Bank Limited since
October 2002. He is a Member of the Board Risk and Compliance
Committee (BRCC), Board IT Committee (BITC) and Board
Nomination Committee (BNC). He is also a Director of UBL
Insurers Limited.

He is the Chief Executive of Bestway Group, which is the 9th
largest family owned business in UK with annual turnover of £4.5
billion. The Group is the 2nd largest wholesaler in the UK, the 3rd
largest retail pharmacy in the UK, the 2nd largest cement
producer in Pakistan and the 2nd largest private bank in Pakistan.
The Group provides employment to over 33,600 globally.

Lord Choudrey is a Chartered Accountant by profession. He
joined Bestway Group as a Financial Controller in 1984. In 1990,
he was promoted as the Group Finance Director. In 1995, he was
given additional responsibilities of business diversification both in
UK and Pakistan and was promoted as Chief Executive of
Bestway Cement Limited. He was appointed as the Group CEO in 2004.

He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. He is the Chairman of Conservative Friends of Pakistan.

Lord Choudrey is a trustee of Bestway Foundation UK and Chairman
of Bestway Foundation Pakistan. He is also a trustee of Crimestoppers.

In 2011 he was part of the International Leadership Team of HRH
Prince of Wales Pakistan Recovery Fund.

In April 2013, he was invited to join The British Asian Trust’s UK
Advisory Council and in January 2018 he was appointed its Chair.

In November 2014, he was awarded an honorary degree by
University of Kent in recognition of his philanthropic services to
the community.

In December 2015, he was appointed Commander of the Order of
the British Empire (CBE) by Her Majesty the Queen for his services
to the UK wholesale industry and various charitable causes in the
UK and abroad.

In March 2018, the President of Pakistan awarded the
Sitara-e-Imtiaz (Star of Excellence) to him in recognition of his
contributions to advancing Pakistan through his services and the
wide array of philanthropic work.

In June 2019, he joined the Commonwealth Enterprise &
Investment Council's Advisory Council.

In September 2019, he was appointed to the House of Lords, UK.
This appointment is in recognition of his considerable
contributions to Britain’s domestic and foreign trade as a leading
businessman and entrepreneur, his wide array of philanthropic
work both in the UK and abroad, and his role as Chairman of the
Conservative Friends of Pakistan.

Haider Zameer Choudrey, ACA
Director

Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey has been a Director of United Bank
Limited since March 2014. He is a Member of the Board Audit
Committee (BAC), Board IT Committee (BITC) and Board
Nomination Committee (BNC).

He is the Group Chief Financial Officer of Bestway Group with
financial and strategic responsibility for all business units.

He joined the Bestway Group in 2012 and was elevated to the
Board in 2018. Prior to his elevation to the Board, Haider held a
number of roles within Bestway including Financial Controller and
Head of Group Finance.

Haider is a member of the Board of Directors of Well Pharmacy in
UK and of Bestway Cement Limited in Pakistan. He was
appointed a Trustee of the Bestway Foundation in June 2021.

After having distinguished himself at the world-renowned Eton
College, Haider read Economics at Gonville & Caius College,
University of Cambridge. He also received his Masters in
Economics from the University of Cambridge. He is a member of
the Vice Chancellor’s Circle at the University of Cambridge.

Haider is also a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and previously trained with KPMG UK LLP.

Haider is a Certified Director from the Pakistan Institute of
Corporate Governance (PICG).
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DIRECTORS

Rizwan Pervez
Director

Mr. Rizwan Pervez has been a Member of the Board of Director of
United Bank Limited since March 2014. He is a Member of the
Board Audit Committee (BAC) and the Board Human Resource &
Compensation Committee (HRCC). He is also a Director of UBL
Insurers Limited.

Rizwan graduated from the University of Pittsburgh, USA in 1990
with a BSc in Business Management.

He was trained with a leading UK firm of Chartered Accountants
and qualified in August 1995. Rizwan is a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales.

He joined Bestway as a Financial Accountant in 1995 and was
elected to the Board of Directors in January 2000 as Group
Business Development Director. He was responsible for
developing the Group’s fascia and delivered business. Rizwan
was instrumental in creating the “Best-One” symbol group and
Bestway Direct, the Group’s delivered wholesale operation.

In 2006, Rizwan was appointed Operations Director where he led
and managed the integration of Bestway and Batleys wholesale
operations which created the UK’s largest independent wholesale
group. In 2012, Rizwan was appointed the Group Marketing & PR
Director. In 2014, he was appointed as Wholesale Operations
Director. In 2016, he was appointed as Customer Liaison Director.

In 2019, Rizwan was appointed as Managing Director of MAP
Trading Limited.

Rizwan has served as Governor of John Kelly Schools in North
West London playing a leading role in the school’s attainment of
‘academy’ status and establishing the school as a centre of
excellence under its new name of The Crest Academy.

Rizwan is a Trustee of Bestway Foundation UK.

Rizwan is a Certified Director from the Pakistan Institute of
Corporate Governance (PICG).

Muhammad Jawaid Igbal, CFA
Director

Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal is a member of the Board of
Directors of United Bank Limited since December 14, 2022. He is
the Chairman of the Board Risk & Compliance Committee (BRCC)
and member of the Board Human Resource & Compensation
Committee (HRCC).

He is founder of Providus Capital (Private) Limited —an investment
firm established in 2017. Providus Capital primarily invests into
public equity markets of Pakistan.

Mr. Jawaid Igbal has over two decades of banking experience and
has worked with Emirates Bank International PJSC Pakistan,
National Bank of Pakistan and Allied Bank Limited at senior
managerial positions.

He did his Masters in Business Administration from Bahauddin
Zakariya University, Pakistan; Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
from CFA Institute, USA; and Advanced Management Program
from Harvard Business School, USA.
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Amar Zafar Khan
Director

Mr. Amar Zafar Khan is a Chartered Accountant turned
International banker with over 30 vyears’ multi-functional
international experience at Price Waterhouse Coopers, UK and
Citibank NA. His core contribution has been in turnarounds and
developing new products and businesses in commercial banking,
investment banking, domestic and cross-border corporate
finance and securities trading.

As an international staff member of Citibank, he served in Europe,
the Middle East and Africa. In Europe he started a new aircraft and
ship leasing business to a position of market leadership. Another
notable commercial success was the pioneering First Securities
Discount House, an IFC investment in Nigeria, which he set up
and grew to market leadership in trading Fixed Income Securities
and Asset Management. He later returned to Nigeria as Executive
Director to oversee restructuring of retail banking, investment
banking and international operations of United Bank for Africa,
after it was privatised.

He returned to Pakistan after 23 years. Initially as an advisor and
later as the Chairman and CEO of United Bank Limited (UBL) a
nationalised institution, he restructured, commercialised and
privatised the Bank. He continued with the new owners as CEO
before retiring to Malaysia in order to pursue academic interests,
social causes and mentoring new businesses.

He pursues efforts to influence a shift in Pakistan’s emphasis
towards horticulture exports and up scaling of industry away from
unsustainable import substitution to exports.

Amar is a Certified Director from the Pakistan Institute of
Corporate Governance (PICG). He has served on the Boards of
various NGOs engaged in Healthcare, Population Control and
Education. Aside from UBL, he serves on the Boards of two other
listed companies as a non executive independent director.

Amar holds an M.B.A. (Major in Marketing) from Cranfield School of
Management, Bedford, UK. In 1981, he was admitted as a Fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales.

Shazia Syed
Director

Ms. Shazia Syed has been a Member of the Board of Directors of
United Bank Limited since November 10, 2020. She is the
Chairperson of Board Audit Committee (BAC) and member of
Board Risk & Compliance Committee (BRCC).

Ms. Shazia Syed is responsible for Unilever’s North Africa cluster,
based out of Cario, which includes 12 emerging countries
including Egypt and Morocco.

Prior to becoming General Manager North Africa, she was the
global head of tea business and was on the board of Pukka Tea
and Pepsi Lipton. She had been on the Board of Unilever Pakistan
Limited as Chairperson & CEO as well as on the Board of Unilever
Pakistan Foods Limited as CEO. She has a career spanning
across 30 years in the FMCG sector and has worked in leadership
roles in South East Asia, South Asia and Europe.

She was the erstwhile President of the Overseas Investor’s
Chamber of Commerce & Industry and has also served as a
Director for the Pakistan Business Council. In addition, Shazia
also contributed her time on the Advisory Council at the British
Asian Trust, Advisory Board of Change-Pakistan and as a Trustee
at the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award Foundation.

Shazia is an active advocate for Diversity & Inclusion at
workplace, with a vision to enable and facilitate working women
from all backgrounds across all sectors.

She is a Certified Director from the Pakistan Institute of Corporate
Governance (PICG).
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Tariq Rashid
Director

Mr. Tarig Rashid has over 30 years' of experience in Management
& Information Technology at senior levels. He spearheaded the
setup of the IT infrastructure of mobile operator Mobilink (now
Jazz) since inception. He led the IT organisation of Mobilink
through different phases of Telecom industry’s life cycle i.e.
infancy, growth and consolidation and served as VP & Chief
Strategy Officer for more than 5 years. He also served as a
Director of Information Technology at HQ of Telecommunication
company in Egypt. He successfully led few large
business/technology transformation initiatives during his career.

He served as a Director on the Board of Mobilink Microfinance
Bank and headed the Risk Committee. He served as a Director on
the Board of Mobile Number Portability Database (Guarantee)
Limited. He also served as a President on the Board of
International School of Islamabad (ISOI) for more than 4 years.

He is the Chairman of the Board IT Committee (BITC) and Board
Human Resource & Compensation Committee (HRCC) of UBL.

He holds an engineering degree from the University of
Engineering & Technology, Lahore and post graduate certificate in
Computers from National Academy of Higher Education. He
attended different management programs abroad and locally from
institutes like IMD, INSEAD, MIT and LUMS.

He is a Certified Director from the Pakistan Institute of Corporate
Governance (PICG).

Shazad G. Dada
President and CEO

Mr. Shazad G. Dada is the President and CEO of UBL. He is a
prominent banking and capital markets professional with over 30
years of distinguished experience with renowned financial
institutions in the United States and Pakistan.

Before joining UBL, Shazad was the CEO of Standard Chartered
Bank (Pakistan) Ltd and a member of its Africa and Middle East
regional Management Team. He also served as the CEO and
Managing Director of Barclays Pakistan and Head of Regional
Transaction Services Steering Committee for Asia, India, UAE and Pakistan.

Shazad started his career at Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. in New
York, where he worked for over 15 years in various capacities, last
as the Managing Director of the Mergers, Acquisitions and
Corporate Advisory Group. He moved back to Pakistan in 2005 as
the Managing Director and Chief Country Officer of Deutsche
Bank AG Pakistan.

He is a member of the Board of Director of UBL UK, Council
Member at the Institute of Bankers Pakistan, nominated
representative at the Pakistan Business Council and executive
committee member of the Pakistan Banks Association.

Shazad has held various non-executive positions in the past
including President of Overseas Investors Chamber of Commerce
and Industry (OICCI), Chairman of Pakistan Mercantile Exchange,
Chairman Pakistan Banks Association, Independent Director of
the Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX), member of the Board of
Directors of Sui Southern Gas Company Limited and member
Board of Governors of British Overseas School.

Shazad is a graduate with honours from University of
Pennsylvania with Bachelors of Science and Bachelors of Arts
degrees and holds an MBA from the Wharton Business School.

He is a Member of the Board Risk and Compliance Committee
(BRCC) and Board IT Committee (BITC) of UBL. He is a Certified
director from the Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG).

Shazad has been associated with various reputed charitable,
educational and healthcare organizations. He is the Chairman of
the Board of Trustees of Developments in Literacy and Director on
the Board of the Karachi Education Initiative. He is also Director of
NIBAF. Shazad is a strong advocate for diversity and inclusion and
in 2019, he was recognised as one of the top 10 HERoes Women
Role Model.
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THE PROGRESSIVENESS
OF TOMORROW

UBL has redefined tomorrow’s landscape by devoting its efforts
towards a more progressive banking experience. What followed
was an amazing journey of discovering new ways to add value to
every aspect of our business. We will continue to invest in areas that
drive Pakistan's economic development and contributes to a more
financially inclusive country by making banking better, faster, and
safer. We remain committed to providing services with unparalleled
value to transform everyone’s tomorrow.




CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS

| am elated to announce that 2022 has been another remarkable
year for United Bank Limited (UBL) as the Bank continues to
expand its profitability levels. As Chairman of the Board of one
of the largest financial institutions of Pakistan, | would like to
express my gratitude towards our ever-increasing customer
base, who continue to place their faith in our organisation. As we
continue in our journey towards being a world class bank
dedicated to excellence and to surpass the highest expectation
of our customers, | would like to appreciate the management as
well as our invaluable UBL family who maintain the highest level
of professionalism and commitment towards serving our customers.

The core foundation of UBL franchise remains its domestic
operations. We will continue to invest in our network, our people
and our technological infrastructure, to widen our digital
product suite and further improve our customer service
standards. The Bank has stabilised its international businesses
as we look to build a more profitable and sustainable business
model for the longer term. The International branches posted a
healthy contribution to the Bank’s bottom line in 2022 and we
believe that the business will continue to be a strong
diversification benefit to the UBL franchise. We maintain a
strong relationship with the Pakistani diaspora all over the world
who continue to regard UBL as their bank of choice, as we
maintained our market leadership position in the home
remittances space.

The Bank continues to work closely with the regulators and is
actively participating in all major nation building initiatives to
strengthen the economy and expand the scope of financial
services across the country. We are an active participant in
housing schemes, providing access to loans to the country’s
youth, as well as playing a major role in mobilising foreign
currency under the very successful Roshan Digital initiative of
the Government of Pakistan.

| am pleased to inform you that the Bank adheres to the highest
standards of corporate governance in line with regulatory
guidelines and international best practices. The Board has
constituted various sub-committees with a comprehensive
oversight framework for governance across risk management,
audit, information technology and other key functions
necessary for achieving the Bank’s strategic objectives. | would
like to mention that the Board and its sub-committees have
carried out their responsibilities with the highest levels of
competence, professionalism, proficiency and in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

I would also like to inform that a fair internal mechanism is being
followed for evaluating performance of individual directors,
including the Chairman and the President, as well as the overall
Board and its committees.

The Bank continues to invest in its technological capabilities as
part of our Digital and Payments strategy. For the third
consecutive year, Asiamoney lauded UBL’s digital excellence by
declaring it the “Best Bank for Digital Solutions” in Pakistan for
2022. Alongside, Euromoney declared UBL as the “Market
Leader of Digital Banking” in Pakistan, especially based on its
track record as the best in digital. This is testament to UBLs
contribution in expanding the scope of financial services
through digital channels in Pakistan and leading innovation
within the local banking space.

Finally, | would like to thank our customers for their continued
trust in UBL. | would also like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all fellow Board members for their valuable
contribution and our shareholders for their backing. | would like
to thank all the regulatory authorities for their continued
guidance and support.

]—_____ |

L_h__-_,_______‘_f_\o

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk
February 22, 2023

DIRECTORS REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS 2022

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to present
the 64th Annual Report of United Bank Limited (UBL or the
Bank) for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Performance Overview

On a standalone basis, UBL recorded Profit Before Tax (PBT) of
Rs. 68.3 billion for the year ending December 31, 2022, with a
strong growth of 31% year on year.

The Bank’s gross revenues were recorded at Rs. 137.7 billion for
2022, an increase of 45% against the corresponding period of
last year. Net mark-up income stood at Rs. 103.2 billion, with a
significant increase of 44%. Non-markup income stood at Rs.
34.4 billion in 2022, recording an increase of 47%, with a strong
build up in core revenues and a one-off gain of Rs. 6.8 billion on
the winding up of UBL Switzerland AG, a previously wholly
owned subsidiary.

The Bank’s operating expenses stood at Rs. 52.3 billion for
2022, up 22% vyear on year, a result of significantly higher
inflation levels, steep decline in the value of the PKR and higher
overheads across the network. Despite the increase in the cost
base, UBL's cost to income ratio improved from 45% in 2021 to
38% in 2022.

The Bank recorded a net provisioning expense of Rs. 15.7 billion
in 2022 (2021: net provision reversal of Rs. 955 million), mainly to
build coverage against investments held within UBL
International.

Financial Highlights

On a standalone basis, UBL recorded Profit After Tax (PAT) of
Rs. 32.1 billion for 2022 as against a PAT of Rs. 30.9 billion for
2021. Earnings per share (EPS) was measured at Rs. 26.19 for
2022 (2021: Rs. 25.23).

On a consolidated basis, UBL recorded PAT of Rs. 32.1 billion
(2021: Rs. 30.6 billion). The consolidated EPS was measured at
Rs. 25.76 for 2022 (2021: Rs. 24.84).

Net Markup Income

The Bank earned net markup income of Rs. 103.2 billion in 2022,
with a strong build up in the revenue base which is up 44% year
on year. Benchmark interest rates averaged 13.2% in 2022
versus 7.3% in 2021, a result of significant monetary tightening
and sharp increase in inflation. With a consistent build up in the
balance sheet during the year, markup earning assets averaged
Rs. 2.2 trillion in 2022, growing by 13%. A timely repositioning
within the asset book strengthened interest earnings which is
driven by a well-diversified portfolio of fixed and floating rate
investments. This resulted in a sharp increase in net interest
margins (NIMs) from 3.8% in 2021 to 4.9% in 2022.

Domestic deposits averaged Rs. 1.64 trillion in 2022, growing by
9% over last year with a net incremental increase of Rs. 130
billion in the portfolio. Domestic CASA deposits averaged Rs.
1.39 trillion for 2022, with a 7% growth year on year. The average
CASA to total deposits remained strong and was measured at
85%, largely in line with last year.

Branch Banking Group continues to expand its portfolio of low
cost, stable deposits as it added approximately 613,000 new
current account relationships in 2022 as against 564,000

current account relationships in the corresponding period of last
year. This led to average current deposits recording a growth of
13% vyear on year, increasing to Rs. 715 billion in 2022.
Resultantly, the average current to total deposits ratio improved
to 43.6% in 2022 from 42.1% in 2021. The domestic portfolio of
savings accounts averaged Rs. 674 billion in 2022 (2021: Rs. 661
billion). The domestic cost of deposits was measured at 6.4% in
2022 as against 3.6% in the corresponding period of last year
and remained well contained despite the sharp increase in
interest rates during the year.

Bank level performing advances averaged Rs. 665 billion for
2022, growing by a strong 20% year on year. Domestic
performing advances averaged Rs. 525 billion, with an increase
of 18%, mainly due to the build up across the Corporate
portfolio. The Bank continued to scale up its Islamic business as
the segment’s loan book averaged Rs. 69 billion for 2022, up
87% year on year.

The Bank’s markup earning investments averaged Rs. 1.47
trillion for 2022, growing by 8%. The domestic government
securities portfolio earned a healthy yield of 12.3% during 2022.
UBL International also maintained a healthy contribution to the
Bank’s overall net-markup income with yields of 5.6% earned on
the investment portfolio, comprising primarily of foreign
sovereign debt instruments.

Non-Markup Income

The Bank earned non-markup income of Rs. 34.4 billion in 2022,
with a strong increase of 47%. Non- markup income contributed
25.0% to the total revenues of the Bank (2021: 24.6%).

Fees and commission income of Rs. 15.9 billion was earned in
2022, with an overall growth of 21%. Customer fees from branch
banking operations stood at Rs. 2.3 billion, an increase of 33%,
driven mainly by business acquisitions across the retail network.

UBL maintained its leadership position in the domestic home
remittances space with a market share of over 21%. As a result,
commission income of Rs. 2.0 billion was earned in 2022, with
growth of 20%. Bancassurance business maintained its
significant contribution to the non-markup revenue base with
commissions of Rs. 1.6 billion earned during the year and was
up 4%.

Income from debit and credit card fees of Rs. 3.1 billion was
earned in 2022, which is up 21% with the portfolio of active debit
card customers now standing at over 2.5 million, with 930,000
new acquisitions during the year. Commission income from
cash management was recorded at Rs. 1.1 billion in 2022,
growing by 14% year on year with higher throughput volumes
across Corporate and SME customers. Income from trade and
guarantee business was recorded at Rs. 2.0 billion, recording a
strong growth of 58% with steady volumes across long standing
customer relationships.

The Bank earned foreign exchange income of Rs. 8.4 billion for
2022 as against Rs. 4.0 billion last year, primarily due to
enhanced customer flows and proactive balance sheet
positioning. Dividend income of Rs. 2.1 billion was earned in
2022, an increase of 3%, with payouts mainly from the Bank’s
holdings in fertilizer and energy sectors. The Bank recorded a
gain of Rs. 6.8 billion on the voluntary wind up of its previously
wholly owned subsidiary, UBL Switzerland AG.
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Provisions and Loan Losses

UBL recorded a net provision charge of Rs. 15.7 billion in 2022
versus net provision reversals of Rs. 955 million in 2021. A
provision charge of Rs. 19.1 billion was recorded against the
Bank’s investment portfolio, mainly to build coverage against its
holdings of foreign sovereign bonds held within UBL
International. The Bank also recorded net provision reversal of
Rs. 2.9 billion against loans and advances as against a net
provision charge of Rs. 1.2 billion in 2022, owing to strong
recovery efforts both within Domestic and International
operations.

Bank level non-performing loans (NPLs) stood at Rs. 93.3 billion
at Dec’22, (Dec’21: Rs. 86.0 billion), an increase of Rs. 7.3 billion.
Bank level asset quality declined from 11.8% at Dec’21 to 9.2%
at Dec’22, while specific coverage was enhanced from 86.9% at
Dec’21 to 87.6% at Dec’22.

Gross advances for the domestic bank stood at Rs. 785 billion
at Dec’22 as against Rs. 544 billion at Dec’21 and constitute
77% of the total portfolio. Domestic NPLs reduced by Rs. 0.9
billion since Dec’21, from Rs. 27.1 billion to Rs. 26.2 billion at
Dec’22. Domestic bank’s asset quality improved further to 3.3%
at Dec’22 (Dec’21: 5.0%), due to the strong build up in the
performing portfolio during the year.

UBL International’s NPLs stood at USD 296.5 million at Dec’22
(Dec’21: USD 334.0 million). Specific coverage against loans for
the International business was measured at 87.5% at Dec’22
(Dec’21: 86.4%).

Cost Management

UBL remains focused on creating operational efficiencies
across the branch network and with support functions’
enhanced synergies and greater use of technologies to digitise
the Bank’s functions and processes. The Bank’s operating
expenses were recorded at Rs. 52.3 billion for 2022, growing by
22%. Employee compensation was recorded at Rs. 19.7 billion
for 2022, up 19% primarily due to inflation related salary
adjustments as well as merit increments. Property expenses
were recorded at Rs. 8.9 billion, growing by 27%, and includes a
one-off adjustment for change in the accounting estimate for
depreciation on premises. IT expenses recorded an increase of
19%, primarily due to the steep devaluation in the PKR against
USD impacting licensing payments in foreign currencies. Other
operating expenses were recorded at Rs. 18.4 billion, growing
by 24%, as a result of variable expenses in line with increased
business volumes as compared with last year.

Capital Ratios

The Bank seeks to maintain a strong capital base that provides
a solid foundation for future growth as well as maintaining
adequate buffers over regulatory requirements.

In the latest assessment carried out by SBP in December 2022,
UBL has been classified as a Designated Domestic Systemically
Important Bank (D-SIB). The Bank is required to meet the Higher
Loss Absorbency (HLA) capital surcharge, in the form of
additional Common Equity Tier 1 (CET-1) capital of 0.5% on a
standalone and consolidated basis. As a result of the updated
assessment, the minimum capital requirement for UBL has
increased to 12.0%.

The Bank’s overall CAR stood at 19.2% at Dec’22 (Dec’21:
21.5%), with a buffer of 7.2% over the minimum regulatory
requirement of 12.0%. The Common Equity Tier 1 (CET-1) ratio
stood at 13.4% at Dec’22 (Dec’21: 15.1%). Total Tier 1 Capital
ratio was measured at 14.4% at Dec’22 (Dec’21: 16.3%).

The Board of Directors of UBL declared a final cash dividend of
Rs. 9.0 per share in their meeting in Islamabad held on February

22, 20283, along with the results for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Economy Review

Pakistan continues to be impacted by a weak external account
position, with a dire need for affirmation of external financial
inflows and resumption of the IMF programme. These are now
critical to maintain and then stabilise the economy in order to
rebuild major industrial sectors.

The country’s Current Account recorded a deficit of USD 3.7
billion for H1 FY’23, a decline 60% over the corresponding
period of last year. Balance of trade recorded a deficit of USD
19.6 billion for 7M. FY’23 versus a deficit of USD 28.9 billion last
year. Exports were recorded at USD 16.5 billion for 7M FY’23,
recording a decline of 7.2% while imports were recorded at USD
36.1 billion and are down 22.5% year on year. Home remittances
stood at USD 16.0 billion for 7M FY’23, down 11% year on year.
The domestic FX markets continued to remain volatile with the
PKR having depreciated by 51% in value February 13, 2023,
versus December 31, 2021.

Inflation levels continue to remain at historic high levels as CPI
was measured at 27.6% for Jan’23 as against 13.0% in Jan’22
(Dec’21: 12.3%). Elevated domestic energy prices as well as
rising food inflation will continue to slowdown economic activity
and impact GDP levels in the near term. The SBP in its recent
monetary policy meeting held on January 23, 2023, increased
the benchmark interest rate by a further 100 bps to 17.0%.

The KSE-100 index was also remained impacted by the current
economic environment and closed at 40,420 points as at
Dec’22, declining by 9% since Dec’21. Deposits for the banking
sector stood at Rs.22.5 trillion as at Dec’22, up 7% since
Dec’21, while banking sector advances closed at Rs. 11.9 trillion
as at Dec’22, up 17% over Dec’21. Non-performing loans for the
banking industry stood at Rs. 898 billion at Sep’22, with an
increase of 4% over Dec’21, while asset quality improved from
7.9% at Dec’21 to 7.6% at Sep’22.

UBL International

UBL International recorded a PBT of USD 12.7 million for 2022
(2021: USD 38.7 million). Gross revenues for the International
business were recorded at USD 67.3 million (2021: USD 77.7
million). Net markup income was recorded at USD 52.7 million in
2022, with an increase of 8%. Non markup income of USD 14.5
million was earned in 2022 as against USD 28.7 million earned
last year, which was higher due to capital gains on sale of
investments. Operating expenses were recorded at USD 30.9
million, slightly above last year levels. The business recorded a
net provision charge of USD 21.5 million for 2022, mainly on its
portfolio of sovereign debt investments, as against a net
provision charge of USD 6.2 million incurred primarily on the
loan portfolio last year.

UBL International’s deposits averaged USD 1.3 billion for 2022,
slightly ahead of last year. Cost of deposits was measured at
1.1% in 2022 and remained in line with last year despite a higher
rate environment. Performing advances averaged USD 686
million for 2022, with a steady growth of 4%. The foreign debt
investment portfolio averaged USD 628 million and earned a
consistent and healthy yield of 5.7% during 2022.

Subsidiaries Performance Overview
Highlights of the financial performance of our subsidiaries in
2022 is as follows: -

United National Bank Limited (UBL UK) is a 55% owned
subsidiary of UBL. In 2022, UBL UK posted a PBT of £ 6.0 million
(2021: £ 2.2 million). The bank’s net markup income stood at

£ 18.1 million, growing by 39% year on year. Non markup income
stood at £ 6.6 million (2021: £ 1.9 million). Fee income increased

by 50% year on year. Administrative expenses were recorded at
£ 13.5 million, largely in line with last year. UBL UK recorded net
provision reversals of £ 5.1 million as against a net provision
charge of £ 0.7 million in 2021. The bank’s net investments
portfolio increased by 33%, while net advances grew by 26%.
On the funding side, the overall deposits base expanded by 25%
over Dec’21.

UBL Switzerland AG was a wholly owned subsidiary of UBL.
The shareholders of the UBL resolved to voluntarily wind up
UBL Switzerland AG in the Extra Ordinary General Meeting
(EOGM) of shareholders held on August 6, 2021. This decision is
in line with the Bank’s strategy to exit from non-core markets.
The subsidiary was formally wound up in December 2022.

UBL Fund Managers Limited, Pakistan (UBLFM) is a 98.9%
owned subsidiary of UBL. UBLFM recorded a PBT of Rs. 644
million in 2022, a strong growth of 14% year on year. The funds
under management of UBLFM stood at Rs. 165 billion at the
close of 2022 (2021: Rs. 116 billion).

UBL Bank (Tanzania) Limited (UBTL) was a wholly owned
subsidiary of UBL. UBTL entered into an asset and liabilities
purchase agreement with EXIM Bank Tanzania Limited (EXIM)
on 22 May 2019. EXIM took over control of UBTL's assets and
liabilities on November 1, 2019. The subsidiary was formally
wound up in August 2022.

Credit Rating

VIS Credit Rating Company Limited (VIS) re-affirmed the entity
ratings of UBL at “AAA / A-1+” (Triple A / A-One Plus) on June
30, 2022. Furthermore, UBL's Additional Tier-1 (ADT-1) TFC has
also been re-affirmed at ‘AA+’ (Double A plus). Outlook on the
assigned ratings are ‘Stable’.

Awards and Recognition

UBL was lauded for its digital excellence by Asiamoney, an
associate of Euromoney, for the third time in a row. The award is
a testament to UBL's contribution in expanding the scope of
financial services through digital channels in Pakistan and
leading innovation within the local banking space. The Bank
continues to invest in digital platforms and in developing its
teams that are redefining the future of banking in Pakistan.

Future Outlook

Our vast network presence remains the foundation of the UBL
franchise. Looking ahead, the Bank will be aiming to optimise its
network by focusing more on high potential areas with more
bespoke regional characteristics and increased demand for
financial services. The Bank will target low-cost deposits to
maximise the earnings potential of its balance sheet. For the
purpose, the Bank will actively target aggressive growth within
current deposits, including pursuing cross sell opportunities
across its diverse business segments and other group entities.

In today’s fast paced and constantly evolving technological
landscape, UBL is aggressively investing in its transformation
agenda and aligning its functions and processes accordingly.
The Bank’s transformation strategy is focused on technology,
processes, data analytics led transformation and more
importantly, changing the entire culture within the Bank towards
more technology driven solutions in day-to-day operations,
which will position the Bank as a much more agile and efficient
organization.

The Islamic business remains a key strategic priority for the
Bank and in 2023, we will be looking to expand UBL Ameen’s
outreach within this growing segment. The Bank’s core
International business has stabilised and is making a strong
contribution to bottom line performance.

We are fully committed to setting benchmarks for the
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) standards in the
Pakistani corporate space. Strengthening compliance and
control standards in line with international best practices
remains an ongoing strategic priority. Our people remain our
greatest asset and our ambition is to be the employer of choice
within the banking space not only for our staff but also
professionals looking to expand their horizons.

Corporate Governance

Directors’ statement

The Board of Directors is committed to ensuring that the
requirements of corporate governance set by the Securities and
Exchange Commission of Pakistan are fully met. The Bank has
adopted good corporate governance practices and the
Directors are pleased to report that:

e The financial statements, prepared by the management of
the Bank, present fairly the state of affairs of the Bank, the
results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity.

e Proper books of accounts of the Bank have been
maintained.

e Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently
applied in the preparation of the financial statements.
Accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent
judgment.

e International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable
to banks in Pakistan, have been followed in preparation of
financial statements without any departure therefrom.

e The system of internal control in the Bank is sound in design
and is effectively implemented and monitored.

e There are no significant doubts regarding the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

e There has been no material departure from the best
practices of corporate governance.

e Performance highlights for the last six years are attached to
these unconsolidated financial statements.

e Profit amounting to Rs. 3.2 billion has been transferred to
Statutory Reserve for the year 2022.

e The Board of Directors consists of eight* (8) male and one
(1) female member. The detailed composition of the Board is
given in paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Statement of Compliance
with the Code of Corporate Governance.

*Among the eight numbers, a casual vacancy arose on
December 14, 2022, with the resignation of one of the
Director. The Board appointed a new Director whose Fit and
Proper Test clearance was received from the regulator on
January 5, 2023.

e An evaluation of the performance of the board and its
sub-committees was conducted internally in line with the
applicable regulatory framework and best practices.

e Details of Directors’ training programs are given in the
Statement of Compliance with the Code of Corporate
Governance.

e The Non-Executive Directors, including Independent
Directors, are eligible for fees and logistic related expenses
for attending meetings of the Board and its Committees, as
approved by the Shareholders.

e The Board has constituted the following five Committees
with defined Terms of Reference (ToRs):
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Board Audit Committee (BAC):

Ms. Shazia Syed Chairperson
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Member

Mr. Rizwan Pervez Member

Mr. Ageel Ahmed Nasir Secretary

Board Risk and Compliance Committee

(BRCC):

Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal Chairman
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, Sl Pk Member
Ms. Shazia Syed Member
Mr. Shazad G. Dada Member
Mr. Imran Sarwar Secretary

Board Human Resource & Compensation
Committee (HRCC):

Mr. Tariq Rashid Chairman
Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk Member
Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal Member
Mr. Rizwan Pervez Member
Mr. Abdul Jabbar Junejo Secretary
Board IT Committee (BITC):

Mr. Tariq Rashid Chairman
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, Sl Pk Member
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Member
Mr. Shazad G. Dada Member
Mr. Muhammad Faisal Anwar Secretary

Board Nomination Committee (BNC):

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk Chairman
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, S| Pk Member
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Member
Mr. Ageel Ahmed Nasir Secretary

A brief description of the core functions under the ToRs of each
sub-committee are as follows:-

Board Audit Committee (BAC):-

The primary activity of the board audit committee is to provide
oversight of the financial reporting process, the audit process as
well as the system of internal controls and compliance with laws
and regulations. The committee reviews the results of audits
with the Bank’s management as well as the external auditors.
The committee also reviews the scope and extent of internal
audit, audit plan, reporting framework and procedures and
ensures that the internal audit function has adequate resources
and is appropriately placed within the Bank. The committee also
provides oversight and review of the Internal Control over
Financial Reporting (ICFR) system for effective implementation
and its upgrade.

Board Risk and Compliance Committee
(BRCC):-

The committee is responsible for setting the overall risk
management framework and ensuring the evolution and
effectiveness of all risk management policies in line with the
changing economic climate for risk mitigation. The committee
oversees the overall risk management function across the Bank
and ensures compliance with various risk management policies
through operational risk and Basel, treasury and market risk,
credit risk and credit policy functions. Furthermore, the
committee also monitors the effectiveness of the risk
management function to ensure compliance with regulatory risk
requirements including effective safeguards against financial
crimes.

Board Human Resource & Compensation
Committee (HRCC):-

The committee is responsible for recommending to the Board

the overall remuneration mechanism and policy across the Bank
and ensuring that the policies are aligned with regulatory
requirements. The purview of the committee includes the review
of the overall compensation and benefit structure, including
material risk takers (MRTs) and material risk controllers (MRCs),
headcount levels, as well as recommending human resource
management policies to the Board. The committee is also
responsible for recommending to the Board a policy framework
for determining remuneration of directors, executive and non-
executive directors, and members of senior management in
accordance with relevant prevailing regulatory guidelines.

Board IT Committee (BITC):-

The Committee is responsible for providing an effective
governance framework to ensure that the Bank’s technology
function enables the achievement of corporate strategies and
objectives. The Committee communicates to the Board the
progress of the technology activities and digital initiative being
undertaken across the Bank. Furthermore, the Committee is
also responsible for ensuring that risk management strategies
are designed and implemented to effectively respond to
wide-scale disruptions, as well as managing Information
Technology (IT) and Cyber Security Risks.

Board Nomination Committee (BNC):-

The primary responsibility for the Committee is to review the
nomination of directors, including their profile, academic
background, skills, knowledge and experience. The Committee
is responsible for reviewing the overall structure, size and
composition of the Board and its committees and to make
recommendations to the Board in this regard. The Committee
also makes recommendations for filling casual vacancies on the
board and board sub-committees and monitor the annual board
evaluation process as per regulatory requirements.

Directors Appointment and Nomination

The directors of the Bank are elected by the shareholders while
casual vacancies are filled by the directors in accordance with
the articles of association and the applicable laws and
regulations. Furthermore, every new director has to pass
through the assessment criteria of ‘Fit and Proper Test’ as set
and advised by the State Bank of Pakistan.

While appointing a director, it is ensured that the Board is well
structured, comprising of members who have diversified
experience, suitable knowledge, appropriate skill set, expertise
and competency related to the Bank's operations, creating an
effective decision making body. It is also ensured that the Board
contains appropriate mix of non-executive, independent and
female members that meet all the requirements of the applicable
laws and regulations regarding diversity, size of the board and
have no material conflicts of interest.

Active role of Independent Directors is ensured to enhance the
overall effectiveness of the Board. While selecting and
appointing independent directors, the applicable provisions of
the laws, rules and regulations are meticulously complied with.
Independent Directors are selected to demonstrate the
transparency and fairness in their role and also to provide an
objective and independent judgment in the best interest of the
Bank.

The profiles of each director, including their qualification,
expertise, past work experience along with their status as well
as their membership on board(s) / shariah Board(s) of other
companies is included in the directors’ profile in the Annual
Report.

Board Performance Evaluation

To comply with the requirement of BPRD Circular No. 05 of 2021
dated November 22, 2021 - The Corporate Governance
Regulatory Framework, a formal process of evaluation of

performance of the Board as a whole and its committees has
been framed and implemented according to the prevailing
regulatory instructions.

Compensation of Directors

Considering the requirements of Corporate Governance
Regulatory Framework guidelines issued by State Bank of
Pakistan through the circular # BPRD Circular No. 05 dated Nov
22, 2021, the Board approved and recommended the revisions
in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy in its meeting held on
February 23, 2022, to the General Meeting for its final approval.
The revisions / updated policy was approved by the
shareholders in 63rd Annual General Meeting held on March 29,
2022. Under this policy, non-executive directors, including the
Chairman will be eligible to receive an amount of Rs. 750,000
per Board meeting and Rs. 750,000 for attending a committee
meeting of the Board. In addition to the meeting fees, the
Chairman of the Board / Committee will be entitled to an amount
equal to 20% of the Board / committee meeting fee for holding
the office of the Chairman. The policy also covers traveling,
logistics and accommodation expenses as well as daily
allowance entitlements.

The details of compensation of directors in 2022 are disclosed
in Note 39 to the unconsolidated financial statements.

Meetings of Board Committees

The number of Board Committees’ meetings held during the
year and the number of meetings attended by the directors is
shown below:

BAC BRCC HRCC BITC BNC

Number of meetings held 5 4 1
Number of meetings attended: 5
Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk| -
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, SI Pk -
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey 5

Mr. Rizwan Pervez 5 -
Mr. Arshad Ahmad Mir -

Mr. Amar Zafar Khan -
Mr. Tarig Rashid - -
Ms. Shazia Syed 5 4
Mr. Shazad G. Dada - 4 -
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The Bank operates five funded retirement schemes which are
the Provident Fund, Gratuity Fund, Pension Fund, Benevolent
Fund and General Provident Fund.

The values of the investments of these funds, based on their
latest audited financial statements as at December 31, 2021, are
as follows: -

Rupees in ‘000

Employees’ Provident Fund 5,032,498
Employees’ Gratuity Fund 1,081,469
Staff Pension Fund 10,702,902
Staff General Provident Fund 832,110
Officers / Non-Officers’ Benevolent Fund 278,881

Meetings of the Board

During the year under review, the Board of Directors met five (5)
times. The number of meetings attended by each Director
during the year is shown below:

Name of the Director Designation Meetings
Attended

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk Chairman 5

Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, S| Pk Director 5

Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Director 5

Mr. Rizwan Pervez Director 5

Mr. Arshad Ahmad Mir Director 4*

Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal Director Nil*

Mr. Amar Zafar Khan Director 5

Mr. Tarig Rashid Director 5

Ms. Shazia Syed Director 5

Mr. Shazad G. Dada President & CEO 5

*Mr. Arshad Ahmad Mir resigned in December 2022 before the
5th Board meeting and Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal was
appointed in his place, whose Fit and Proper Test clearance was
received from the regulator on January 5, 2023.

Pattern of Shareholding
The pattern of shareholding as at December 31, 2022 is given
below:

Shareholders No. of Shares % of Ordinary
Shares
Bestway Group (BG) 750,493,331 61.31%
General Public & Others 361,809,724 29.56%
Banks, DFIs & NBFls 42,315,876 3.46%
Insurance Companies 32,722,807 2.67%
Modarabas & Mutual Funds 35,867,124 2.93%
International GDRs (non-voting shares) 969,111 0.08%
Privatisation Commission of Pakistan 1,714 0.00%
TOTAL OUTSTANDING SHARES 1,224,179,687 100.00%

The aggregate shares held by the following are:

No. of Shares

a) Associated Companies, undertakings & related parties
- Bestway International Holdings Limited * 631,728,895
- Bestway Cement Limited 93,649,744
b) Modarabas & Mutual Funds ** 35,867,124
c) Directors & CEO ***
- Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk 12,765,368
- Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, S| PK 4,403,870
- Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey 3,000,000
- Mr. Rizwan Pervez 129,500
- Mr. Amar Zafar Khan 2,500
- Mr. Tariq Rashid 2,500
- Ms. Shazia Syed 2,500
d) Executives 605,224
e) Public sector companies and corporations 118,628
f) Banks, DFls, NBFls, Insurance Companies 75,038,683

* The Bank is a subsidiary of Bestway International Holdings
Limited which is incorporated in the Guernsey

** Name wise detail of Modarabas & Mutual Funds is annexed
with Categories of Shareholders

*** There were no shares held by the spouses or minor children
of the Directors and CEO of the Bank

Shareholders holding 5% or more No. of Shares

voting rights

Bestway International Holdings Limited 631,728,895 51.60
Bestway Cement Limited 93,649,744 7.65

Trades in the shares of UBL carried out by Directors, Executives
and their spouses and minor children are annexed along with
the Pattern of Shareholding.

Shariah Board

The details relating to Shariah board and its members required
to be disclosed in the Director’s Report are covered in the
Report of Shariah Board as part of the Annual Report.

Remuneration Framework

In compliance with regulatory guidelines, UBL has put in place a
comprehensive remuneration policy to ensure that the Bank’s
remuneration practices attract, retain and reward the best
talent, are in compliance with regulatory guidelines and are
aligned with the Bank’s overall strategic objectives. One of the
key features of the remuneration framework is to promote
effective risk management in line with the Bank’s risk appetite
and within the thresholds set by the Bank.

UBL's Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for
reviewing, approving and monitoring the implementation of the
remuneration framework, based on recommendations of Board
Human Resource and Compensation Committee (HRCC).
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The Bank offers a remuneration structure comprising of both
fixed and variable elements. Some of the key features of the
remuneration structure are as follows: -

Fixed remuneration: This comprises of the base salary,
including any annual increments, and role-based fixed
allowances, if applicable. Fixed remuneration does not vary with
performance and is payable in cash.

Variable performance-based remuneration: These are
determined based on the Bank’s overall performance,
profitability of the respective business unit and the employee’s
individual performance. Such remuneration takes the form of
annual or periodic bonuses and sales incentives.

Other Benefits: These are awarded based on individual
employment contracts and local market practices. These may
include staff loans, expense allowances / reimbursements, life
insurance, medical care and relocation allowances amongst
others.

Sign-on / Joining Bonus: This is considered as part of variable
pay and is granted only in exceptional cases in accordance with
human resources policies and is payable within twelve months
from joining the Bank.

Severance pay: These are part of an employee’s variable pay
and includes any payment made to employees at the time of
their retirement, separation or termination of contract over and
above their normal retirement, separation or termination
benefits.

Material Risk Takers (MRTs) and Material Risk Controllers
(MRCs)

The criteria for an employee to be designated as an MRT / MRC
has been developed in accordance with regulatory guidelines
and best practices. MRTs and MRCs are identified as functions
and designations having appropriate level of authority and
control within the Bank. MRCs have appropriate level of
authority and control and are duly governed by approved
organograms having clearly defined independent reporting
lines.

MRTs and MRCs include employees and designations entailing;
President and CEO, members of management teams reporting
directly to the President and CEO, members of critical
management committees, heads of critical functions
responsible for managing businesses, risks and controls,
country heads of overseas branches. MRTs and MRCs also
include employees taking decisions, which may affect the
Bank’s exposure to credit risk, market risk, operational risk and
liquidity risk based on appropriate materiality levels.

MRT and MRC performance is measured using risk-adjusted
balanced scorecards, ensuring correlation and alignment of
risks and rewards, incorporating various financial and
non-financial, qualitative as well as ‘risk-adjusting’ factors. Each
category within the scorecard includes multiple factors and
KPIs which is assessed based on appropriate benchmarks and
targets. Ratings are assigned to MRTs and MRCs based on this
risk-adjusted performance assessment. These scorecards are
reviewed every year, with interim reviews carried out in case of
any significant changes in underlying circumstances.

Remuneration of MRTs and MRCs

The compensation structures for MRTs and MRCs is determined
and proposed by the Human Resources department which
ensures an appropriate balance between fixed and variable pay,
considering the employees position, roles and responsibilities,

as well as performance against financial and non-financial
objectives and KPIs. The compensation for MRTs and MRCs
includes fixed and variable elements similar in structure to the
Banks’ remuneration policy for all employees.

Fixed remuneration comprises of base salary, increments and
role-based fixed allowances if applicable. The Human
Resources department drives an appropriate benchmark using
external market data, in order to ensure the appropriateness of
the fixed remuneration to attract and retain employees.

Variable remuneration is performance based, similar to the
Bank’s other employees.

The employee score can be adjusted downwards for elements
of underachievement in financial performance, undue risk
exposure, customer related issues, audit / internal controls and
compliance ineffectiveness.

Deferral Mechanism

A certain portion of the MRTs and MRCs variable compensation
will be withheld for a defined period whereas remaining portion
of the variable compensation shall be paid up-front. This is
aimed at aligning the employees’ and stakeholders’ interests
and reinforcing that compensation is appropriately linked to
longer-term sustainable performance. The deferral percentage
ranges between 25% to 40%, while the deferral period for all
MRTs and MRCs will be three years, and will be paid on vesting,
proportionally through yearly installments, during the deferred
period.

Risk Management Framework
UBL’s Risk and Credit Policy Group has the following verticals
e  Corporate, Commercial, SME and Financial Institutions
Risk
e International Risk
e  Consumer Credit
e  Enterprise Risk
>  Market & Treasury Risk and Basel
>  Operational Risk
e Information Security
e  Credit Policy and Research

The Bank’s risk governance is exercised the following
committees:

1. Risk Management Committee

2. Information Security Steering Committee

3. NPL Review Committee International

Risk Management Committee (RMC) is chaired by the President
and CEO and comprises of Heads of Risk, Businesses, Finance,
Treasury and Operations. Other stakeholders are invited to
attend as deemed necessary. The RMC is responsible for
reviewing and undertaking strategic business decisions with a
collective view on credit risk and credit maintenance, market
risk and capital efficiencies and operational risk.

The Information Security Steering Committee is chaired by the
President and CEO and comprises Heads of all Groups. The
Committee is responsible for reviewing and undertaking
strategic information and cyber security related reviews.

The NPL Review Committee International is chaired by the
President and CEO and comprises of Risk and Business
leadership for the International Group. The Committee reviews
and monitors the NPL and the watch-list portfolio of GCC and
focuses on formulation of action plan for recovery.

The consumer credit portfolio has continued to sustain its
steady growth under a well-managed risk environment. The
controlled level of portfolio delinquencies is owed to robust
portfolio management for NPLs including but not limited to
stress tests. Periodic review of policies along with automation in
risk management procedures ensured a well aligned risk and
reward profile of the portfolio.

In line with the SBP Risk Governance Framework for Overseas
Operations, the risk management function for the International
division is being managed from the Head Office. During the
year, several initiatives such as selective onboarding of
high-quality assets within advances, focus on cost efficiencies,
proactive portfolio management, mapping of policies with
domestic structure as well as gap analysis of local regulatory
guidelines continued.

The role of Market & Treasury Risk includes defining and
implementing a market risk management framework to
systematically identify, assess, monitor and report market
related risks. The key objective is to facilitate business growth
within a controlled and transparent overall risk management
framework.

The objective of the Bank’s liquidity risk management
framework is to ensure that the Bank is able to fulfill its payment
obligations at all times and manages its liquidity risk within the
defined tolerance level. The framework entails a comprehensive
Liquidity Risk Policy and well defined procedures along with an
effective Contingency Funding Plan. Senior management
oversight of market and liquidity risk is managed through the
GALCO committee.

The Bank at all times has maintained its Capital Adequacy Ratio
(CAR) well above the regulatory thresholds under the prescribed
Basel-lll regulations, inclusive of all applicable buffers. The
Bank is classified as a Domestic Systemically Important Bank
(D-SIB) and remains compliant to the additional supervisory
requirements as laid down in the framework. The Internal
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) Framework is
well defined and is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Operational Risk Management Framework is designed to
ensure that an adequate control environment exists across its
businesses and functions to maintain an acceptable level of
residual risk. The framework is governed by comprehensive
policies and procedures in line with the applicable regulatory
guidelines. The Bank has implemented a robust operational risk
management system to further strengthen the framework.
During the vyear, Operational Risk framework has been
implemented in UAE.

UBL has a dedicated Information Security Division, functioning
within Risk and Credit Policy Group who manages information
security risks to protect the technology and information assets
by preventing, detecting and responding to threats, both
internal and external.

The following sub departments are working within IS function: -
Governance Risk & Compliance (GRC)

Infrastructure Security

Vulnerability & Penetration Testing

Project Management Office

Security Operation Center (SOC)

Application Security

The Vulnerability & Penetration Testing (VAPT) unit in the
information security division manage penetration testing by
simulating the real-world hacking scenarios. The unit is
responsible for establishing, implementing, maintaining and
continually improving an information / cyber security

management system through control design and controls
validation, primarily in the domain of applications / network
Penetration testing. The unit also supports other domains of
information security including security monitoring and threat
hunting. Moreover, in order to overcome social engineering
frauds, extensive awareness campaigns are periodically
launched to provide specific training and guidance on
information security related matters such as phishing, identity
theft, online transaction frauds, etc. through various
mechanisms such as social media, website, email advisories,
SMS, webinars, phishing simulation exercises, new joiner’s
orientation and targeted awareness sessions for executive
leaderships. These initiatives are focused on elevating the level
of awareness for both internal as well as external customers to
better equip them in order to counter security challenges under
the Governance, Risk & Compliance unit.

The Bank manages the overall security compliance efforts, risk
management as well as development and implementation of
information security policies, procedures, guidelines and
standards under this domain.

It is observed that Information Security is getting complex with
the passage of time; new issues are being highlighted in top
technology solutions, hackers are coping up with current
security solutions and finding ways to bypass them. On the
other hand, reliance of technology is ever increasing and digital
banking is the reality of today.

Moving ahead, the Bank intends to continue its efforts of
securing its data and ICT systems from cyber-attacks with a
3-tier approach: -

1. Maximise the use of currently deployed security solutions to
attain maximum value on investment.

2. Always look for upcoming trends, threats and deploy
necessary security controls.

3. Strengthen in-house team and its capabilities on
continuous basis to actively and efficiently utilise technical
controls and capabilities to ensure the Bank remains
safe any day and every day.

The Bank has successfully implemented loan origination system
for CIBG portfolio during December 2022 on a country wide
basis. Similar automation projects for other segments such as
SME, Agri and Fl are in process of country wide rollout.

Sustainability at UBL in 2022

UBLs sustainability agenda backs causes that influence and
empower communities in a positive manner. In 2022, UBL
donated to multiple projects under the Bank’s core areas for
sustainability efforts - education and healthcare. Under
education the Bank sponsored deserving students through
scholarships and provided infrastructural support for the
construction of educational institutions. Healthcare projects
included providing free-of-cost healthcare to patients, provision
of much needed medical equipment to hospitals and
construction of infrastructure.

A large part of the year’s sustainability efforts focused on
disaster relief management for the families adversely affected
by the unprecedented floods in Pakistan. Provision of relief
through food, rations, clean water, blankets and medicines in
the worst affected areas remained the key focus of the Bank for
a large part of the year. The Bank encouraged employee
engagement in its community welfare projects and the UBL
team actively volunteered and played their part as symbols of
hope for their communities across Pakistan.

Statement of Internal Controls

The Board is pleased to endorse the statement made by the
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management relating to Internal Controls over Financial
Reporting (ICFR) and also the overall internal controls. The
Statement on Internal Controls is included in the Annual Report.

Auditors

The present auditor, M/S. EY Ford Rhodes retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the Annual
General Meeting after the expiration of their term.

The Board of Directors and the Board Audit Committee
recommend the appointment of M/S EY Ford Rhodes as the
external auditors for the financial year 2023 at a fee of Rs. 15.0
million, while out of pocket expenses and taxes would be paid on
actuals.

Conclusion

In the end, we would like to extend our sincere thanks and
appreciation to UBLs shareholders and customers for their
continued trust and support. We greatly appreciate the tireless
efforts of our staff who continue to ensure uninterrupted service
to our customers. We would also like to extend our sincere
thanks to the Government of Pakistan, the State Bank of
Pakistan, the Securities and Exchange Commission and other
regulatory bodies for their guidance and continued support.

For and on behalf of the Board,

A

Shazad G. Dada
President & CEO

Muhammad Jawaid Igbal
Director

Islamabad,
February 22, 2023
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THE ADVANCEMENTS
OF GROWTH

As a leading bank, UBL is committed to succeeding in all
directions, be it enabling employees and its customers for
financial empowerment or enabling financial inclusion through
technology. UBL as an organisation has always been socially
conscious and through our ESG framework, works for the
betterment of society at large so that banking is accessible and
convenient for everyone. UBL cares about the culture of Pakistan
and has been at the forefront of promoting arts and literature in
the country since inception.




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
& GOVERNANCE 2022

UBL aims to act as a catalyst across its footprint connecting,
enriching and supporting the communities in which we live and
work. ESG criteria are a set of standards that represent an
organisation’s corporate interests primarily focused on
sustainable and ethical impacts.

At UBL, the Bank’s ESG guidelines inform conscientious
investment and resource allocation decisions that are purpose
driven and help the bank in achieving its long-term sustainability
targets. ESG is an area of heightened focus and investment for
UBL and has changed the Bank’s outlook towards its business.

The Bank’s ESG guidelines sets out the principles,
commitments and framework for sustainability at UBL. Its
purpose is to define how sustainability is taken into account in
the Bank’s business conduct, credit and investment decisions.
The guideline elucidates the Bank’s approach to align its
business strategy, processes and disclosures with national and

International Green Building
Certification (LEED)

LEED Initiation of LEED Gold Certification for
UBL Head Office Building Karachi

ISO-14001-2015
Engaged an advisor and working
towards 1SO-14001-2015

Water Conservation
Invested in water

=y conservation projects

Contribution to Eco-Friendly

‘ Businesses
e PKR 20.3 million invested in
renewable energy projects

> Digital Banking
P E UBL through the UBL Digital App increased
—_— digitisation to minimise usage of paper and energy

ENVIRONMENTAL

international ESG standards and frameworks. It describes how
we interact and collaborate with the communities where we
provide our services.

The Bank’s ESG guidelines are encapsulated by our Green
Banking policy, which represents a documented business
approach to ESG issues. The Bank is committed to manage
ESG risks by implementing a comprehensive ESG Risk
Management and Governance Framework

UBL is committed to ESG and creating long-term value for
internal and external stakeholders including customers,
employees, investors, regulators, business partners and
community members.

Our 2022 ESG Highlights

Our commitment to sustainability is embedded in our business
strategy and is a key measure in defining our success.

Paperless Banking

Opened 34,000+ Digital Accounts
during 2022 to support our
sustainability initiatives

Energy Conservation L
Steps taken to ensure conservation of energy -O -
wherever possible, through ‘Work From =
Home’ programs and other active projects

Branches Convertedto /" -\
Solar Energy '~ '

46 branches converted from ‘\3§,§' !
conventional to solar energy =

Tree Plantation Drive
UBL employees in various cities of

Pakistan participated in
afforestation drives in collaboration
with World Wildlife Fund (WWF)

People with Disabilities (PwDs)

PWDs PWDs employed across the Bank in
various roles and 6 branches per Region
have been designated for PWD customers

Implementation Of A Well Defined

DEI Policy =

Our workforce constitutes of people with (%%%%
diverse backgrounds with respect to
religion, gender, ethnicity and disability

SOCIAL

Female Representation

Women represent 21% of our total
VY workforce with targets to increase their

representation to 45% by 2024
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Active CSR Agenda
PKR 211 Million donated in CSR activities @
throughout the year in areas of education, W
healthcare and community welfare

98% of the staff trained annually on

@ Governance & Integrity
‘ risk and compliance

Zero Carbon Emissions 250
Aiming for reduction in own and
financed carbon emissions to
fulfill our target of becoming a Net

GOVERNANCE Zero entity by reducing financing

Employees Health & Safety

98.8% of the employees were vaccinated
against COVID-19 through in-house
vaccination facility or at bank-financed
external vaccination facilities

Alignment with UN Sustainable

Development Goals (UN SDGs)

The United Nations formally adopted the 2030 Agenda for
Sustainable Development that includes 17 Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs). The SDGs center around the
principle of “leaving no one behind” and emphasise a holistic
approach to achieve sustainable development that benefits
individuals, organisations and communities.

UBL, as a responsible corporate citizen is committed towards
creating a sustainable future vis-a-vis the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). We have aligned our
practices with the SDGs and are integrating them into our
business strategy as well as execution.

Environmental

UBL is cognisant of its responsibility to the environment and
takes concrete measures to address potential risks. This
includes efforts towards energy management, investment in
eco-friendly projects, ethical financing, safeguarding natural
resources and the Bank’s overall capability to efficiently
respond to environmental concerns. It has adopted a series of
policies to help achieve this aim.

Green Banking

UBL's Green Banking Policy has been prepared in accordance
with the Green Banking Guidelines (GBG) issued by the State
Bank of Pakistan. It embraces the primal concept of creating
awareness and cognisance of the environmental consequences
of Bank’s actions, both directly and indirectly. Through Green
Banking, UBL will not only improve its own standards of financial
intermediation, but will also play an active role in demanding the
same from its stakeholders.

The Green Banking Policy covers lending activities, banking
services and support functions undertaken by the Bank. It also
outlines UBLs commitment of contributing its due share
towards containment of the wide ranging impacts of climate
change and creation of positive externalities to augment the
Bank’s image as a socially responsible corporate citizen.

to coal mining projects and
calculating carbon footprints of
our clients

UBL's Go-Green products are designed to be paper-free.
Customers are encouraged to use their electronic gadgets to
conduct transactions digitally. The following Green Products are
available at UBL:

Go-Green Internet Merchant Acquiring

UBL Go-Green internet merchant acquiring is a step towards
encouraging digital payments with a sense of security with 3-D
secure authentication verified by both Visa and MasterCard
Secure Code.

Go-Green E-Statement

Bank statements provide a track of transactions to the
customers, but to safeguard our environment, we encourage
our customers to shift towards electronic statements rather than
printed statements. Therefore, by saving paper, we are doing
our bit in saving the planet.

Go-Green SMS Alert

The Go-Green SMS Alert feature aims to reduce carbon
footprints by encouraging customers to avail instant SMS alerts
to reduce visits to a bank branch for information regarding their
transactions.

Transitioning to a Decarbonized Future

We aim to reduce financing to coal-mining businesses in order
to fulfill our commitment of being a Net Zero entity. Concurrently
we have identified key areas of operations in our head offices
and branches that will enable us to reduce Carbon Emissions,
for example, our Go Green initiative that encourages a paperless
operating environment at the business and customer end,
financing of solar panels and migration of power generation
from conventional to natural means at branch level.

Managing Environment Footprint

We are conscious of how our operations impact the
environment. We are, therefore, focused on managing our
environmental footprint. We have incorporated several changes
to our operations in this endeavor. These include optimising
energy consumption, reducing wastage of resources, and
making sure to recycle and reuse. We believe that by integrating
the idea of preserving the environment into our business
paradigm, our work can have a positive impact. This is
particularly important as we conduct business across the country.

We recognise the importance of leveraging technology to
digitise our wide-spread operations and simplify processes that
help reduce our dependency on paper. Our digital initiatives
have aided our commitment to a sustainable tomorrow. The
Bank is in the process of, or has undertaken the following
initiatives in order to manage its environmental footprint.

i Energy Conservation and our role in addressing Climate
Change

ii. Water Conservation

iii. Paper Conservation - Increasing Digitization to Minimise

Usage of Paper

iv. Resource Efficiency and Pollution Prevention

V. Deforestation, Biodiversity and Natural Capital
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Vi. Customer Carbon Footprint Calculation
Vii. Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED)
Certification (under process)

Details about each initative are available in the ESG 2022 report.

Social

The social aspect of the ESG framework refers to our ability to
maintain favourable relationships with our stakeholders, both
internal and external. Being a socially concerned leading player
of the industry, UBL prioritises the well-being of people
associated with it in any capacity by putting great emphasis on
human capital management as well as managing external
partners. UBL is cognisant of the impact it makes on the
communities it operates in by ensuring strict adherence to social
ethical standards.

People - Employees

We believe that our thousands of employees spread across the
country are the cornerstone of our success. We have a
comprehensive board approved Diversity, Equality and
Inclusivity (DE&I) policy that covers all aspects of our decision
making and is considered when recruiting, training and
developing our people. UBL ensures that its initiatives support
and enable people of different ethnicities, languages, religions,
education, gender, abilities, family status and age.

Diversity, Equality & Inclusion Policy

We are committed to encouraging Diversity, Equality and
Inclusion (DE&) for which a dedicated (DE&) policy has been
formulated and approved by the Board of Directors (BoDs). The
purpose of this policy is to frame UBL's commitment to ensure
that (DE&) considerations are effectively incorporated into how
we recruit and develop our people, design and deliver our
products and services, invest in the communities we operate in
and engage on public forums.

Our vision is to become a Bank that is renowned for its diversity,
equality and inclusive environment which both our clients and
our people experience. We strive to:

° Be a gender balanced organisation by creating a
conducive environment at workplace, achieve gender
balance at all levels of workforce with specific focus on
senior roles.

e To provide opportunities to Persons with Disabilities
(PWDs) in hiring, career development, progression and fair
compensation by providing conducive work environment.

e To create an equitable and inclusive culture and
empowering people by respecting and appreciating where
everyone can be valued in terms of gender, age, disability,
ethnicity, religion, education and sexual orientation and
their contributions are recognised and valued.

We believe a diverse workforce and an inclusive culture amplify
our effectiveness and enhance performance on an individual as
well as organisation-wide level. We are committed to eliminating
discrimination, harassment and victimisation at workplace and
aim to have a workforce that is truly representative of all
segments in terms of gender, religion, ethnicity, socio-economic
class, and physical and intellectual abilities.

The implementation of the (DE&I) framework is the responsibility
of individuals and teams and ranges from ensuring that (DE&)
deliverables are part of yearly KPIs to ensuring periodic reporting
on (DE&I) initiatives for regulatory compliance. The (DE&l)
Council is responsible for strict adherence to the (DE&I) strategy

and its effective integration in each facet.

Women Representation in Workforce

Year-on-year growth in female representation is a key target of
our (DE&I) mission, whereby we aim to critically focus on our
workforce composition and ensure that it is a true representation
of gender diversity.

In addition to the specified criterion of recruiting more number of
women, numerous other targets have been established to foster
a more gender inclusive workplace that help us achieve our
diversity objectives.

Disability Inclusion

We believe that every person having cognitive abilities should
have a right to employment regardless of their physical
constraints. At the same time, we also realise that
differently-abled people face severe limitations in their
professional journeys and are not provided with many
opportunities. Therefore, we have made it our goal to provide
opportunities to these people in hiring, career development,
progression and fair compensation by providing a conducive
work environment.

We have also made this initiative a part of our (DE&I) policy,
whereby we not only aim to adhere with the Government
prescribed PWD job quota i.e., 2% of the entire staff.

Celebration of Different Religious Festivals

As part of the Bank’s commitment to Diversity, Equality and
Inclusion, UBL takes out regular messages across the bank
wishing people of all communities and religions on their special
celebratory events and occasions.

Employees Health and Safety

We aim to promote and maintain a culture where employees feel
safe and are provided with a healthy work environment that
ensures work-life balance. Additionally, all our employees and
their dependents are entitled to health insurance covered by the bank.

Employees Development and Training

UBL is an organisation that has always believed in providing the
best training and development to its employees to help them
manage tasks and have a better understanding of processes
making them more effective and productive. The Bank has an
ongoing training and development programs for personal and
professional development of its employees.

Improved Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards

UBL Code of Conduct spells out what is expected from every
member of the UBL family. This Code of Conduct serves to
define the behaviuoral framework for our condutct at work.

It describes how we put our values of Customer First, Honesty of
Purpose, Teamwork, Excellence and Meritocracy into practice.
The Code defines expectations from employees towards all
stakeholders and provides guidance for employees and
everyone who works on our behalf.

People — Customers

As a leading institution, UBL values and promotes diversity,
equality and inclusivity across all avenues, be it in its customer
base, workforce or across society. It is proud to cater to
customers of different ethnicities, languages, religions,
education, gender, disabilities, family status and age and
ensures that they feel heard, valued and their needs are met.

Financial Inclusion for Women

In order to capture a larger audience of female customers, we
aim to develop customised gender inclusive products. Our
business teams/departments are responsible for review and
design of products and services. Additionally, outreach targets
for women centric products and services are being introduced to
facilitate financing to women entrepreneurs under priority
sectors like agricultural finance, housing finance etc. There is
also linkage of KPIs at regional and branch level staff to include
certain weightages of targets for account opening and financing
for female specific products. We also explore partnerships &
collaboration with statutory bodies / government programs /
universities and FinTechs to create opportunities for women
centric products and services.

UBL Urooj Account for Women

A huge percentage of women in Pakistan remain financially
underserved despite initiatives taken to promote gender
diversity in financial institutions, introduction of women-centric
products and outreach programs. Products specifically
designed for women have been made available by financial
institutions. One such product is UBL Urooj Account which is a
unique current account designed especially to support women
in meeting their daily needs & enhancing their lifestyles. It allows
women to bank with ease, while maintaining costs and keeping
up with their financial needs.

Fair Treatment of Customer (FTC) Framework

The Bank has formulated Consumer Protection Framework to
ensure Fair Treatment to all Customers (FTC) to adopt and
maintain the principle of fairness across the bank and in all its
dealings including business strategies, product design, financial
promotion, sales, complaints handling and customer services.

Our Initiatives

UBL Good Citizen Account for Tax Inclusion

This product is designed especially for customers who fulfill their
tax obligations and are Active Tax Payers. As an Active Tax
Payer, our customers can avail multiple benefits being offered as
a special reward from UBL for being conscientious citizens.

Asaan Digital Account

UBL Asaan Digital Account is suited for customers looking for
the most convenient banking solutions. With simple
documentation combined with digital account opening facility,
this account is another major step towards financial inclusion as
it makes banking easy and accessible for a huge segment of the
society that is otherwise reluctant to adopt banking practices.

Simple documentation combined with digital account opening
facility, this account is another major step towards financial
inclusion as it makes banking easy and accessible for a huge
segment of the society that is otherwise reluctant to adopt
banking practices that require extensive documentation and
branch visits.

UBL OMNI

To promote financial inclusion for the unbanked population of the
country, UBL launched OMNI in the year 2010. This one-of-a-kind
wallet account provides ultimate convenience to a segment who
is otherwise reluctant to open a bank account because they
either lack financial literacy, access to formal financial channels,
prefer to use cash or unwilling to adopt banking methods.

Providing solutions to Differently Abled Customers

Braille based account opening process

In order to alleviate the difficulties being faced by the visually
impaired /blind persons in availing their genuine banking needs,
Braille based account opening is being implemented to assist
visually impaired individuals. This initiative is a major step
towards making banking more accessible for everyone.

Persons with Disabilities (PWDs) Friendly Branches

At UBL, we strive to make banking easy and accessible for
everyone. Therefore, we have designated 6 model branches in
each region to assist differently-abled individuals. These
branches include special features including ramps and railings
for approaching the branch and ATMs, dedicated parking space,
height-adjusted counters and PWD-friendly washrooms.

People - Community

UBL’s Board-approved Sustainability Policy Statement declares
that as a responsible corporate citizen, the Bank works towards
assisting the less fortunate by supporting causes and
empowering communities. Focusing on the sectors of
Education, Healthcare, Literature & Arts, Water Scarcity and
Natural Disaster Relief, the Bank works both independently as
well as in partnership with specialist organizations, to empower
disadvantaged sections of the society through economic
regeneration and employment creation.

Flood Relief

In 2022, UBL initiated the Bestway Foundation Hum-Sahara
Flood Relief Programme, as part of its ambitious program to help
families adversely affected by the unprecedented rains and
floods in Pakistan. Bestway Group, UBL's parent organisation
raised over USD 2 million for the flood affectees. UBL teams,
alongside Bestway Group, undertook a large scale distribution
of life saving items including food, tents, medical supplies, water
filtration units, blankets and mosquito nets to address the mass
scale calamity.
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CSR Overview

The Bank’s Corporate Social Responsibility activities are
focused in the areas of education, health, arts & literature,
sports, skill development for sustainable livelihoods, and related
activities including financial inclusion and financial literacy.
Under the umbrella of Education, the Bank provided
scholarships, supported vocational training and funded teacher
training programs to support education across primary,
secondary and higher levels. Under the ambit of health, the Bank
set up infrastructure and medical equipment, sponsored critical
treatments and covered operational expenses to ensure support
to those who need it the most. The commitment to community
welfare was best exemplified by the flood relief programme, with
other noteworthy initiatives including the annual Ramzan drive to
provide assistance to the underprivileged through distribution of
ration bags, meal and Eid gifts.

Throughout the year, the Bank sponsors sporting events,
carnivals, tree plantation drives and other worthy initatives within
the ambit of education, health, arts & literature, sports, skill
development and as part of its ESG agenda.

UBL Literature And Arts Awards

As part of its ESG agenda, UBL also promotes art in all its forms,
be it theatre, music, film, literature, fine art and more. The UBL
Literature And Arts Awards (ULA) is an initiative through which
the Bank supports Pakistani writers and literature by awarding
the best of them on an annual basis. With each successive
ceremony, the ULA has come to be recognised as a benchmark
of literary excellence.

In 2022, UBL hosted the largest edition of this award competition
to mark a decade of this distinctive initiative UBL embarked on in
2012. With 14 awards, it was the most comprehensive Pakistani
awards celebrating the field of literature and arts. This included a
life-time achievement award presented to the pride of Pakistan
Mr. Anwar Magsood by Mr. Shazad G. Dada, President & CEO, UBL.

Governance

UBL is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
integrity, ethics, governance and regulatory compliance.

Board Composition, nomination and selection

The Board of Directors and the management of UBL are
committed to leadership in corporate governance. The Bank is
committed to proactive, open and responsive communication
with stakeholders, other interested parties and the public.

The directors of the Bank are elected by the shareholders while
casual vacancies are filled by the directors in accordance with
the articles of association and the applicable laws and
regulations. Furthermore, every new director has to pass
through the assessment criteria of ‘Fit and Proper Test’ as set
and advised by the State Bank of Pakistan.

The nomination committee is fully composed of
non-independent members, while only half of the members in
the audit committee are independent. However, a majority of
independent members are in charge of the remuneration
committee.

Board Independence and Diversity

The Board of Directors has diversity in terms of expertise,
knowledge and age. UBL has obtained professional indemnity
insurance cover. None of the directors is on the Boards of more
than seven listed companies. Six directors and the President &
CEO have the Certification required under the CCG while two are
exempted from training requirement. The Chairman and the CEO
of the bank are not the same person.

UBL Board only one female director in the Board. UBL is
cognisant of the fact that a diverse board can be a competitive
advantage and make a company stronger over time.

Business Ethics and Policies

As a conscientious corporate citizen, UBL believes in ethical
business dealings. Our Code of Conduct, developed for
Directors & Employees is revised every year. There are also SBP
& Board approved guidelines for all businesses / departments in
place. Policies related to risks, controls and other aspects are
integrated in our practices.

UBL has robust policies and practices to thwart money
laundering, corruption, bribery, frauds, ESG and protect data
and consumer privacy. These rigorous practices enable us to
grow a successful, respected business that delivers the best
possible results for our clients, customers and communities.
These policies include:

Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Training

Anti- Bribery and Corruption Policy and Training
Anti-Fraud Policy and Training

Financial Crime Compliance (FCC) Transformation
Programme

Through FCC Transformation programme, UBL uplifted its FCC
related controls by designing and implementing policies,
standards, risk assessment methodologies, capacity
assessment and staff training plan.

Sustainable debt and loan capital market transactions

The Bank’s sustainable debt is made up of a variety of
fixed-income instruments raising funds to finance projects that
advance economic, environmental and social objectives.

Compliance with International Finance Corporation (IFC)
Performance Standards

International Finance Corporation (IFC) performance standards
define organizations’ ability to manage their sustainability risks
and impacts and how they can avoid and mitigate them to
operate in a more sustainable manner. At UBL, one of our major
environmental and social goals is to ensure meticulous
compliance with IFC performance standards, whereby we are
undertaking the following key measures:

Assess and manage risks and impacts of our processes
Foster a positive working environment

Ensure resource efficiency

Focus on employee health, safety and security

Ensure biodiversity conservation and sustainable resource
management

° Protect cultural heritage by supporting initiatives and
institutions that are dedicated to cultural and historic
preservation

Developing Sustainable Investment Framework

As part of our long-term investment strategy as a socially
conscious market leader, development of a sustainable
investment framework plays a vital role by which we can
effectively determine viable investment opportunities for our
businesses.
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The framework is imperative in identifying ventures that have
positive environmental impact. Following are the key dimensions
of the framework:

e  Sustainable investment policies — necessary to determine
investment objectives, preferences and streams.

° Sustainable investment facilitation - to facilitate investment
activities with the help of a defined policy that guides
various business units of the bank in their day-to-day
business conduct and also helps in expanding business
operations.

e  Sustainable development impact - for evaluating the
outcome of sustainable business practices to foster
growth without compromising the natural ecosystems.

e  Sustainable finance mobilisation — this primarily means to
undertake sustainable financing decisions to ensure
finances are efficiently utilised for better business outputs.

More details of our ESG initiatives are available in the UBL ESG
Report 2022.

For print copy, please send a request by email to
ublcamkt@ubl.com.pk
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PRESIDENT AND CEO REVIEW 2022

Another Resilient Performance by UBL in 2022

We have had another excellent year and upheld our leadership
position as Pakistan’s most progressive and innovative Bank,
winning global and local industry awards from Euromoney,
Asiamoney, CFA Society Pakistan and Pakistan Digital Awards.
Reflecting upon our journey this past year, we are proud of what
we have achieved and are extremely thankful to the UBL Team,
our customers and our shareholders. In 2022, our focus was on
building a stronger and more sustainable bank for the future.
This included the investments we made in our state-of-the-art
technology platforms and especially in our human capital.

UBL remains one of the largest financial institutions of Pakistan
with a footprint of 1,343 branches (including 8 overseas
branches) and assets of over Rs. 2.8 trillion. Serving 11 million
customers, with deposits of over Rs. 1.84 trillion and gross
advances of Rs. 1.01 trillion, UBL is at the forefront of banking
and financial services in Pakistan.

Apart from the Pakistan operations, UBL remains well
diversified with a banking subsidiary in the UK and has one of
the largest GCC presence by a Pakistani Financial Institution.
We have a robust branchless banking businesses in Pakistan
under the brand name of Omni, a dedicated top tier asset
management company UBL Funds and associate investments
across the insurance and micro finance segments. We are
proud of our highly dedicated and professional team of over
13,500 staff members and remain steadfast in our commitment
of reaching remote areas of the country and providing access to
banking facilities, thus serving the goal of financial inclusion for
every citizen of Pakistan.

Our strategy and performance for 2022 was built on the pillars of
‘PACE’ - Prioritise, Agility, Collaborate & Empower. Our focus
remained on creating a more agile organisation that can
respond quickly to changes in the market and customer needs.
We streamlined our processes, empowered our employees, and
embraced a culture of innovation and experimentation. We
actively sought new partnerships and collaborations to expand
our out-reach to provide more value to our customers while
continuing to seek out strategic opportunities that align with our
long-term goals.

We continued to grow and serve our strong customer base and
established a number of strategic alliances and partnerships.
UBL remained key industry participants in initiatives undertaken
by the Government of Pakistan and State Bank of Pakistan,
providing strong support to our country.

We also implemented technology based governance and
controls frameworks (including Financial Crimes Compliance -
FCC), setting the gold standard in controls, governance and
regulatory compliance for the Banking industry in Pakistan.

During the year, we made great strides towards our ESG
initiatives including our DE&I (Diversity, Equality and Inclusion)
agenda. This included the launch of UBL Urooj Account which
has been a resounding success. The agility of the UBL Family
helped us tackle the unprecedented challenges brought about
by the devastating floods. Bestway Group, UBLs parent
organisation donated over USD 2 million for flood victims. UBL
teams, alongside Bestway Group, have worked diligently to
rehabilitate and support those most affected by this tragedy.

In 2022 our focus was on building a stronger and more
sustainable bank for the future. We continue to invest in human
capital as we consider a skilled and competent workforce as the
single most competitive advantage today. A key priority has
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been to build our leadership bench strength by identifying high
potential employees and providing them well-defined career
paths as well as learning and development opportunities for
eventual leadership roles.

Strong Dividend Payouts Maintained While UBL

Repositions to Achieve Larger Aspirations

As one of the systemically important financial institutions of the
country, we have continued to deliver strong results in 2022 with
strong shareholder returns despite a difficult operating
environment. UBL delivered yet another solid performance
generating a Profit Before Tax (PBT) of Rs. 68.3 billion for the
year ended December 31, 2022, with a year-on-year growth of
31%. Profit after tax (PAT) was reported at Rs. 32.1 billion with
Earnings per Share (EPS) at Rs. 26.19 (2021: Rs. 25.23). The
Bank declared dividends of Rs. 9.0 per share for the fourth
quarter of 2022, taking the overall dividend distribution to Rs.
22.0 per share for the full year which is significantly higher than
the Rs. 18.0 per share declared in 2021. Despite economic
challenges this year, UBL remained resilient in sustaining its
leading position in the Pakistan banking industry. We remain
well capitalized with a CAR at 19.2% as at Dec’22 (Dec’21:
21.5%) and an ROE of 18.0% (Dec’21: 19.1%).

UBL Remains in the Forefront with Market
Recognition

The Bank continues to build on its award-winning digital
banking infrastructure which has repeatedly been recognized as
one of the best in Pakistan in providing the most innovative
banking solutions by winning global and local industry awards.
In 2022, we were awarded:

a. EUROMONEY award of excellence in “Market Leader of
Digital Banking”
b. “Best Bank for Digital Solutions in Pakistan” by ASIAMONEY.

UBL won major accolades throughout the year

We were acknowledged at the 19th Annual Excellence Awards
organised by CFA society, Pakistan with 3 awards across the
following categories:

a. Best Bank of the year 2021 in Tier | Bank category
b. Best Digital Banking Services 2021
c. Best Investor relations 2021 - Financial Institution

These awards are a recognition of being best in class in Digital
Banking and for our performance across all key metrics.

Challenging Economic Environment Surrounds the
Business Outlook

The global economy faced significant challenges with high
inflation levels, climate change consequences and the
continuation of war in Ukraine all being major contributors.
Steady and lengthening inflation pressures triggered a powerful
wave of US dollar appreciation against most currencies.

Tightening of monetary policy and financial conditions have
continued to work through the economy to supress inflation.
The year has witnessed a high interest rate regime as policy rate
was raised by a total of 625 bps in 2022 and by another 100 bps
in January 2023 pushing the interest rate to 17% as inflationary
pressures have proven to be stronger and more persistent. The
impact of the catastrophic flooding events that occurred in 2022
will continue to be felt this year as well. As the country struggles
with foreign exchange pressures, the resumption of the IMF
program and bilateral flows have become critical. Even though
it will take time to regain financial stability and spur economic

activity, the adjustments required for recovery have already begun.

Despite the tough macro-economic environment, UBL has
maintained its legacy on the strength of its strategically located
network and digital transformation. We are well diversified
across each geographical and business segment with a strong
distribution team, customer centric strategy and a focus to take
on technological challenges in order to better serve our
ever-increasing loyal customer base. In 2023, we will not only
focus on delivering profits for our shareholders, but also on
making a positive impact on the communities we serve and the
environment we share.

Building on our Strong Branch Banking Proposition
Serving Across all Demographics

In 2022, our network focussed on building its core deposit
book-size and thus, on boarded more than 600,000 new current
account relationships, leading to robust growth of 13% in
average current deposits, with volumes reaching Rs. 715 billion.
The bank structured its diversified liability product suite in line
with the financial journey of our extensive clientele while
generating relevant need-based solutions. With UBLs
commitment to improving financial inclusion and offering
inclusive products and services, UBL Urooj was launched to
create an attractive and inclusive proposition for women,
catering to their unique needs.

To promote gender equality & inclusion, UBL organised a bike rally
as parts of its launch of the UBL Urooj Account

Part of this product platform’s extension was the Urooj debit
card, which offers unique discounts and alliances on
women-centric products and services. Since its launch, the
portfolio has built up to over 21,000 account holders with
approx. Rs. 4.0 billion in deposits and winning a ‘Dragons of
Asia’ Award in 2022. UBL Bancassurance remained one of the
leaders with 25% market share in the industry and generated
Rs. 1.6 billion NFI in 2022. Continuing with our focus on
increasing transactions across our digital channels, we
increased our debit card portfolio to nearly 3.2 million, with new

acquisitions of more than 900,000 during the year which also
resulted in strong card fee income of Rs. 3 billion up 21% year
on year.

We Continue to Contribute to the Rural, Agri and
SME Sectors

UBL offers a diverse banking solution mix of agriculture-based
finance products; financing for major and minor crops,
development of agricultural land and purchase of farm
machinery, livestock financing etc. The overall portfolio of UBL
stood at Rs. 8.6 billion, with a growth of 11% vs Dec’21. During
the year, UBL also participated in the Government of Pakistan
Subsidy Schemes for the development agriculture sector; and it
partnered with several private and public entities to promote
farm mechanization and subsidized loans to farmers.

In Dec’22 our SME portfolio stood at Rs 25.8 billion with growth
of 23% with infection ratio contained to 1.2% vs 0.8% in 2021.
We are at the forefront of SBP ‘s announced schemes, Kamyab
Jawan scheme, SME Asaan Finance (SAAF) Scheme, Prime
Minister’s Youth Business and Agriculture Loan Scheme, aimed
at financial empowerment of the young population.

We Remain a Strategic Partner to the Nation as a
Leader in Home Remittances

Remittance inflows to Pakistan remained under pressure
throughout 2022 which is primarily due to high global inflation,
appreciation of the dollar and more recently the prevailing
disparity in the official and market exchange rates. Despite that,
UBL grew transactions and volume resulting in a 1% increase in
market share to 21.6%. Various factors fostered this positive
growth including increased penetration in US, UK & EU
corridors and unrelenting efforts for continuous improvement of
service delivery. We firmly believe that transition of remittances
from conventional channels to new age technology driven
solutions is the only way forward. We continually study the
respective international market environments and are working
to provide multiple technology-based solutions for our remitters
as well as the beneficiaries ensuring best customer experience.
Numerous initiatives are underway including but not limited to
adding a digital channel for self-serve remittance transaction or
expanding the delivery network to branchless banking vertical.

Islamic Banking — “UBL Ameen” Gains Ground in
2022

The Islamic Banking Industry has made significant progress
over the last decade and UBL continues to remain focused on
improving its market share. Despite challenging market
conditions, we are proud to have contributed towards the overall
growth of the Islamic Banking Industry. Islamic banking
continues as one of the key strategic segments of the Bank
expanding its footprint across the country. The Islamic network
stands at 150 branches (2021: 145 branches) with 219 Islamic
Banking Windows (IBWs) within conventional branches (2021:
197 IBWs). UBL Ameen’s average deposits maintained at Rs.
178 billion at Dec’22, growing by a strong average 21% over
Dec’21. Asset acquisition drive gained significant momentum in
2022, as the financing book more than doubled, from Rs. 44
billion at Dec’21 to Rs. 102 billion at Dec’22. The Bank views the
Islamic segment as a key growth opportunity and will continue
to aggressively expand UBL Ameen’s presence in this vitally
important sector.

Consumer Banking — Serving a Niche Market with
an Improving Proposition

UBL Consumer banking advances reached to Rs. 31 billion with
a6% YoY increase. The credit card portfolio increased to Rs. 2.8
billion. Cards business continues to onboard new alliance
partnerships in retail, healthcare, entertainment and various
other segments for increasing customer base.

IIl Annual Report 2022 | 49



Corporate & Investment Banking Maintains Strong
Asset Quality with Diversification

The Corporate & Investment Banking objective is to leverage its
high-quality asset portfolio to maximize yields through
improved lending spreads and strong NFI from trade, cash
management, investment banking mandates and our Fl
businesses. CIBG performing advances closed at Rs. 677 billion
at December ’22, growing by a strong 51% over December '21
level. Led by the Corporate Banking Group (CBG), the loan book
grew by 26% year on year, closing at Rs. 562 billion at
December ’22. Successful execution of strategies to increase
NFI resulted in CIBG posting a 44% increase in NFI (Rs. 4.5
billion vs. Rs. 3.1 billion in 2021) with main contributors being
trade, shipping desk business and corporate services fees. Our
Investment Banking Group (IBG) continues to solicit new
mandates and enters 2023 with a healthy pipeline of advisory
and arrangement projects.

Digital Banking & Technology — Our Innovation
Agenda Leads the Way

UBL continued its focus on technology, data and digitalisation
in 2022 which was responsible for our excellent uptimes and
service levels across all of technology infrastructure and
customer channels. We have embarked on a well-architected
multiyear execution plan to embed technology and data DNA in
the core of the organisation. At the heart of this program is the
implementation of our “Digital Banking Platform” which knits the
customer onboarding and internet / mobile experiences across
all customer channels. The platform is designed with a view to
meet the future needs of a tech-savvy and well-informed young
population and is planned to be rolled out in the future. UBL is
strategically positioned both digitally and physically to take
advantage of considerable growth opportunities in the financial
market as we step into the new year, we should remain resilient
in providing the banking services with utmost perfection.

UBL continues to be recognised as the industry leader in Digital
Banking. For the third consecutive year, Asiamoney lauded
UBL's digital excellence by declaring it the “Best Bank for Digital
Solutions” in Pakistan for 2022. Alongside, Euromoney declared
UBL as the “Market Leader of Digital Banking” in Pakistan,
especially based on its track record as the best in digital. In the
year 2022, digital transactions have increased by 48% to over 55
million with almost Rs. 2.6 trillion in payments throughput which
is up 53% year on year. In addition, the Bank continued to
increase its digital penetration with 49% of active bank
customers registered on the digital app.

UBL took the lead with the regulator in designing customer
journeys for the overseas Pakistanis to facilitate them in opening
of accounts digitally and managing their investments
conveniently. UBL today is one of the leading banks which NRPs
prefer to rely on to invest in Pakistan digitally and over USD 750
million have so far been sent to Pakistan by our RDA customers
through UBL Digital.
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UBL entered the Metaverse with a better & faster digital banking experience

In 2022, we introduced distinctive features on the digital side to
facilitate the users to execute all financial and non-financial
transactions effectively and efficiently without visiting the
branch. Digital Account Opening, Digital Cheque Deposit,
Digital Term Deposit and the Urdu mobile app were some of the
noteworthy breakthroughs in 2022. One of the prime examples
of product differentiation was the feature of Debit Card
Activation via Mobile App along with Cheque Book
Management. Additional innovative products inclusive in the
App like UBL Tap N Pay, Wealth Management have facilitated
the users to execute all the financial and non-financial activities
effectively and efficiently without visiting the branch.

UBL was awarded for its fast-paced growth in digital
transformation encompassing escalation in digital transactions,
number of registered customers, mobile app ratings, favourable
customer experience, innovative features and affirmative
prevalence on social media. The bank was rewarded for mobile
banking and payment initiative and for the Augmented and
Virtual Reality financial services. Our innovative and value
added customer centric digital solutions have been cited and
applauded by notable financial publications. These
achievements only strengthen our resolve to maintain our
market leadership in Digital Banking in Pakistan and we look
forward toward achieving many more firsts in the coming years.

Within International Markets we Have now Evolved a
More Sustainable Business Model

2022 was a challenging year for the international operations due
to rising interest rates post Covid and amid the Russia Ukraine
war. The overseas average deposit remained steady at USD 1.3
billion. The Bank, in line with its strategy to exit non-core
markets has closed operations in Yemen and subsidiaries in
Tanzania and Switzerland have been wound down. This was a
part of the proactive de-risking strategy adopting since the last
3 years and is reflecting positive results for the International
business. Average performing advances grew by 4% from USD
658 million to USD 686 million. A number of measures were
undertaken during the year to create operational efficiencies
including cost rationalisation across controlling offices, shifting
certain technology services to Pakistan and closure of branches
with lower customer footfall. Asset writing remained selective,
serving clients with good credit history as well as more Fl and
trade-based lending.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) a Part
of the UBL ‘DNA’

As a responsible corporate citizen, UBL is committed towards
creating a sustainable future. Through its Environmental, Social
and Governance (ESG) agenda, UBL aims at adopting
responsible business practices while also promoting long-term
sustainable growth and supporting causes which empower
local communities. By incorporating its Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) activities with its commitment towards
fulfilling the United Nations mandated Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs), the Bank has positively impacted millions of lives
in the communities it serves.

Our ESG agenda guides us in making conscientious investment
and purpose-driven resource allocation decisions. As part of
our commitment to the Environment, we undertake responsible
financing, energy management and play our role in cutting
emissions and safeguarding natural resources. The Social
aspect includes and goes beyond our CSR activities to include
development of people-centric policies and practices and meet
customer needs. Under Governance, the third pillar this
framework, we keep interests of our stakeholders at the heart of
what we do. Our aim is to ensure good governance,
transparency and accountability, and ethical conduct.

Diversity, Equality and Inclusivity (DE&I) continue to be
important components in formulating the Bank’s governance

and sustainability initiatives. Our comprehensive DE&I policy
covers all aspects of our decision making and is considered
when recruiting, training and developing our people. We believe
that a diverse workforce and an inclusive culture amplifies our
effectiveness and enhances performance. We consider this as a
moral and ethical obligation to address systematic inequalities
and empower local communities.

In 2022, UBL initiated the Bestway Foundation Hum-Sahara
Flood Relief Program, as part of its ambitious program to help
families adversely affected by the unprecedented rains and
floods in Pakistan. With thousands of displaced families
requiring urgent assistance to survive and rebuild their lives,
UBL undertook large scale distribution of life saving items
including food, tents, medical supplies, water filtration units,

blankets and mosquito nets to address the mass scale calamity.

Education, Healthcare and Community Welfare are three core
areas, with initiatives in these demonstrating the Bank’s
commitment to DE&I. Whether it is providing scholarships or
funding teacher training programs; setting up infrastructure &
medical equipment or sponsoring critical treatments; providing
meals during Ramzan or medicines for flood affected families;
all of our allocations are based on merit, need & impact and are
diligently vetted.

Mr. Shazad G. Dada, President & CEO, UBL giving Mr. Anwar Magsood the
Lifetime Achievement Award at the 10th UBL Literature & Arts Awards

UBL also promotes art in all its forms, be it theatre, music, film,
literature, fine art and more. The UBL Literature & Arts Awards
(ULA) is an initiative through which the Bank supports Pakistani
writers and literature by awarding the best of them on an annual
basis.

Our Priorities are Clear...To be the “Best Service
Bank” for our Customers

Our team is UBL's greatest asset, and our ambition is to be both
the best Bank for our people and an employer of choice. Our
people strategy will be at a functional level and we will ensure
that the staff is rewarded for their contribution towards the
Bank’s success. In addition, we will work towards our
technology transformation which will position UBL as an agile,
efficient, customer centric, resilient, and sustainable entity with
a clear vision for the future. Our ability to further embed our
market leading Digital offering will be pivotal in improving
service levels across the organisation. As Islamic banking
continues to grow with significant potential across the country,
we aim to strategically increase our share in assets, deposits
and branch network within this segment in the coming years.
Going forward, our approach will be to penetrate across
targeted geographies and develop a more optimal network.

Finally, and most importantly, through our varied touch points,
dedicated teams and digital proposition we aim to be the Best
Service Bank for our customers.

| look forward to our ambitious plans to grow UBL, | am proud to
say that with the hard work and contributions of each member
of staff, we are very well positioned for an even stronger 2023.
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ROSTIENINE
RELIABILITY

THE FUTURE OF BANKING

SIMPLY SECURED

At UBL, we are committed to providing our customers with a safe
and secure banking experience. We have implemented multiple
layers of security and use the latest technologies to protect our
customers' information and assets. We continue to monitor the
latest security threats and update our systems to ensure that we
provide the highest level of protection to our customers. We place
a high priority on meeting our customers' essential needs for
completing their financial transactions. Our customers now have
a complete peace of mind because of the robust controls and
authentication procedures we employ to keep their data
confidential. All transactions are protected by multiple layers of
security through advanced technological systems.
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GROWTH
AT A GLANCE

December 31 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Financial Ratios

Return on equity (RoE) 18.0% 19.1% 13.9% 13.8% 11.6% 20.6%
Return on assets (RoA) 1.2% 1.3% 1.1% 1.0% 0.8% 1.4%
Six Years Financial Summary Standa|one Profit before tax ratio 49.6% 54.8% 37.1% 41.0% 30.7% 50.8%
Gross spread ratio 41.2% 48.5% 49.3% 40.2% 49.7% 52.6%
Rs. in million Return on capital employed (RoCE) 17.0% 18.0% 13.1% 12.9% 11.3% 20.6%
Advances to deposits ratio (ADR) - gross 55.1% 41.6% 371% 47.9% 56.8% 52.6%
December 31 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 Advances to deposits ratio (ADR) - net 50.1% 36.9% 323%  433%  524%  49.3%
Income to expense ratio 2.57 217 2.26 2.04 1.88 2.18
Cost to revenue ratio 38.0% 44.9% 43.5% 48.2% 47.8% 45.0%
Balance Sheet Growth in gross income 44.7% 3.4% 10.3% 2.7% 3.4% -2.6%
Assets Growth in net profit after tax 3.8% 47.8% 9.2% 25.7% -39.5% -9.2%
Cash and balances with treasury and other banks 158,697 291,300 264,727 256,591 206,813 177,099 Total assets to shareholders’ funds 13.2 12.8 11.1 11.2 12.5 12.8
Lendings to financial institutions 85,296 51,701 19,959 20,183 33,942 10,868 Intermediation cost ratio 3.0% 2.6% 2.6% 2.9% 3.3% 3.0%
Investments - gross 1,442,017 1,504,689 1,138,018 849,441 792,857 1,095,555 Asset quality (NPL ratio) 9.2% 11.8% 13.7% 11.0% 8.8% 7.8%
Advances - gross 1,013,767 728,286 609,307 702,951 776,272 670,056 Net infection ratio 0.2% 0.6% 0.9% 1.6% 1.1% 1.5%
Operating fixed assets 73,223 70,769 53,037 54,348 47,556 46,205 Weighted average cost of debt 7.3% 4.8% 5.3% 6.5% 4.1% 4.2%
Other assets 104,506 61,665 52,715 85,497 98,976 79,617 Capital adequacy ratio (CAR) 19.2% 21.5% 24.4% 18.9% 17.7% 15.4%
Total assets - gross 2,877,507 2,708,409 2,137,763 1,969,011 1,956,417 2,079,400
Provisions against non-performing advances (91,930) (82,097) (79,028) 67,117) (60,336)  (42,697) .
Provisions against diminution in value of investments (26,823) (8,146) (9,344) (9,118) 6,482)  (3,769) Share Information
Total assets - net of provisions 2,758,753 2,618,166 2,049,392 1,892,775 1,889,599 2,032,934 Cash dividend per share - Rs. 22.00 18.00 12.00 12.00 11.00 13.00
Dividend yield (based on cash dividend) 16.1% 14.3% 7.3% 9.8% 5.9% 5.4%
Liabilities & Equity Dividend payout ratio (total payout) 84.0% 71.4% 70.3% 76.8% 88.4% 63.2%
Dep03|tls & other a_ccou_nts: o 1,838,367 1 ,750,944 1,640,21 2 1,467,063 1 ,366,060 1 ,272,788 Earning per share (EPS) - Rs. 26.19 2593 17.07 15.63 12.44 20.57
BorrOW|_ngs from financial institutions 564,519 563,285 128,987 154,484 268,124 512,650 Price earnings ratio 3.88 5.41 7.37 10.52 9.86 9.14
Subordinated loans 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 9,000 -
Bills payable 36,474 26.793 29734 22.927 27.249 29,848 Market value per share - at the end of the year - Rs. 101.59 136.58 125.86 164.50 122.64 187.97
Other liabilities 100,373 62,502 56,386 69,232 67,896 58,341 Market value per share - highest during the year - Rs. 150.9 143.89 181.96 173.53 219.70 283.00
Total liabilities 2,549,733 2,413,523 1,865,319 1,723,706 1,738,329 1,873,627 Market value per share - lowest during the year - Rs. 91.5 114.28 89.44 119.67 121.85 162.01
Net assets 209,020 204,643 184,073 169,069 151,270 159,307 Breakup value per share - without surplus on revaluation of assets - Rs. 155.15 136.08 127.79 117.00 110.02 103.74
Share capital 12,242 12,242 12,242 12,242 12,242 12,242 Breakup value per share - with surplus on revaluation of assets - Rs. 170.74 167.17 150.36 138.11 123.57 130.13
Reserves 86,254 69,718 62,274 59,320 54,439 43,847
Unappropriated profit 91,438 84,626 81,916 71,670 68,002 70,912 .
Equity - Tier | 189,934 166,586 156,432 143,232 134,683 127,001 Other Information
Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of deferred tax 19,086 38,056 27,641 25,837 16,587 32,306 Non-performing advances (NPLs) - Rs in million 93,339 86,013 83,624 76,986 68,562 52,247
Total equity 209,020 204,643 184,073 169,069 151,270 159,307 Import business - Rs in million 1,231,532 1,010,288 544,634 824,858 936,749 720,496
Total liabilities & equity 2,758,753 2,618,166 2,049,392 1,892,775 1,889,599 2,032,934 Export business - Rs in million 503,624 208,187 139,010 177,279 202,748 294,428
) . Number of employees 13,722 13,233 13,012 13,248 13,931 14,771
Profitability Number of branches - Domestic 1,335 1,341 1,356 1,362 1,364 1,361
Markup / return / interest earned 250,679 147,974 152,003 153,676 113,198 107,206 Number of branches - International 8 8 14 14 15 18
Markup / return / |ntere'st expenged (1 47,469) (76,21 6) (77,044) (91 ,902) (56,964) (50,781) Number of branches - Total 1,343 1,349 1,370 1,376 1,379 1,379
Net markup / return / interest income 103,209 71,759 74,959 61,774 56,234 56,425
Fee, commission, brokerage and exchange income 24,286 17,056 14,782 18,219 17,396 14,496
Capital gains & dividend income 2,560 5,791 1,681 1,541 6,648 6,762
Other income 7,597 532 631 1,916 967 904
Total non interest income 34,443 23,379 17,094 21,676 25,011 22,162
Gross income 137,652 95,138 92,054 83,451 81,246 78,587
Administrative expenses and other charges (53,461) (43,832) (40,751) (40,860) (43,222)  (36,109)
Profit before donations and provisions 84,190 51,306 51,303 42,590 38,024 42,478
Donations (211) (134) (342) (129) (203) (110)
Provisions (15,669) 955 (16,768) (8,220) (12,854) (2,450)
Profit before taxation 68,310 52,127 34,192 34,242 24,967 39,918
Taxation (36,247) (21,245) (13,294) (15,108) 9,741)  (14,739)
Profit after taxation 32,063 30,882 20,899 19,134 15,226 25,179

Cash Flow Statement - Summary

Cash flow from operating activities (110,598) 353,077 372,652 134,204  (244,642) 253,459
Cash flow from investing activities (14,685) (304,588) (855,068) (74,098) 271,086 (208,158)
Cash flow from financing activities (20,650) (26,272) (10,312) (14,629) (5,800)  (15,480)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 291,300 264,727 256,591 206,813 177,099 146,428
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 13,330 4,356 865 4,300 9,070 850
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 158,697 291,300 264,727 256,591 206,813 177,099
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GROWTH
AT A GLANCE

Balance Sheet

December 31

Vertical Analysis

Assets

Cash and balances with treasury and other banks
Lendings to financial institutions

Investments - net

Advances - net

Operating fixed assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities & Equity

Deposits & other accounts
Borrowings from financial institutions
Subordinated loans

Bills payable

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Share capital

Reserves

Unappropriated profit

Equity - Tier |

Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of deferred tax
Total equity

Horizontal Analysis

Assets

Cash and balances with treasury and other banks
Lendings to financial institutions

Investments - net

Advances - net

Operating fixed assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities & Equity

Deposits & other accounts
Borrowings from financial institutions
Subordinated loans

Bills payable

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Share capital

Reserves

Unappropriated profit

Equity - Tier |

Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of deferred tax
Total equity

2022

5.8%
3.1%
51.3%
33.4%
2.7%
3.8%
100.0%

66.6%
20.5%
0.4%
1.3%
3.6%
92.4%
0.4%
3.1%
3.3%
6.9%
0.7%
7.6%

89.6%
784.8%
129.6%
146.9%
158.5%
131.3%
135.7%

144.4%
110.1%
100.0%
122.2%
172.0%
136.1%
100.0%
196.7%
128.9%
149.6%

59.1%
131.2%

2021

11.1%
2.0%
57.2%
24.7%
2.7%
2.4%
100.0%

66.9%
21.5%
0.4%
1.0%
2.4%
92.2%
0.5%
2.7%
3.2%
6.4%
1.5%
7.8%

164.5%
475.7%
137.1%
103.0%
153.2%

77.5%
128.8%

137.6%
109.9%
100.0%

89.8%
107.1%
128.8%
100.0%
159.0%
119.3%
131.2%
117.8%
128.5%

2020

12.9%
1.0%
55.1%
25.9%
2.6%
2.6%
100.0%

80.0%
6.3%
0.5%
1.5%
2.8%

91.0%
0.6%
3.0%
4.0%
7.6%
1.3%
9.0%

149.5%
183.7%
103.4%

84.5%
114.8%

66.2%
100.8%

128.9%
25.2%
100.0%
99.6%
96.6%
99.6%
100.0%
142.0%
115.5%
123.2%
85.6%
115.5%

2019

13.6%
1.1%
44.4%
33.6%
2.9%
4.5%
100.0%

77.5%
8.2%
0.5%
1.2%
3.7%

91.1%
0.6%
3.1%
3.8%
7.6%
1.4%
8.9%

144.9%
185.7%

77.0%
101.4%
117.6%
107.4%

93.1%

115.3%
30.1%
100.0%
76.8%
118.7%
92.0%
100.0%
135.3%
101.1%
112.8%
80.0%
106.1%

2018

10.9%
1.8%
41.6%
37.9%
2.5%
52%
100.0%

72.3%
14.2%
0.5%
1.4%
3.6%
92.0%
0.6%
2.9%
3.6%
71%
0.9%
8.0%

116.8%
312.3%

72.0%
114.1%
102.9%
124.3%

92.9%

107.3%
52.3%
100.0%
91.3%
116.4%
92.8%
100.0%
124.2%
95.9%
106.0%
51.3%
95.0%

2017

8.7%
0.5%
53.7%
30.9%
2.3%
3.9%
100.0%

62.6%
25.2%
0.0%
1.5%
2.9%
92.2%
0.6%
2.2%
3.5%
6.2%
1.6%
7.8%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

100.0%
100.0%

0.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Profit and Loss Account

December 31

Vertical Analysis

Interest / Return / Non Interest Income Earned
Markup / return / interest earned

Fee, commission, brokerage and exchange income
Capital gains & dividend income

Other income

Total

Interest / Return / Non Interest Expense
Markup / return / interest expensed
Operating expenses

Provisions

Taxation

Total expense - percentage of total income

Profit after taxation
Total

Horizontal Analysis

Interest / Return / Non Interest Income Earned
Markup / return / interest earned

Fee, commission, brokerage and exchange income
Capital gains & dividend income

Other income

Total

Interest / Return / Non Interest Expense
Markup / return / interest expensed
Operating expenses

Provisions

Taxation

Total

Profit after taxation

2022

87.9%
8.5%
0.9%
2.7%

100.0%

51.7%
18.8%

5.5%
12.7%
88.8%

11.2%
100.0%

233.8%
167.5%

37.9%
840.4%
220.4%

290.4%
148.2%
639.6%
245.9%
242.9%

127.3%

2021 2020
86.4% 89.9%
10.0% 8.7%

3.4% 1.0%

0.3% 0.4%

100.0% 100.0%

44.5% 45.6%
25.7% 24.3%
-0.6% 9.9%
12.4% 7.9%
82.0% 87.6%
18.0% 12.4%

100.0% 100.0%

138.0% 141.8%
117.7% 102.0%
85.6% 24.9%
58.9% 69.8%
132.5% 130.7%

150.1% 1561.7%
121.4% 113.5%
-39.0% 684.5%
144.1% 90.2%
134.8% 142.2%

122.6% 83.0%

2019 2018

87.6% 81.9%
10.4% 12.6%
0.9% 4.8%
1.1% 0.7%
100.0% 100.0%

52.4% 41.2%
23.4% 31.4%
4.7% 9.3%
8.6% 7.0%
89.1% 89.0%

10.9% 11.0%
100.0% 100.0%

143.3% 105.6%
125.7% 120.0%

22.8% 98.3%
212.0% 106.9%
135.5% 106.8%

181.0% 112.2%
113.2% 119.9%
335.5% 524.7%
102.5% 66.1%
149.9% 118.0%

76.0% 60.5%

2017

82.9%
11.2%
5.2%
0.7%
100.0%

39.3%
28.0%

1.9%
11.4%
80.5%

19.5%
100.0%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

100.0%

Statement of Value Added

Mark-up / return / interest earned - net of provisions
Fee, commission, brokerage and exchange income
Capital gains & dividend income

Other income

Administrative expenses
Value added

Distributed as follows:

To employees as remuneration

To government as income tax

To depositors as profit on investments

To institutions & individuals as profit on borrowings
To society as donations

To shareholders as dividends / bonus

Retained in business as reserves and retained profits

2022
Rs in million %
235,009 99.7%
24,286 10.3%
2,560 1.1%
7,597 32%
269,452 114.3%
33,748 14.3%
235,704 100.0%
19,714 8.4%
36,247 15.4%
109,054 46.3%
38,415 16.3%
211 0.1%
23,259 9.9%
8,803 3.7%
235,704 100%

2021
Rs in million %
148,930 102.7%
17,056 11.8%
5,791 4.0%
532 0.4%
172,309 118.8%
27,309 18.8%
145,000 100.0%
16,522 11.4%
21,245 14.7%
57,310 39.5%
18,905 13.0%
134 0.1%
28,320 18.2%
4,563 3.1%
145,000 100%
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UBL INTERNATIONAL

NETWORK

INTERNATIONAL BRANCHES

UAE

Deira Branch

Mohd. & Obaid Al Mullah Building,
Murshid Bazar, Al Kabeer Street - Dubai,
P.O. Box: 1000, Dubai - UAE.

Tel: 00971-4-6085350 & 00971-4-6085351
Swift Code: UNILAEAD

Branch Code: 0906

Bur Dubai Branch

Bank Street Building,

Khalid Bin Al Waleed Street,

P.O. Box: 1367, Dubai - UAE.

Tel: 00971-4-6085200 & 00971-4-6085201
Swift Code: UNILAEAD

Branch Code: 0907

Gold & Diamond Park Branch

Gold & Diamond Park,

Unit No. R-52,

Sheikh Zayed Road, Al Qouz Industrial Area,
P.O. Box: 3846, Dubai — UAE.

Tel: 00971-4-6085300 & 00971-4-6085301
Swift Code: UNILAEAD

Branch Code: 0919

Sharjah Branch

Al Majaz Building, King Faisal Street,

P.O. Box: 660, Sharjah - UAE.

Tel: 00971-6-5979121 & 00971-6-5979122
Swift Code: UNILAEAD

Branch Code: 0910

Muroor Branch

Aylan Abdullah al Muhairi Building,
Muroor Road,

P.O. Box: 3052, Abu Dhabi - UAE.
Tel: 00971-2-5996525

Swift Code: UNILAEAD

Branch Code: 1207

Musaffah Branch
Rashid Mohd. Abdullah Al Mazroui Building,

Block M14, Street 17, Musaffah Industrial Road,

P.O. Box: 237, Abu Dhabi - UAE.

Tel: 00971-2-5996400 & 00971-2-5996401
Swift Code: UNILAEAD

Branch Code: 0901
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Bahrain

Manama Branch

Building 117, Road 385, Block 304,
Government Avenue, Manama,

P.O. Box: 546, Kingdom of Bahrain.

Tel: 00973-17503549 & 00973-17503548
Swift Code: UNILBHBM

Branch Code: 0905

Qatar

Corniche Branch

Sh. Jassim Bin Jaber Al-Thani Building,
Abdullah Bin Jassim Street,

P.O. Box: 242, Doha - Qatar.

Tel: 00974-44254466

Email: Mohammad_ali@ublint.com
Swift Code: UNILQAQAXxx

Branch Code: 0908

Representative Office

China

Servcorp, Suite No.29, Level 26, Fortune Financial Center
No.5 Dong San Huang Zhong Rd, Chaoyang District
Beijing — China - PO Box: 100020

Tel: 0086 - 010 - 57750521

Fax: 0086 - 010 - 57750350

OBU-EPZ

EPZ Branch Karachi

Export Processing Zone, Landhi Industrial Area,
Mehran Highway, Landhi, Karachi.

Tel: 0092-21-35082301-3

EPZ Branch, Sambrial (Sialkot)

Plot No.: 261-A, Export Processing Zone,
Wazirabad Road, Sambirial,

District Sialkot.

Tel: 0092-52-6523388

SUBSIDIARY

United Kingdom
London

2 Brook Street,
London, W1S 1BQ.

COMPLAINT MANAGEMENT

AT UBL

Complaint Management Unit, under the umbrella of Service
Quality, is responsible for managing and resolving customer
grievances efficiently at UBL. While resolving customer
complaints we ensure the following:

. Customers are treated fairly

° Customers are informed about the complaint handling
mechanism

° Complaints are resolved within the shortest time possible

o Complaint handling mechanism is visible and accessible for
all customers through the corporate website, banking
helpline and placards mentioning all touch points details

. Complaint handling is comprehensive, well integrated and
handled with impartiality and transparency

Year 2022 started on a good note where customer grievances
were resolved efficiently and effectively by meeting the
expectations of the customers and ensuring best-in-class
service for 2023

UBL enhanced its complaint handling system in 2022 and shared
awareness about its complaint lodging process through
bankwide communications and trainings. Further, the Bank
encouraged its customers to approach external dispute
resolution forums - Banking Mohtasib Pakistan - if they are not
satisfied with the complaint resolution provided by UBL.

Complaint Management Unit is also synchronised with their core
departments for reduction in customer grievances and observed
decrease in complaint volume in 2022 by facilitating customers.
Complaints trend and closure analysis reports are also shared
with the Board Members, Senior Management & Business
owners. Based on these findings, remedial measures are taken.

UBL regards complaints as an important feedback for
improvement. With management view on catering to the needs of
customers, Fair Treatment & Customer Service Committee
(FTCSC) exists to foresee customer issues and provides advice
to enhance customer experience. This committee comprises of
senior executives and is chaired by the President & CEO:

Key highlights of year 2022 were as under
° Successful management 164,967 complaints

o 99% resolutions were provided in 15 days’ time
e Average complaint resolution time stood at 5.2 days



SHARIAH BOARD'S REPORT FOR THE
FINANCIAL YEAR 2022

In the name of Allah, The Most Beneficent, The Most Merciful

Alhamdulillah, by the grace of Almighty Allah, UBL Ameen Pakistan
has successfully completed 16 years of Islamic Banking
operations. During the year, UBL Ameen witnessed an exponential

growth in terms of business profitability and market penetration.

Scope:

The Board of Directors and Executive Management are solely
responsible to ensure that the operations of the bank are
conducted in a manner that comply with Shariah principles at all
times. The scope of this report is to cover affairs of the Islamic
Banking operations in Pakistan from Shariah perspective, as
described under Shariah Governance Framework issued by the
State Bank of Pakistan.

Shariah Board hereby submits its report on the overall Shariah
compliance environment of UBL Ameen and major
developments that took place during the year.

Shariah Board Meetings and Reviews:

In line with Shariah Governance Framework of State Bank of
Pakistan, Shariah Board shall meet at least on quarterly basis.
Hence, thirty-one (31) Shariah Board meetings were held till
date, out of which four (4) meetings were conducted in 2022.
Minutes of meetings were subsequently submitted to Islamic
Banking Department of State Bank of Pakistan. In addition,
various meetings were held to discuss the matters related to
Product Development, Islamic Banking Training, Shariah
Compliance and Shariah Audit.

Shariah Compliance Department:

Shariah Compliance Department worked under the supervision
of Shariah Board and contributed as conduit between
Management and Shariah Board. Shariah Compliance
Department (SCD) of UBL Ameen constitutes of Head of the
department & two supporting staff including Shariah Scholar.

During the year, internal Shariah control review was conducted
for Islamic branches and Head Office functions on sample basis.
Shariah compliance review reports were shared with District
Management and Head of Islamic Banking for rectification and
compliance. Shariah Compliance Department submitted its
consolidated quarterly reports to Shariah Board for ratification.
Reports consisted details of all Shariah reviews and opinions
given by Resident Shariah Board Member (in accordance with
Shariah guidelines already provided by the Shariah Board) and
opinions given by Shariah Board through circulation. Later on,
RSBM and Shariah Board rulings were ratified by Shariah Board
in the subsequent Shariah Board meetings.

UBL Ameen Branch Network:

In terms of branch network, the year 2022 was reasonably
productive year in UBL Ameen’s journey wherein five
Conventional Banking branches were converted into Islamic
Banking branches. Conversion process was effectively
executed with end to end review from Shariah Board and
subsequent approval from State Bank of Pakistan. Total number
of Islamic Banking branches has now reached to 150. Also, with
the addition of 22 new Islamic Banking Windows (IBWs) in 2022,
IBWs are now being operated through 219 UBL branches countrywide.

Products & Services:

On Liability Side:

Following Liability products were launched during the year;

“UBL Ameen Urooj Account”, is first of its kind and is aimed to
increase financial inclusion by reaching out to female population
of Pakistan, the current account variant is on Qard basis & the
saving account variants is on Mudarabah basis.

“UBL Ameen Good Citizen Account” (GCA), current account
variant of GCA was launched on underlying concept of Qard.

“UBL Ameen Pensioner Account”, a complete product having
current & saving account which facilitates pensioners of
Government and Semi Government organisations to receive
pensions easily.

On Consumer Side:
Following Consumer products were launched / renewed during
the year;

“UBL Ameen Address”, the housing finance product is
reviewed and approved by Shariah Board. UBL Ameen Address
is a Shariah Compliant solution for housing finance based on the
concept of Diminishing Musharakah, which facilitates the
customers for purchase of a house, apartment, renovation,
construction & balance transfer facility.

“UBL Ameen Low Cost Housing Finance”, the product
renewed and approved by Shariah Board.

“UBL Ameen Drive”, the auto financing product was reviewed
and approved by Shariah Board.

On Asset Side:

Product Program Manuals for Ameen Musharakah Running
Finance, Istisna, Bai Muajjal (addendum), Islamic Export
Refinance Scheme (IERS) and Treasury Product (Currency
Salam) along with transaction documents were revalidated and
approved by Shariah Board.

Corporate Banking:
During the year, more than 400 corporate banking transactions
were executed. For review of Corporate & SME transactions,

Shariah compliance process is categorised in two major stages:

1) Pre Disbursement Stage in which process flows and
structures of the transactions are finalised in accordance with
Shariah guidelines already provided by the Shariah Board.
These process flows are duly reviewed and approved by
Resident Shariah Board Member (RSBM) / Shariah Board and
are ratified in the subsequent Shariah Board meetings. In
addition, first transaction (other than renewal) is reviewed by
Shariah  Compliance Department and approved by
RSBM/Shariah Board prior to disbursement.

2. Post Disbursement Stage in which transactional documents
are reviewed on sample basis by Shariah Compliance
Department, in accordance with Shariah guidelines already
provided by the Shariah Board.

UBL Ameen Treasury:

UBL Ameen has a separate Treasury Department. During the
year, more than 140 deals were executed under UBL Ameen
treasury products including, Musharakah, Mudarabah,
Wakalah, and GOP ljarah Sukuk. Furthermore, few deals were

executed with Government of Pakistan under GOP ljarah Sukuk.

Profit & Loss Distribution and Pool Management:

Shariah Compliance Department reviewed overall pre & post
disbursement and calculation of profit and loss mechanism.
Internal Shariah Audit Unit (ISAU) conducted post disbursement
pool audit on quarterly basis in line with the Profit & Loss
distribution and Pool Management policy along with announced
Profit Sharing Ratio (PSR) & weightages, and presented its
reports to Shariah Board for review and opinion where required.

Training and Development:

During the year 2022, various Class Room and Online Islamic
Banking training sessions were conducted for UBL and UBL
Ameen staff on basic concepts of Islamic Banking and Products
& Services. These Islamic banking training sessions include
Islamic Banking Products & Services, Branch Conversion,
Orientation of Islamic Banking, Branch Services Officer Training
Program, Operations Officer Training Program, Islamic Banking
Concept & Practices, and special training sessions for
Corporate & Investment Banking Group (IBG) and Trade Finance
team. Trainings were conducted by Shariah Compliance
Department, Shariah Board Members and executives from UBL
Ameen.

In compliance to clause 2 vi and 2 vii of the Shariah Governance
Framework, Shariah Board provided presentation regarding
Islamic Banking concepts & practices and Shariah
Non-Compliance Risk Management to the Board of Directors
(BoD) in Shariah Board meeting with BoD.

Internal Shariah Audit Unit (ISAU):

Internal Shariah Audit Unit (ISAU) performed very effectively in
compliance with the Shariah Governance Framework issued by
State Bank of Pakistan and Shariah guidelines prescribed by
Shariah Board. ISAU constitutes of Head Internal Shariah Audit
and two Shariah scholars. ISAU performed Shariah audit of
Islamic Banking Branches, Islamic Banking Windows, Treasury
unit, Corporate & SME financing, Profit & Loss distribution and
Head Office functions and made significant contribution to
strengthen the internal Shariah controls. ISAU discussed all
findings with Shariah Board and management for determination
of appropriate corrective actions and their enforcement.

Charity Collections & Disbursements:

The opening balance of Charity fund as of 1st January 2022 was
PKR 4.038 Million. During the year, charity of PKR 7.88 Million
was received (including profit on charity account amounting
PKR 0.64 Million) and charity of PKR 5.0 Million was disbursed
to the charitable organisations after required screening and due
diligence. The amount credited in charity account was due to
late payments.

Shariah Opinion:

To form our opinion as expressed in this report, as we have
reviewed reports from Internal Shariah Audit, Shariah
Compliance Department, and management representation.
Based on above, and to the best of our knowledge, we are of the
view that:

UBL Ameen has overall complied with Shariah rules and
principles in the light of Fatawa, rulings and guidelines issued
by the Shariah Board.

ii. UBL Ameen has overall complied with directives, regulations,
instructions and guidelines related to Shariah compliance
issued by SBP in accordance with the rulings of SBP’s

Shariah Advisory Committee.

iii. UBL Ameen has a mechanism in place to ensure Shariah
compliance in their overall operations.

iv. UBL Ameen has a system in place to ensure that any earnings
realised from sources or by means prohibited by Shariah have
been credited to charity account and are being properly
utilised.

v. UBL Ameen has overall complied with the SBP instructions on
profit and loss distribution and pool management.

vi. The level of awareness, capacity & sensitisation of the staff,
management and the BOD in appreciating the importance of
Shariah compliance in the products and processes of the
bank is acceptable.

Vii.

Shariah Board has been reasonably provided resources
enabling it to discharge its duties.

Recommendations:
For further enhancement, Shariah Board recommends the
following:

i. Toensure zero tolerance on Shariah noncompliance instances
with regard to the SBP directives, it is recommended to
include an exclusive Shariah Non-Compliance key
performance indicating point with impactful weightage in the
appraisal system of all staff including Head Office & Branches.

ii. With respect to manage pool system more effectively, it is
recommended to build comprehensive controls in end to end
process of calculation and disbursement of profit and loss
mechanism.

iii. With respect to Shariah Compliance environment of the bank,
timely implementation of Shariah guidelines/corrective
actions and considering the overall expansion of Islamic
banking business, the capacity of Shariah Compliance
Department to be increased/built adequately.

iv. To follow the Shariah guidelines during and after expansion of
Islamic banking business, it is advised that bank must ensure
implementation of SBP IBD Circular No. 2 of 2018 and its
amendment through IBD Circular Letter No. 1 of 2020; i.e.
enhanced training and capacity building measures for Islamic
Banking Institutions in letter and spirit.

v. Keeping in view the expansion/conversion, it is recommended
to develop required Shariah Compliant Products and Services
accordingly. Further, Shariah Board approved mechanism for
offering new Shariah based products and services should
also be adopted.
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Conclusion:

Shariah Board of UBL Ameen is satisfied with the overall
performance and operations of UBL Ameen Pakistan, Islamic
Banking Division of United Bank Limited. And, hope that the
management will keep this momentum of profitability, Shariah
Compliance and market penetration, and thus play pivotal role
in sound and manifold growth of Islamic Banking countrywide.

Almighty Knows Best:

Mufti Muhammad Awais Naeem
Resident Shariah Board Member

L

Mufti Imtiaz Alam
Shariah Board Member

Mufti Muhammad Ibrahim Essa
Chairman Shariah Board

Date of Report: 9th February 2023
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Building a better
woorhing waorld

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
UNITED BANK LIMITED

Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed
Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the
Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations,
2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of
United Bank Limited (the Bank) for the year ended December 31,
2022 in accordance with the requirements of regulation 36 of the
Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of
the Board of Directors of the Bank. Our responsibility is to review
whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the
Bank’s compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and
report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the
requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to
inquiries of the Bank’s personnel and review of various

documents prepared by the Bank to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required
to obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal control
systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of
Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and
controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal
controls, the Bank’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Bank to place before the Audit
Committee, and upon recommendation of the Audit Committee,
place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval,
its related party transactions. We are only required and have
ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the
approval of the related party transactions by the Board of
Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance does not
appropriately reflect the Bank's compliance, in all material
respects, with the requirements contained in the Regulations as
applicable to the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Bt b L.

Chartered Accountants
Karachi

Dated: 7 March 2023

UDIN: CR202210191wLhtb5xD0

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
WITH LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE)

REGULATIONS, 2019

The Bank has complied with the requirements of the Regulations
in the following manner:-

1. The total number of directors are 9 as per the following:
a) Male: 8
b) Female: 1

2. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Category INETES

Independent Ms. Shazia Syed

Directors Mr. Amar Zafar Khan

Mr. Tarig Rashid

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk
Non-Executive Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, S| Pk
Directors Mr. Rizwan Pervez

Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey

Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal

Executive Director | Mr. Shazad G. Dada, President & CEO

Female Director Ms Shazia Syed

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as
a director on more than seven listed companies, including this
Bank;

4. The Bank has prepared a code of conduct and has ensured
that appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate it
throughout the Bank along with its supporting policies and
procedures;

5. The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall
corporate strategy and significant policies of the Bank. The
Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the
significant policies along with their date of approval or
updating is maintained by the Bank;

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and
decisions on relevant matters have been taken by the Board/
shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the
Act and these Regulations;

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the
Chairman. The Board has complied with the requirements of
the Act and the Regulations with respect to frequency,
recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board;

8. The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures
for remuneration of directors in accordance with the Act and
these Regulations;

9. The Board has arranged Directors’ Training Program for the
following:

(Name of Director) — Nil.
(Name of Executive & Designation):

Name of Executive Designation

Mr. Arif Akmal Saifie Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Muhammad Abdul Senior Manager Advisory
Samad Naeem

10. The Board has approved appointment of Chief Financial Officer,
Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit, including their
remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and
complied with relevant requirements of the Regulations;

11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly
endorsed the financial statements before approval of the
Board;

12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members
given below;

a. BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE (BAC):

Ms. Shazia Syed Chairperson
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Member
Mr. Rizwan Pervez Member

b. BOARD HUMAN RESOURCE & COMPENSATION
COMMITTEE (HRCC):

Mr. Tariq Rashid Chairman
Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk Member
Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal Member
Mr. Rizwan Pervez Member

c. BOARD RISK & COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (BRCC):

Mr. Muhammad Jawaid Igbal Chairman
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, S| Pk Member
Ms. Shazia Syed Member
Mr. Shazad G. Dada Member

d. BOARD IT COMMITTEE (BITC):

Mr. Tariq Rashid Chairman
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, SI,Pk Member
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Member
Mr. Shazad G. Dada Member

e. BOARD NOMINATION COMMITTEE (BNC):

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk Chairman
Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, Sl Pk Member
Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey Member

13. The Terms of Reference (TORs) of the aforesaid committees
have been formed, documented and advised to the committees
for compliance;

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the
committees were as per following:

a. Board Audit Committee Five meetings with at-least
one in each Quarter.

b.Board Human Resource & Four quarterly meetings.
Compensation Committee

c. Board Risk & Compliance Four quarterly meetings.
Committee

d.Board IT Committee Four quarterly meetings.

e. Board Nomination Committee One meeting.
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15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function who
are considered suitably qualified and experienced for the
purpose and are conversant with the policies and procedures
of the Bank;

16. The statutory auditors of the Bank have confirmed that they
have been given a satisfactory rating under the Quality Control
Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan and registered with Audit Oversight Board of
Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance
with International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines
on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the
firm involved in the audit are not a close relative (spouse,
parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal
Audit, Company Secretary or Director of the Bank;

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them
have not been appointed to provide other services except in
accordance with the Act, these Regulations or any other
regulatory requirement and the auditors have confirmed that
they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard;

18. We confirm that all requirements of regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27,
32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have been complied with; and

19. Explanation for non-compliance with requirements, other than
regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 36 are below (if applicable):

—
Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk

Chairman
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ANNUAL STATEMENT

ON INTERNAL CONTROLS 2022

The Internal Control System comprises of various inter-related
components including the Control Environment, Risk
Assessment, Control Activities, Information & Communication
and Monitoring.

It is the responsibility of the Bank’s management to establish an
Internal Control System to maintain an adequate and effective
Internal Control Environment. An Internal Control System is a set
of processes designed to identify and mitigate the risk of failure
and achieve overall business objectives of the Bank.

Internal controls and policies are designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of the
Bank’s operations, reliability of financial information and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Management ensures an efficient and effective Internal Control
System by carrying out risk assessment, identifying controls,
reviewing pertinent policies/procedures, and establishing
relevant control procedures and monitoring systems.

Evaluation

The Bank’s Internal Control System has been designed to provide
reasonable assurance to the shareholders and Board of Directors;
however, these systems may not entirely eliminate the risk of
misreporting and failure of certain controls under a changing
environment.

Evaluation of the Bank’s Internal Control System comprises of
different levels of monitoring activities i.e. Line Management,
Compliance Group, Internal Control over Financial Reporting
(ICFR) Unit and Audit & Risk Review Group. Line Management’s
role has been enhanced to include onsite reviews of processes in
branches to identify gaps in execution with special emphasis on
the implementation of regulatory instructions in addition to day to
day monitoring of control breaches for prompt corrective actions.
In order to improve the oversight on compliance with Regulatory
requirements and KYC CDD/EDD quality & Financial Crime
Compliance (FCC), Regional Compliance Business Managers
have been placed in each Branch Banking region. Further,
keeping in view the changing risk environment and Bank’s
increased focus on controls and compliance matters, an Internal
Control Division is operating within Operations Group for
monitoring branch related operations.

Compliance Group ensured oversight over Regulatory & Financial
Crime Compliance (FCC) across the Bank on an on-going basis.
Audit & Risk Review Group continued to perform audit and review
activities to evaluate the implementation of controls and ensure
the existence of a healthy control environment throughout the
Bank. During the period, Audit & Risk Review Group has
performed various offsite reviews; particularly, keeping in view of
rapidly changing economic environment and consulting
engagements considering the emerging threats and assessing
the management responsiveness to provide insights on overall
governance, evolving risks, business disruption and embedded
controls for enhancing the overall control environment.

All significant and material findings of the internal & external
auditors and regulators were addressed on a priority basis by the
management and their status was reported periodically to the
Board Audit Committee and Risk & Compliance Committee,
which ensured that management has taken appropriate corrective
actions and has put in place a system to minimise repetition to
ensure strengthening of the control environment.

The Bank endeavors to follow the State Bank of Pakistan’s
guidelines on Internal Controls. The Bank is continuously making
efforts to ensure that an effective and efficient Internal Control
System remains active and implemented through consistent &
continuous monitoring that would help in further improving the
overall control environment. As part of this exercise, the Bank has
documented a comprehensive ICFR Governance Framework
which has been approved by the Board of Directors. The Banks’
External Auditors are engaged annually to provide a Long Form
Report on ICFR as per the requirement of SBP. During the period,
the Bank conducted testing of financial reporting controls for
ensuring the effectiveness of ICFR throughout the period. None of
the deficiencies identified are expected to have a material impact
on financial reporting. The Board of Directors has duly endorsed
management’s evaluation of internal controls, including ICFR, in
the Directors’ Report.

Based upon the results achieved from reviews and audits
conducted by Line Management, Compliance Group, Internal
Control Division, ICFR Unit and Audit & Risk Review Group during
the year, management considers that the existing Internal Control
System is adequate and has been effectively implemented and
monitored, though room for improvement always exists.

%g‘@ A‘”@ W@)*/ o _F

Suleman Pervez Sajid Hussain Irfan Memon Zia ljaz Arif Akmal Saifie
Acting Head - Group Executive - Group Executive - Group Executive - Chief Financial Officer
Audit & Risk Review Operations Compliance Branch Banking &

International

L\

Shazad G. Dada
President & CEO
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THE TRANSFORMATION
OF A CONNECTED WORLD

UBL has established itself as a globally connected and recognised leader
in digital banking. Its commitment to innovation and excellence in digital
banking has been widely recognised by industry experts and customers
alike. UBL's global connectivity and recognition as a leader in digital
banking is testament to the Bank's commitment to innovation, customer
service, and financial inclusion. The bank's global network and
partnerships, coupled with its focus on digital transformation, have
enabled it to stay ahead of the curve. UBL remains committed to delivering
the best possible banking experience to customers around the world and
driving financial inclusion through technology and innovation.




Building a better
working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of United Bank Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of United Bank Limited, which comprise the
unconsolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the unconsolidated profit and loss account,
the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the
unconsolidated cash flows statement for the year then ended, along with unaudited certified returns received from the
branches except for fifty branches which have been audited by us and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and we state that we have obtained all

the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the

audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the unconsolidated
S I A I E M E N I S 2 o 2 2 statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account, the unconsolidated statement of

comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated cash flow statement
together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable
in Pakistan, and gives the information required by the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act,
2017(XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Bank’s affairs
as at 31 December 2022 and of the profit, the other comprehensive income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for

the year then ended.
Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the

financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Following are the key audit matters:

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit
Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

2. Provision against Non Performing advances

1. Expected credit loss (ECL) / impairment provision against investment in foreign currency sovereign bonds

The Bank’s investment portfolio includes a gross carrying
value (before provisions) of Rs. 152,272 million in respect

of investments in sovereign bonds denominated in foreign
currencies that are issued by Pakistan and other countries.
These include sovereign bonds with defaulted status as well as
other bonds with varying credit ratings.

During the year, the Bank has made an aggregate impairment
provisions / ECL provisions amounting to Rs. 10,366 million in
respect of the above portfolio of investments.

Due to the significance of the events impacting the sovereign
bonds portfolio, particularly the defaults and deterioration of
credit ratings, together with the judgements and estimates
involved in determining the impairment / ECL provisions, we
have considered this area as a Key Audit Matter.

Refer to Note 8.3.1 for disclosure in relation to the above
referred portfolio and the related provisions.

We applied the following key audit procedures in respect of
impairment / ECL provisions for foreign currency sovereign
bonds portfolio:

- We obtained an understanding of the accounting policies
and the impairment framework used by the Bank for
determining impairment / ECL provisions against this
portfolio.

- We assessed ECL methodologies implemented by the
Bank in relation to this portfolio by reference to the
requirements of IFRS 9. In this regard, we focused on
the sources of information underlying the credit ratings
and Probability of default assumptions, together with
consistency in the application of ECL model.

- In respect of defaulted sovereign bonds, we considered the
publicly available information about the issuer’s economic
and financial conditions, observed market prices for the
relevant bonds and the impairment computations made
by the management.

- We also discussed, with the auditors of overseas
operations regarding the adequacy and appropriateness
of impairment / ECL provisions, made by the Bank, in
line with the applicable regulatory requirements of the
relevant jurisdictions.

- We also assessed adequacy of disclosures as included
in note 8.3.1 to the unconsolidated financial statements
regarding the non-performing investments and provisions
made for the same in the unconsolidated financial
statements in accordance with the requirements of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

The Bank’s advances portfolio represents 33.40% of its total
assets as of 31 December 2022. A substantial portion of the
advances portfolio includes loans and advances to businesses
operating in diverse sectors of the economy.

As per the Bank's accounting policy (refer note 4.4 to the
unconsolidated financial statements), the Bank determines
provisions against non-performing advances exposures in
accordance with the requirements of Prudential Regulations
of State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) and also maintains general
provision in respect of potential credit losses in the portfolio.
The Prudential Regulations require specific provisioning for
loan losses on the basis of an age-based criteria which should
be supplemented by a subjective evaluation of Bank’s credit
portfolio. The determination of loan loss provision therefore
involve use of management judgment, on a case to case basis,
taking into account factors such as the economic and business
conditions, borrowers repayment behaviour and realizability of
collateral held by the Bank.

In view of the significance of this area in terms of its impact
on the unconsolidated financial statements and the level
of involvement of management’s judgment, we identified
adequacy and completeness of provision against advances as a
significant area of audit judgment and a key audit matter.

The accounting policy and disclosures relating to provisioning
against non- performing advances are included in note 4.4 and
9 respectively to the unconsolidated financial statements.

We applied a range of audit procedures including the following:

- We reviewed the Bank’s process for identification
and classification of non-performing advances. As
part of such review, we performed an analysis of the
changes within the different categories of classified
non-performing accounts from last year to the current
reporting date. This analysis was used to gather audit
evidence regarding downgrading of impaired advances
and declassification of accounts from non-performing to
regular and vice versa, as the case may be.

- We have performed procedures on test basis for the
computations of provisions to assess that the same is in
line with the requirements of the applicable Prudential
Regulations.

- In addition, we selected a representative sample of
borrowers from the advances portfolios including
individually significant credit facilities and performed
tests and procedures such as review of credit
documentation, repayment history and past due status,
financial condition as depicted by the borrowers’ financial
statements, nature of collateral held by the Bank and
status of litigation, if any, with the borrower.

- We also assessed adequacy of disclosures as included
in note 9 to the unconsolidated financial statements
regarding the non-performing advances and provisions
made for the same in the unconsolidated financial
statements in accordance with the requirements of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the An-
nual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962
and the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal
control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Bank as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and the
returns referred above from the branches have been found adequate for the purpose of our audit;

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows (together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity
with the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017(XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the
books of account and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were in accordance with the objects
and powers of the Bank and the transactions of the Bank which have come to our notice have been within the powers
of the Bank; and

d) zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980), was deducted by the Bank and
deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that Ordinance.

2. We confirm that for the purpose of our audit we have covered more than sixty per cent of the total loans and loans
and advances of the Bank.

Other Matter:

The financial statements for the Bank for the six-month period ended 30 June 2021 and for the year ended 31 December
2021 were reviewed and audited by another firm of chartered accountants who expressed an unmodified conclusion and
unmodified opinion vide their review report and audit report issued on 25 August 2021 and 7 March 2022 respectively.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s audit report is Arslan Khalid.

A N

Chartered Accountants

Place: Karachi

Date: 7 March 2023

UDIN Number: AR202210191lwogMkeCx
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Unconsolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2022

ASSETS

Cash and balances with treasury banks
Balances with other banks

Lendings to financial institutions
Investments

Advances

Fixed assets

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

LIABILITIES

Bills payable

Borrowings

Deposits and other accounts

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease
Subordinated debt

Deferred tax liabilities

Other liabilities

NET ASSETS

REPRESENTED BY:

Share capital

Reserves

Surplus on revaluation of assets
Unappropriated profit

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

15
16
17
18

12
19

20

21

22

2022

............. (Rupees in '000)

2021

143,004,094
15,692,567
85,296,480

1,415,193,829

921,837,095
70,816,984

2,406,215
18,874,768
85,631,077

267,937,282
23,363,057
51,701,076

1,496,542,453

646,188,457
68,537,653

2,231,265
7,204,275
54,460,389

2,758,753,109

2,618,165,907

36,474,017
564,518,588
1,838,366,814

26,792,970
563,284,750
1,750,943,765

10,000,000 10,000,000
100,373,434 62,501,875
2,549,732,853 2,413,523,360
209,020,256 204,642,547
12,241,797 12,241,797
86,254,373 69,718,467
19,085,934 38,056,329
91,438,152 84,625,954
209,020,256 204,642,547

The annexed notes 1 to 49 and annexures |, Il and Il form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

S

e X

o )

Shazad G. Dada

President &
Chief Executive Officer

Arif Akmal Saifie
Chief Financial Officer
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Shazia Syed
Director Director

Muhammad Jawaid Igbal

Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk
Chairman

Unconsolidated Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Note 2022 2021
------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------

Mark-up / return / interest earned 24 250,678,678 147,974,155
Mark-up / return / interest expensed 25 147,469,357 76,215,631
Net mark-up / interest income 103,209,321 71,758,524
Non mark-up / interest income
Fee and commission income 26 15,871,191 13,063,973
Dividend income 2,093,393 2,033,934
Foreign exchange income 8,414,415 3,991,545
Gain from derivatives 48,147 21,549
Gain on securities - net 27 466,415 3,757,530
Other income 28 7,549,010 510,517
Total non mark-up / interest income 34,442,571 23,379,048
Total income 137,651,892 95,137,572
Non mark-up / interest expenses
Operating expenses 29 52,284,342 42,745,343
Workers' Welfare Fund 30 1,339,336 1,021,926
Other charges 31 48,862 198,557
Total non mark-up / interest expenses 53,672,540 43,965,826
Profit before provisions 83,979,352 51,171,746
Provisions / (reversals) and write-offs - net 32 15,669,346 (955,407)
Profit before taxation 68,310,006 52,127,153
Taxation 33 36,247,351 21,245,030
Profit after taxation 32,062,655 30,882,123
-------------- (Rupees) --------------
Earnings per share - basic and diluted 34 26.19 25.23

The annexed notes 1 to 49 and annexures |, Il and Il form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Arif Akmal Saifie
Chief Financial Officer

S =

Muhammad Jawaid Igbal  Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk

il N
R hth
Shazad G. Dada Shazia Syed

President & Director Director Chairman
Chief Executive Officer
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Unconsolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Unconsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2022 For the year ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021 Capital Statut Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation u iated
............. Rupees in '000) -=====aaaaa . reserve - atutory " nappropriate:
(Rup ) Share capital exchange reserve Investments | Fixed assets | No™-Panking profit Tou
translation assets
Profit after taxation for the year 32,062,655 30,882,123 (Rupees in '000)
Balance as at January 01, 2021 12,241,797 27,008,465 35,265,603 2,654,932 24,984,734 913 81,916,463 184,072,907
Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income for the
year ended December 31, 2021
. ) ) ; Profit after taxation for the year ended
Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss account in subsequent periods December 31, 2021 - - - - - - 30,882,123 || 30,882,123
Other comprehensive income - net of tax - 4,356,186 - (4,695,932)| 15,153,819 9,276 1,184,032 16,007,381
Effect of translation of net investment in foreign branches 13,329,641 4,356,186 Total comprehensive income for the year
Movement in deficit on revaluation of investments - net of tax (18,638,865) (4,695,932) ended December 31, 2021 - 4,356,186 - (4,695,932) 15,153,819 9,276 32,066,155 46,889,504
(5,309,224) (339,746) Transfer from surplus on revaluation upon
disposal to unappropriated profit - net of tax - - - - (3,115) - 3,115 -
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss account in subsequent periods Transfer of incremental depreciation from revaluation
of fixed assets to unappropriated profit - net of tax - - - - (48,298) - 48,298 -
Remeasurement gain on defined benefit obligations - net of tax 966,660 1,184,032 Transfer to statutory reserve - - 3,088,213 - - - (3.088,213) -
Movement in surplus on revaluation of fixed assets - net of tax (98,181) 15,153,819 Tfag_sa"‘tilm_s W“h_t°W“ers’ recorded
. . . Irect In equli
Movement in surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets - net of tax 15,214 9,276 v inequly
883 693 16.347 127 Final cash dividend - December 31, 2020 declared
’ ’ ’ subsequent to the year end at Rs. 9.5 per share - - - - - - (11,629,707)|| (11,629,707)
. R Interim cash dividend - March 31, 2021
Total comprehensive income for the year 27,637,124 46,889,504 declared at Rs. 4.0 per share - . - - - - (4,896,719)|| (4,896,719)
Interim cash dividend - June 30, 2021
declared at Rs. 4.0 per share - - - - - - (4,896,719)|| (4,896,719)
Interim cash dividend - September 30, 2021
declared at Rs. 4.0 per share - - - - - - (4,896,719)|| (4,896,719)
N N N - - - (26,319,864) (26,319,864)
The annexed notes 1 to 49 and annexures I, I and Ill form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. Balance as at December 31, 2021 12,241,797 31,364,651 38,353,816  (2,041,000) 40,087,140 10,189 84,625,954 204,642,547
Total comprehensive income for the
year ended December 31, 2022
Profit after taxation for the year ended
December 31, 2022 - - - - - - 32,062,655 || 32,062,655
Other comprehensive income - net of tax - 13,329,641 - (18,638,865) (98,181) 15,214 966,660 (4,425,531)
Total comprehensive income for the year
ended December 31, 2022 - 13,329,641 - (18,638,865) (98,181) 15,214 33,029,315 27,637,124
Transfer from surplus on revaluation upon
disposal to unappropriated profit - net of tax - - - - (136,146) (25,403) 161,549 -
Transfer of incremental depreciation from revaluation
of fixed assets to unappropriated profit - net of tax - - - - (87,014) - 87,014 -
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 3,206,265 - - - (3,206,265) -
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Final cash dividend - December 31, 2021 declared
subsequent to the year end at Rs. 6.0 per share - - - - - - (7,345,078)|| (7,345,078)
Interim cash dividend - March 31, 2022
declared at Rs. 5.0 per share - - - - - - (6,120,899)|| (6,120,899)
Interim cash dividend - June 30, 2022
declared at Rs. 4.0 per share - - - - - - (4,896,719)|| (4,896,719)
Interim cash dividend - September 30, 2022
declared at Rs. 4.0 per share - - - - - - (4,896,719)|| (4,896,719)
- - - - - - (23,259,415) (23,259,415)
Balance as at December 31, 2022 12,241,797 44,694,292 41,560,081 (20,679,865) 39,765,799 - 91,438,152 209,020,256

The annexed notes 1 to 49 and annexures |, Il and Ill form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

s S = ) S A — ) s I\ = ) S ——— )

Arif Akmal Saifie Shazad G. Dada Shazia Syed Muhammad Jawaid Igbal  Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk Arif Akmal Saifie Shazad G. Dada Shazia Syed Muhammad Jawaid Igbal  Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk
Chief Financial Officer President & Director Director Chairman Chief Financial Officer President & Director Director Chairman
Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer
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Unconsolidated Cash Flow Statement Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022 For the year ended December 31, 2022

Note 2022 2021 1.

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 68,310,006 52,127,153
Less: Dividend income (2,093,393) (2,033,934)
66,216,613 50,093,219
Adjustments:
Depreciation on fixed assets 3,593,110 2,849,015
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,097,830 1,928,943
Depreciation on non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims 34,827 5,180
Depreciation on Islamic financing against leased assets (ljarah) 146,494 169,954
Amortisation 814,607 801,197
Workers' Welfare Fund - charge 1,339,336 1,021,926
Provision for retirement benefits 348,798 579,028
Provision for compensated absences 200,322 39,083
(Reversals) / provision against loans and advances - net (2,940,041) 1,239,990
(Reversals) / provision against off balance sheet items - net (35,513) (344,250)
(Reversals) / provision for diminution in value of investments - net 19,061,905 (1,271,498)
Interest expense on lease liability against right-of-use assets 1,061,373 964,050
Gain on sale of operating fixed assets - net (102,240) (32,655)
Loss on disposal of non-banking assets - net 8,336 -
Loss / (gain) on sale of ljarah assets - net 1,292 (3,928)
Gain on wind-up of subsidiary (6,778,877) (103,993)
Bad debts written-off directly 35,871 42,643
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investments classified as held for trading 661 (16,282)
(Reversals) / provision against other assets 11,273 (168,605) 2.
Other provisions / write-offs 155,933 376,339
19,055,297 8,076,137
85,271,910 58,169,356
(Increase) / decrease in operating assets
Lendings to financial institutions (33,595,404) (31,741,944)
Held for trading securities 47,321,799 (71,843,041)
Advances (272,926,526) (117,393,552)
Other assets (excluding advance taxation) (32,715,105) (8,290,851)
(291,915,236) (229,269,388)
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities
Bills payable 9,681,047 (2,940,843)
Borrowings 1,233,838 434,297,335
Deposits and other accounts 87,423,049 110,731,864
Other liabilities 29,465,720 3,032,430
127,803,654 545,120,786
(78,839,672) 374,020,754
Payments on account of staff retirement benefits 1,283,294 (1,824,003)
Workers' Welfare Fund paid - (200,000)
Income taxes paid (33,041,636) (18,955,328) 21
Net cash flow (used in) / generated from operating activities (110,598,014) 353,041,423
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net investments in available for sale securities 44,520,829 (180,081,666)
Net investments in held to maturity securities (63,223,064) (122,167,182)
Net investments in associates - (216,640)
Investment in fixed assets and intangible assets (6,204,603) (4,574,813)
Dividend income received 2,093,393 2,251,908
Proceeds realised on wind-up of subsidiaries 7,627,709 134,093
Sale proceeds from disposal of non-banking assets 180,000 -
Sale proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 286,617 66,467
Sale proceeds from sale of ljarah assets 34,272 35,932
Effect of translation of net investment in foreign branches 13,329,641 4,356,186
Net cash flow used in investing activities (1,355,206) (300,195,715)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of lease liability against right-of-use assets (2,884,117) (2,649,400)
Dividends paid (17,766,341) (23,622,786)
Net cash flow used in financing activities (20,650,458) (26,272,186)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents (132,603,678) 26,573,522
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 270,424,087 | | 257,676,854
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 20,876,252 7,049,963
291,300,339 264,726,817
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 35 158,696,661 291,300,339

The annexed notes 1 to 49 and annexures |, Il and Ill form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.
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Arif Akmal Saifie Shazad G. Dada Shazia Syed Muhammad Jawaid Igbal  Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk

Chief Financial Officer President & Director Director Chairman
Chief Executive Officer
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STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

United Bank Limited (the Bank) is a banking company incorporated in Pakistan and is engaged in commercial banking and
related services. The Bank's registered office and principal office are situated at UBL Building, Jinnah Avenue, Blue Area,
Islamabad and at UBL Head Office, I. I. Chundrigar Road, Karachi respectively. The Bank operates 1,335 (2021: 1,341)
branches inside Pakistan including 150 (2021: 145) Islamic Banking branches and 2 (2021: 2) branches in Export
Processing Zones. The Bank also operates 8 (2021: 8) branches outside Pakistan. The Bank is a subsidiary of Bestway
International Holdings Limited (BIHL) and BIHL is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bestway Group Limited (BGL), both of
which have been incorporated in the Guernsey.

The Bank has completed orderly winding down of its subsidiaries in Tanzania and Switzerland during the year 2022, as
explained in Notes 8.10 and 8.11 respectively.

The Bank's ordinary shares are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX). Its Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) are on
the list of the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange Professional Securities Market. These GDRs are also
eligible for trading on the International Order Book System of the London Stock Exchange. Further, the GDRs constitute an
offering in the United States only to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the US Securities Act of
1933 and an offering outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the format of financial statements
prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) vide BPRD Circular No. 02, dated January 25, 2018.

In accordance with the directives of the Federal Government regarding the shifting of the banking system to Islamic mode.
The SBP has issued various circulars from time to time. Permissible forms of trade-related modes of financing includes
purchase of goods by banks from customers and immediate resale to them at appropriate profit in price on deferred
payment basis. The purchase and resale arising under these arrangements are not reflected in these unconsolidated
financial statements as such, but are restricted to the amount of facility actually utilized and the appropriate portion of profit
thereon.

Key financial figures of the Islamic Banking branches are disclosed in annexure Il to these unconsolidated financial
statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards
as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as
are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as are
notified under the Companies Act, 2017,

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017; and

- Directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
(SECP).

Whenever the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued
by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of IFRS or IFAS, the requirements of the Banking Companies
Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail.

SBP has deferred the applicability of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and IAS 40, 'Investment Property' to Banking Companies in Pakistan through BSD Circular Letter No. 10
dated 26 August 2002 till further instructions. Further, SBP vide its BPRD Circular Letter No. 24 of 2021 dated 05 July 2021
directed the banks in Pakistan to implement IFRS 9, Financial Instrument with effect from January 01, 2022. SECP has
deferred the applicability of IFRS 7, 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' through its notification , S.R.O. 411 (I) / 2008 dated
28 April 2008. Accordingly, the requirements of these standards have not been considered in the presentation of these
unconsolidated financial statements. However, investments have been classified and valued in accordance with the
requirements prescribe by SBP through various circulars. In case of overseas branches, IFRS 9 / respective foreign
currency requriements are considered for recording, classification and valuation of investment.
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The SECP vide its notification SRO 633 (1)/2014 dated July 10, 2014, adopted IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial
Statements effective from the periods starting from June 30, 2014. However, vide its notification SRO 56 (1)/2016 dated
January 28, 2016, it has been notified that the requirements of IFRS 10 and section 228 of the Companies Act, 2017 will
not be applicable with respect to the investment in mutual funds established under trust structure.

These unconsolidated financial statements represent the separate financial statements of the Bank. The consolidated
financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries are presented separately.

Standards, interpretations of and amendments to accounting and reporting standards that are effective in the
current year

There are certain amendments to existing accounting and reporting standards that have become applicable to the Bank for
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. These are either considered to not be relevant or do not have
any significant impact and accordingly have not been detailed in these unconsolidated financial statements.

Standards, interpretations of and amendments to accounting and reporting standards that are not yet effective

The following standards, amendments and interpretations as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 will be effective for

accounting periods beginning on or after January 01, 2023:

Standard, Interpretation or Amendment Effective date (annual

periods beginning on or
after)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1 January 01, 2023

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8 January 01, 2023

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 January 01, 2023
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction -
Amendments to IAS 12 January 01, 2023

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback - Amendments to IFRS 16 January 01, 2024
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Not yet finalized
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Further, following new standards have been issued by IASB which are yet to be notified by the SECP for the purpose of
applicability in Pakistan.

Standard IASB Effective date (annual
periods beginning on or
after)

IFRS 1 — First time adoption of IFRSs January 01, 2009

IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts January 01, 2023

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

As per SBP BPRD Circular No 3 of 2022, the effective date for the implementation of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is
accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2023. As part of the same circular, SBP has issued detailed instructions
on the application of the Standard, including transitional provisions, impact on the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)
calculation and reporting requirements. The SBP’s IFRS 9 application instructions apply to both the standalone and
consolidated financial statements of the Bank. However, the financial statements of overseas branches, subsidiaries and
associates that are prepared for the purpose of consolidation at Bank level would be based on their respective host
country’s regulatory accounting practices till one year from the effective date of IFRS 9 implementation. Afterwards, banks
are required to comply with the requirements of IFRS 9 and SBP’s application instructions for consolidated financial
statements.

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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The IFRS 9 application instructions and guidelines that have been issued as part of the circular include the following key
components:

a) Basis for classification and measurement of debt and equity securities;

b) Framework for determination of “Expected Credit Losses (ECL)” under the requirements of IFRS 9, including required
risk management policies;

c) Credit exposures (in local currency) that have been guaranteed by the Government and Government Securities have
been exempted from the application of the above ECL Framework;

d) In respect of non-preforming exposures (Stage 3 exposures) provision would be made considering higher of IFRS 9
ECL or provision computed under existing PRs’ requirements;

e) In order to mitigate the impact of ECL provisioning on capital, a transitional arrangement is allowed to the banks to
absorb the impact on regulatory capital and fully described in Annexure B to the aforementioned circular.

The State Bank of Pakistan vide its BPRD circular No. 2 dated February 9, 2023 has issued revised formats for interim and
annual financial statements of the banks for the accounting periods starting from January 01, 2023, which shall include the
presentation and disclosures on adoption of IFRS 9 as applicable in Pakistan.

Impact on equity and regulatory capital on adoption of IFRS 9

During 2022, the Bank has performed an impact assessment after applying the SBP’s IFRS 9 instructions. The
assessment is based on available information and may be subject to changes arising from further reasonable and
supportable information being made available to the Bank at the time of finalizing the impact for initial application of IFRS
9.

The Bank will adopt IFRS 9 in its entirety effective January 01, 2023 with a modified retrospective approach for
restatement. As permitted by IFRS-9, the Bank will not be restating comparatives on initial application. The cumulative
impact of the initial application will be recorded as an adjustment to opening equity as at January 1, 2023.

The total estimated adjustment (net of tax) of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the opening balance of the Bank's equity as at 1
January 2023 would be a reduction in equity of approximately Rs. 634.873 million, with corresponding impacts as follows:

a) A decrease of approximately Rs. 2,019.031 million net of tax related to impairment requirements;

b) An increase of approximately Rs. 1,384.158 million net of tax related to classification and measurement changes.

In order to mitigate the impact of ECL provisioning on capital, a transitional arrangement is allowed to the banks to absorb
the impact on regulatory capital. Accordingly, banks, which choose to apply this transitional arrangement, may implement
this in accordance with SBP’s Guideline for absorption of ECL for CAR purposes as mentioned in Annexure-B of BPRD
Circular no 3 of 2022.

The estimated impact of initial adoption of IFRS 9 on the Bank’s capital ratios, without accounting for the allowed
transitional arrangement, would be as follows:

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratio - 14.08%

Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio - 15.12%

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio - 20.16%

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the existing prudential regime to the

extent of the Bank's domestic operations, whereas the requirements of this standard have been incorporated for the
overseas jurisdictions where IFRS 9 has already been adopted.

There are certain other new amendments that are mandatory for the Bank's accounting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2023, but are considered not to be relevant or will not have any significant effect on the Bank's operations and
are, therefore, not detailed in these unconsolidated financial statements.
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3.2

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
Accounting convention

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for:

- Certain class of fixed assets and non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims, which have been stated at
revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation.

- Investments classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale which are measured at fair value.

- Certain derivative financial instruments, including forward exchange contracts have been stated at fair value.

- Net obligations in respect of defined benefit schemes are carried at their present values.

- Right of use assets and related lease liabilities are measured at present value.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting and reporting standards as
applicable in Pakistan requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and income and expenses. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the
application of its accounting policies. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis.

Significant accounting estimates and areas where judgments were made by management in the application of accounting
policies are as follows:

i) classification and valuation of investments (notes 4.3 and 8).

ii) provision against non-performing advances (notes 4.4 and 9.4).

iii) income taxes (notes 4.10 and 33).

iv) defined benefit plans (notes 4.12 and 37).

v) fair value of derivatives (note 4.17.2).

vi) valuation and depreciation of fixed assets (notes 4.5 and 10).

vii) valuation and amortisation of intangible assets (note 4.7 and 11).

viii) valuation of right-of-use assets and their related lease liability (notes 4.6 and 10).
ix) impairment (note 4.9).

x) valuation of non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims (note 4.8).

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

During the year, the Bank has reviewed the useful lives of its leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures and electrical,
office and computer equipment as required by IAS 16. This review has resulted in a change in the useful lives of these
assets. This revision has been accounted for as a change in accounting estimate in accordance with the requirements of
IAS 8. Accordingly, the effect of this change in accounting estimate has been recognised prospectively in the
unconsolidated profit and loss account from the current year.

With effect from January 2022, the estimated useful lives of leasehold improvements and certain items of furniture and
fixtures have been decreased from 10 to 8 years and, certain items of electrical, office and computer equipment from 5 to 4
years and 4 to 3 years. Further, useful lives of certain items of electrical, office and computer equipment have been
increased from 4 to 5 years. The useful lives have been revised to make them more reflective of the consumption pattern
of the assets.

The effect of these changes on depreciation expense in the current year and the next year is as follows:

2022 2023
---------- (Rupees in '000) ---------
Increase in depreciation expense

Leasehold improvements 197,344 167,947
Furniture and fixtures 63,599 53,119
Electrical, office and computer equipment 56,812 4,652
Decrease in depreciation expense

Electrical, office and computer equipment - ATM 82,026 2,299
Decrease in Profit & Loss before taxation (235,729) (223,419)

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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4.1

4.2

4.21

4.2.2

4.2.3

4.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements are consistent with those
of the previous financial year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement consist of cash and balances with treasury banks
and balances with other banks.

Lendings to / borrowings from financial institutions

The Bank enters into transactions of purchase under resale agreements (reverse repos), sale under repurchase
agreements (repos) and other short term money market lendings to financial institutions at contracted rates for a specified
period of time. Further, other long term lendings to financial institutions are classified in advances. These are recorded as
under:

Purchase under resale agreements

Securities purchased under agreement to resell (reverse repo) are included in lendings to financial institutions. The
differential between the purchase price and the resale price is amortised over the period of the agreement and recorded as

income.

Securities held as collateral are not recognised in the unconsolidated financial statements, unless these are sold to third
parties, in which case the obligation to return them is recorded at fair value as a trading liability.

Sale under repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to a repurchase agreement (repo) are retained in the unconsolidated financial statements as
investments and the counterparty liability is included in borrowings from financial institutions. The differential between the
sale price and the repurchase price is amortised over the period of the agreement and recorded as an expense.

Bai Muajjal

Bai Muajjal transactions represent sales of Sukuks on a deferred payment basis and are shown in lendings to financial
institutions except for transactions undertaken directly with the Government of Pakistan which are disclosed as

investments. The difference between the deferred payment amount receivable and the carrying value at the time of sale is
accrued and recorded as income over the life of the transaction.

Investments

Investments of the Bank, other than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are classified into following categories:
Held for trading

These are securities which are either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in market prices, interest

rate movements and dealer's margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short term profit taking
exists.

Held to maturity

These are securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities, in respect of which the Bank has the
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity.

Available for sale

These are investments, other than those in subsidiaries and associates, that do not fall under the held for trading or held to
maturity categories.
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4.31

4.3.2

4.3.3

4.4

4.41

4.4.2

Initial measurement

All “regular way” purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank commits
to purchase or sell the investment. Regular way purchases or sales of investments require delivery within the time frame
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Investments are initially recognised at fair value which, in the case of investments other than held for trading, includes

transaction costs associated with the investments. Transaction costs on investments held for trading are expensed as
incurred.

Subsequent measurement
Held for trading

These are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Gains and losses on re-measurement are included in the
profit and loss account.

Held to maturity

These are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to
reflect irrecoverable amounts.

Available for sale

Quoted securities classified as available for sale investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value.
Any surplus or deficit arising thereon is kept in a separate account shown in the statement of financial position as part of
the equity and is taken to the profit and loss account when realised upon disposal or when the investment is considered to
be impaired.

Unquoted equity securities are valued at the lower of cost and break-up value. The break-up value of these securities is
calculated with reference to the net assets of the investee company as per the latest available audited financial statements.
A decline in the carrying value is charged to the profit and loss account. A subsequent increase in the carrying value, upto
the cost of the investment, is credited to the profit and loss account. Investments in other unquoted securities are valued at
cost less impairment, if any.

Investments in Subsidiaries and Associates

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are valued at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Gains and losses on disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associates are included in the profit and loss account.
Advances

Advances are stated net of specific and general provisions which are charged to the profit and loss account. Provision
against advances by the Bank's branches in Pakistan is determined on the basis of the Prudential Regulations and other
directives issued by the SBP. Provision against advances by the Bank's overseas branches are made in accordance with

the requirements of the financial reporting regime of the respective countries in which the overseas branches operate.

Advances are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The amount so written-off is a book entry and does
not necessarily prejudice the Bank's right of recovery against the customer.

Finance lease receivables

Leases, where the Bank transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee
are classified as finance lease. A receivable is recognised at an amount equal to the present value of the minimum lease
payments including guaranteed residual value, if any. Finance lease receivables are included in advances.

Islamic financings and related assets

Receivables under Murabaha financing represent cost price plus an agreed profit on deferred sale arrangement. Profit
could be recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the instalments.

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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4.5

4.6

ljarah financing represents arrangements whereby the Bank (being the owner of assets) transfers its usufruct to its
customers for an agreed period at an agreed consideration (rentals). Assets leased out under ljarah are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. These are depreciated over the term of the lease.
ljarah income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Diminishing Musharakah is partnership agreement between the Bank and its customer for long term financing of assets.
The receivable is recorded to the extent of Bank's share in the purchase of asset. Income is recognised on accrual basis.

Istisna is a sale contract where the Bank places an order to the manufacturer / builders to produce certain assets and the
sale is completed upon the delivery of the assets to the ultimate buyer.

Running Musharakah facility is to finance the working capital requirement of the customer whereas partnership is based on
particular operations of the business.

Fixed assets

Property and equipment, other than land (which is not depreciated) and capital work-in-progress, are stated at cost or
revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Land is carried at revalued
amount less impairment losses while capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. The cost and the
accumulated depreciation of property and equipment of overseas branches include exchange differences arising on
currency translation at the year-end rates of exchange.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the depreciable amount of the assets over their expected useful lives at the
rates specified in note 10.2 to these unconsolidated financial statements. The depreciation charge for the year is calculated
on a straight line basis after taking into account the residual value, if any. The residual values and useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.

Depreciation on additions is charged from the month the asset is available for use. No depreciation is charged in the month
of disposal.

Land and buildings are revalued by independent, professionally qualified valuers with sufficient regularity to ensure that
their net carrying amount does not differ materially from their fair value. An increase arising on revaluation is credited to the
surplus on revaluation of fixed assets account. A decrease arising on revaluation of fixed assets is adjusted against the
surplus of that asset or, if no surplus exists, is charged to the profit and loss account as an impairment of the asset. A
surplus arising subsequently on an impaired asset is reversed through the profit and loss account up to the extent of the
original impairment.

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets (net of associated deferred tax) to the extent of the incremental depreciation charged
on the related assets is transferred to unappropriated profit.

Gains and losses on sale of fixed assets are included in the profit and loss account, except that the related surplus on
revaluation of fixed assets (net of deferred tax) is transferred directly to unappropriated profit.

Major renewals and improvements that increase the useful life of an asset are capitalized and the assets so replaced, if
any, are retired. Normal repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit and loss account as and when incurred.

Lease liability and Right-of-use asset

The bank enters into leasing arrangements for its branches, ATMs and warehouses. Rental contracts are typically for a
fixed period and may have extension options as described below. At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options)
are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not be terminated).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank's incremental
borrowing rate.
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4.7

4.8

Lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentive receivable, variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate which are initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date, amounts expected to be
payable by the Bank under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of a purchase option if the Bank is reasonably
certain to exercise that option and payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option. The extension and termination options are incorporated in determination of lease term only when the
Bank is reasonably certain to exercise these options.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The lease liability is
also remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease modification.

The lease liability is remeasured when the Bank reassesses the reasonable certainty of exercise of extension or
termination option upon occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstance, or when there is a
change in assessment of an option to purchase underlying asset, or when there is a change in amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or when there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payment. The corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-to-use asset, or is recorded in profit and loss if the carrying amount of right-to-use asset has been reduced to zero.

On initial recognition, right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to initial lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to be
incurred to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost model. The right of use asset is depreciated on a straight line
method over the lease term as this method most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits. The right-of-use asset is reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the
lease liability.

The Bank has elected to apply the practical expedient not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The lease payments associated
with these leases is recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost
and the accumulated amortisation of intangible assets of overseas branches include exchange differences arising on
currency translation at the year-end rates of exchange. Amortisation is calculated so as to write off the amortizable amount
of the assets over their expected useful lives at the rates specified in note 11.1 to these unconsolidated financial
statements. The amortisation charge for the year is calculated on a straight line basis after taking into account the residual
value, if any. The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each statement of financial
position date. Amortisation on additions is charged from the month the asset is available for use. No amortisation is
charged in the month of disposal.

Gains and losses on sale of intangible assets are included in the profit and loss account.
Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims are carried at revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation.
These assets are revalued by professionally qualified valuers with sufficient regularity to ensure that their net carrying value
does not differ materially from their fair value. A surplus arising on revaluation of property is credited to the 'surplus on
revaluation of non-banking assets' account. A decrease arising on revaluation of non-banking asset is adjusted against the
surplus of that asset or, if no surplus exists, is charged to the profit and loss account as an impairment of the asset. A
surplus arising subsequently on an impaired asset is reversed through the profit and loss account up to the extent of the
original impairment.

All direct costs of acquiring title to asset are charged to the profit and loss account. Gains and losses on sale of non-
banking assets are included in the profit and loss account, except that the related surplus on revaluation of non-banking
assets (net of deferred tax) is transferred directly to unappropriated profit.
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4.9

4.10

Impairment
Impairment of available for sale equity investments

Available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in their fair value
below their cost. The determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment, the
Bank evaluates, among other factors, the normal volatility in share price. A subsequent increase in the fair value of a
previously impaired listed equity security is recorded in the statement of financial position in the surplus / deficit on
revaluation of securities account and only recorded through the profit and loss account when realised on disposal.

Impairment of debt investments

Provisions for diminution in the value of debt securities are made as per the criteria prescribed by the Prudential
Regulations issued by the SBP. Provision against debt investments by the Bank's overseas branches is made as per the
requirements of the respective regulatory regimes in which the overseas branches operate.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and associates

The Bank considers that a decline in the recoverable value of the investment in a subsidiary or an associate below its cost
may be evidence of impairment. Recoverable value is calculated as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable value falls below the carrying value and is charged to the
profit and loss account. A subsequent reversal of an impairment loss, upto the cost of the investment in the subsidiary or
the associate, is credited to the profit and loss account.

Taxation

Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income for the year determined in accordance with the prevailing laws
and at the prevailing rates for taxation on income earned by the Bank for local as well as overseas operations. The amount
of current tax payable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid that reflects uncertainty related to income
taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method on all major temporary differences between the amounts
attributed to assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax
is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the differences are expected to reverse, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the assets can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilized.

The Bank also recognizes deferred tax asset / liability on the deficit / surplus on revaluation of fixed assets / non-banking
assets acquired in satisfaction of claims and securities which is adjusted against the related deficit / surplus in accordance
with the requirements of IAS 12, Income Taxes.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be
made.

Provision for off balance sheet obligations is recognised when intimated and reasonable certainty exists that the Bank will
be required to settle the obligation. The provision is charged to the profit and loss account net of expected recovery and the
obligation is classified under other liabilities.

Provisions are reviewed at each statement of financial position date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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4.12

4.12.1

4.12.2

4.13

4.14

4.15
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Staff retirement and other benefits
The Bank operates the following defined benefit plans for its employees:

a) For new employees and for those who opted for the below mentioned conversion option introduced in 2001, the Bank
operates:

- an approved contributory provident fund (defined contribution plan); and
- an approved gratuity scheme (defined benefit plan).

b) For employees who have not opted for the conversion option introduced in 2001, the Bank operates:

- an approved non-contributory provident fund in lieu of the contributory provident fund; and
- an approved funded pension scheme, introduced in 1975 (defined benefit plan).

In 2001, the Bank modified the pension scheme and introduced a conversion option for employees covered under option
(b) above to move to option (a). This conversion option ceased on December 31, 2003.

The Bank also operates benevolent fund for all its eligible employees (defined benefit plan).

Annual contributions towards defined benefit plans are made on the basis of actuarial advice using the Projected Unit
Credit Method.

For the defined contribution scheme, the Bank pays contributions to the fund on a periodic basis. The Bank has no further
payment obligation once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an expense when the
obligation to make payments to the fund has been established. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Other benefits

a) Employees' compensated absences

The Bank makes provisions for compensated vested and non-vested absences accumulated by its eligible employees
on the basis of actuarial advice under the Projected Unit Credit Method.

b) Post-retirement medical benefits (defined benefit scheme)

The Bank provides post-retirement medical benefits to eligible retired employees. Provision is made on the basis of
actuarial advice under the Projected Unit Credit Method.

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in other comprehensive income when they occur with no subsequent recycling through the profit and loss
account.

Remeasurement gains and losses pertaining to long term compensated absences are recognised in the profit and loss
account immediately.

Subordinated debt

Subordinated debt is initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received. Mark-up accrued on subordinated debt is
recognised separately as part of other liabilities and is charged to the profit and loss account over the period on an accrual
basis.

Borrowings / deposits

Borrowings / deposits are recorded at the amount of proceeds received. The cost of borrowings / deposits is recognised on
an accrual basis as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the economic benefits associated with a transaction will flow to the Bank and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised.
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4.15.1

4.15.2

4.15.3

4.15.4

4.16

4.16.1

4.16.2

4.16.3

4.16.4

4.16.5

Advances and investments

Mark-up / return / interest on performing advances and investments is recognised on a time proportionate basis over the
term of the advances and investments that takes into account the effective yield of the asset. Where debt securities are
purchased at a premium or discount, such premium / discount is amortised through the profit and loss account over the
remaining period of maturity of the debt securities.

Interest or mark-up recoverable on non-performing advances and investments is recognised on a receipt basis.

Lease financing

Income from lease financing is accounted for using the financing method. Under this method, the unearned lease income
(defined as the sum of total lease rentals and estimated residual value less the cost of the leased assets) is deferred and
taken to income over the term of the lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the outstanding net
investment in the lease. Gains or losses on termination of lease contracts are recognised through the profit and loss
account when these are realised. Unrealised lease income and other fees on classified leases are recognised on a receipt
basis.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established.

Fee, brokerage and commission income

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its customers. Fee
and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Bank expects to be entitled
in exchange for providing the services.

The Bank recognises fees earned on transaction-based arrangements at a point in time when the Bank has provided the
service to the customer. Where the contract requires services to be provided over time, income is recognised on a
systematic basis over the life of the related services. Unearned fee and commission are included under Other Liabilities.

Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in these unconsolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Bank operates. These unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees,
which is the Bank's functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to rupees at the foreign exchange rates prevailing on the transaction date.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are expressed in rupee terms at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
statement of financial position date. Forward foreign exchange contracts and foreign bills purchased are valued in rupees
at the forward foreign exchange rates applicable to their respective maturities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are expressed in rupee terms at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary assets / liabilities.

Overseas operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to rupees at exchange rates prevailing at the statement of
financial position date. The results of foreign operations are translated at the average rates of exchange for the year.

Translation gains and losses

Translation gains and losses are taken to the profit and loss account, except those arising on translation of the net
investment in foreign branches which are taken to capital reserves (Exchange Translation Reserve) until the disposal of the
net investment, at which time these are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Contingencies and commitments
Commitments for outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts are disclosed in these unconsolidated financial

statements at contracted rates. Contingent liabilities / commitments denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in
rupee terms at the rates of exchange prevailing at the statement of financial position date.
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4.17
4171

4.17.2

4.17.3

4.18

4.18.1

4.18.2

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities carried on the statement of financial position include cash and bank balances, lendings to
financial institutions, investments, advances, certain receivables, bills payable, borrowings from financial institutions,
deposits, subordinated loans and certain payables. The particular recognition methods adopted for significant financial
assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the individual policy notes associated with them.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value using appropriate valuation techniques. All derivative financial
instruments are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and liabilities when their fair value is negative. Any
change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments during the year is taken to the profit and loss account.

Off setting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set off and the net amount is reported in the unconsolidated financial
statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the Bank intends to either settle on a net basis, or to
realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is engaged either in providing particular products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment),
and is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Business segments

(a) Corporate / Commercial Banking

Includes project, trade and working capital finance, import and export, factoring, leasing, lending, deposits and
guarantees. It also include services provided in connection with mergers and acquisitions and the underwriting /
arrangement of debt and equity instruments through syndications, Initial Public Offerings and private placements.

(b) Treasury

Includes fixed income, equity, foreign exchange, credit, funding, own position securities, lending and borrowings and
derivatives for hedging and market making.

(c) Branch Banking

Includes deposits, lending and banking services to private individuals and small businesses including credit cards,
branchless banking and digital banking.

(d) Islamic Banking

This represents Islamic Banking branches and Islamic banking windows in the conventional branches of the Bank.

(e) International Branch Operations

This represents Bank's operations in overseas locations including one branch each in export processing zones in
Karachi and Sialkot.

(f) Others

Others includes functions which cannot be classified in any of the above segments.

Geographical segments

The Bank operates in following geographical regions:

- Pakistan
- Middle East
- Export Processing Zones in Karachi and Sialkot.
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4.19

4.20

4.21

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

Dividends and appropriations to reserves

Dividends and appropriations to reserves are recorded in the year in which these are approved, except appropriations
required by law which are recorded in the period to which they pertain.

Earnings per share (EPS)

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic and diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year.

Acceptances

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bill of exchange drawn on customers. Acceptances are recognised
as financial liability in the statement of financial position with a contractual right of reimbursement from the customer as a
financial asset. Therefore, commitments in respect of acceptances have been accounted for as on balance sheet financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Note 2022 2021
---------- (Rupees in '000) ---------
CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS

In hand
Local currency 27,392,567 27,262,667
Foreign currencies 8,051,809 6,987,106
35,444,376 34,249,773
With State Bank of Pakistan in
Local currency current accounts 5.1 55,264,401 75,005,750
Foreign currency current accounts 5.2 912,557 5,312,400
Foreign currency deposit accounts 5.3 204,472 8,818,135
56,381,430 89,136,285
With other central banks in
Foreign currency current accounts 54 44,342,604 31,754,341
Foreign currency deposit accounts 5.5 6,298,682 8,148,977
50,641,286 39,903,318
With National Bank of Pakistan in local currency current accounts 377,456 104,153,210
National Prize Bonds 159,546 494,696

143,004,094 267,937,282

This represents current accounts maintained with the SBP under the Cash Reserve Requirement of section 22 of the
Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962.

These represent foreign currency current accounts maintained under the Cash Reserve Requirement of the SBP.
This represents account maintained with the SBP to comply with the Special Cash Reserve Requirement. The return on
this account is declared by the SBP on a monthly basis and as at December 31, 2022, it carries mark-up ranging from

0.00% to 3.14% (2021: 0.00%) per annum.

These represent current accounts maintained with other central banks of the countries in which the Bank operates, to meet
the minimum cash reserves and capital requirements pertaining to the foreign branches of the Bank.

These represent placements with overseas central banks and carry mark-up at rates ranging from 1.10% to 4.88% (2021:
0.75% to 1.50%) per annum.
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6.1

6.2

71

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

Note
BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS
In Pakistan
In deposit accounts 6.1
Outside Pakistan
In current accounts
In deposit accounts 6.2

This carries mark-up at the rate of Nil (2021: 11.00%) per annum.

These carry mark-up at rates ranging from 3.90% to 4.15% (2021: 0.02% to 1.35%) per annum.

Note
LENDINGS TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Call / clean money lending 7.2
Repurchase agreement lendings (Reverse Repo) 73&75
Placements with State Bank of Pakistan 7.4

Particulars of lendings to financial institutions

In local currency
In foreign currency

2022

-------- (Rupees in '000)

2021

7 6,350,007
10,035,719 8,075,992
5,656,841 8,937,058
15,692,560 17,013,050
15,692,567 23,363,057
2022 2021

-------- (Rupees in '000)

- 100,000
85,296,480 49,726,776
- 1,874,300
85,296,480 51,701,076
85,296,480 51,701,076
85,296,480 51,701,076

These represent unsecured lendings carrying mark-up at the rate of Nil (2021: 9.50%) per annum.

These represent lendings to financial institutions against investment securities. These carry mark-up ranging from 15.75% to

16.15% (2021:9.75% to 10.70%) per annum, and are due to mature in January 2023.

These represent placements made with the SBP Nil (2021: Rs. 1,874 million) as a result of shortfall in respect of time-based
mandatory targets of disbursements under Government's scheme "Mera Pakistan Mera Ghar" . These placements are for the

period of six months to one year and carry no mark-up.

Securities held as collateral against repurchase agreement lendings (Reverse Repo)

2022 2021
Held by Bank ~ Furthergivenas Total Held by Bank  Furthergivenas Total
collateral collateral
(Rupees in '000)
Market Treasury Bills 52,832,980 - 52,832,980 16,771,723 12,358,229 29,129,952
Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed - - - 7,027,709 13,569,115 20,596,824
Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters 2,463,500 - 2,463,500 - - -
Government of Pakistan Sukuks 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 - - -
Total 85,296,480 - 85,296,480 23,799,432 25,927,344 49,726,776

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

8.

8.1

INVESTMENTS

Investments by type

Held for trading securities
Federal Government Securities
- Market Treasury Bills
- Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed
- Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters

Available for sale securities
Federal Government securities
- Market Treasury Bills
- Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed
- Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters
- Government of Pakistan Sukuks
- Islamic Naya Pakistan Certificates
- Government of Pakistan Eurobonds
Ordinary shares
- Listed companies
- Unlisted companies
Non-Government debt securities
- Corporate Sukuks
- Term Finance Certificates
Foreign securities
- Market Treasury Bills
- Foreign bonds - sovereign
- Foreign bonds - others
Mutual Fund units
Real Estate Investment Trust units

Held to maturity securities
Federal Government securities
- Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed
- Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters
- Government of Pakistan Sukuks
- Government of Pakistan Eurobonds
- Bai Muajjal with Government of Pakistan
Non-Government debt securities
- Corporate Sukuks
- Term Finance Certificates
- Debentures
- Participation Term Certificates
- Corporate Bond
Foreign securities
- Market Treasury Bills
- Foreign bonds - sovereign
- Foreign bonds - others
- CDC SAARC Fund

Associates
- UBL Financial Sector Fund
- UBL Insurers Limited
- Khushhali Bank Limited

Subsidiaries
Continued operation
- United National Bank Limited (UBL UK)
- UBL Fund Managers Limited

Discontinued operation

- UBL Bank (Tanzania) Limited
- UBL (Switzerland) AG

Total Investments

Note

|

8.4

8.6.2{

8.6.5{

9

8.5

8.7.3{

8.12.1

8.10
8.11

2022 2021

Cost/ Provision Surplus / Carrvin Cost/ Provision Surplus / Carryin

Amortised for p. A rying Amortised for ! p.u.s arying

Lo (Deficit) Value Lo (Deficit) Value

cost diminution cost diminution
(Rupees in '000)

27,546,990 - (661)] 27,546,329 69,718,806 - 9,101 69,727,907
- - - - 4,883,004 7,053 4,890,057
- - - 250,697 128 250,825
27,546,990 (661) 27,546,329 74,852,507 16,282 74,868,789
111,414,256 (349,118)| 111,065,138 || 462,307,400 (295,082)| 462,012,318
228,274,771 (14,385,381)| 213,889,390 106,428,744 (956,951)| 105,471,793
451,294,888 - (5,349,435)| 445,945,453 365,357,391 (1,612,560)| 363,744,831
102,872,728 (302,150)] (1,138,560)] 101,432,018 43,996,036 (265,636)] 43,730,400
4,806,162 - - 4,806,162 924,941 - - 924,941
32,853,852 | (8,768,691)] (10,627,203)] 13,457,958 22,789,875 (285,929) 49,770 | 22,553,716
15,334,557 | (6,017,934) 233,489 9,550,112 13,269,396 | (4,623,052) 1,019,365 9,665,709
791,144 (67,155) - 723,989 790,083 (60,440) 41 729,684
1,931,429 - - 1,931,429 1,452,143 - - 1,452,143
2,507,335 (162,334) - 2,345,001 782,335 (161,996) - 620,339

5,973,330 - 314 5,973,644 - - - -
51,667,603 | (3,715,561)| (4,598,334)] 43,353,708 41,692,161 (383,468)] (1,325,534)] 39,983,159
1,117,819 (1,167)|  (119,742) 996,910 1,187,962 (1,103) 8,036 1,194,895
258,179 - (55,649) 202,530 258,179 - (15,711) 242,468
533,453 - 109,155 642,608 458,590 - 48,360 506,950
1,011,631,506 (19,034,992) (36,280,464) 956,316,050 1,061,695,236 (5,515,988) (3,345,902) 1,052,833,346
295,069,033 - - 295,069,033 216,576,752 - - 216,576,752
47,788,071 - - 47,788,071 47,666,897 - - 47,666,897
10,002,327 - - 10,002,327 10,002,935 - - 10,002,935
13,221,686 | (3,528,868) - 9,692,818 10,381,683 (141,574) - 10,240,109
- - - - 21,214,989 - 21,214,989
8,599,224 (50,934) 8,548,290 10,580,384 (50,934) 10,529,450
8,076,150 (69,951) - 8,006,199 8,079,835 (69,951) 8,009,884

2,267 (2,267) - - 2,267 (2,267) -

437 (437) - - 437 (437) - -
2,200,838 (587,404) 1,613,434 1,715,945 (23,356) 1,692,589
6,469,775 - 6,469,775 2,682,985 - 2,682,985
42,086,214 | (3,546,802) 38,539,412 33,578,466 (641,202) 32,937,264
1,208,667 (1,416) 1,207,251 2,171,411 (11,610) 2,159,801
492 - - 492 383 - 383
434,725,181  (7,788,079) - 426,937,102 364,655,369 (941,331) 363,714,038
366,640 - 366,640 366,640 - 366,640
240,000 - - 240,000 240,000 - - 240,000
832,485 - - 832,485 832,485 - - 832,485
1,439,125 - - 1,439,125 1,439,125 - - 1,439,125
2,855,223 - - 2,855,223 2,855,223 - - 2,855,223
100,000 - - 100,000 100,000 - - 100,000
2,955,223 - - 2,955,223 2,955,223 - - 2,955,223
- 1,831,006 | (1,688,911) 142,095
- 589,837 - 589,837
- 2,420,843  (1,688,911) 731,932
1,478,298,025 (26,823,071) (36,281,125) 1,415,193,829 1,508,018,303  (8,146,230) (3,329,620) 1,496,542,453
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Cost/ Provisionzo22 Cost / Provision2 = 2022 2021
Note Amortised for Surpllu'sl Carrying Amortised for Surpllu'sl Carrying 8.2.1 Investments given as collateral e (Rupees in '000) -=========.
L (Deficit) Value L (Deficit) Value »
cost diminution cost diminution Federal Government securities
8.2 Investments by segment (Rupees in '000) Market Treasury Bills - 215,584,125
Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters 368,801,131 232,144,261
Federal Government Securities Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed 56,225,155 1,853,526
. Government of Pakistan Sukuks 20,000,000 -
Market Treasury Bills 138,961,246 - (349,779)| 138,611,467 || 532,026,206 - (285,981)| 531,740,225
Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed gg 1| 523343804 - | (14,385,381)| 508,958,423 || 327,888,500 - (949,898)| 326,938,602 FF oreign s"‘:""ej . 0159.941
Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters 499,082,959 - | (5349.435)| 493733524 || 413,274,985 - | (1612432)| 411,662,553 orelgn bonds - sovereign 199, -
Government of Pakistan Sukuks 112,875,055 | (302,150)| (1,138,560)| 111434345 || 53,998,971 - (265,636)| 53,733,335 454,226,227 449,581,912
Government of Pakistan Eurobonds 46,075,538 | (12,297,559)| (10,627,203)| 23,150,776 || 33,171,558 | (427,503) 49,770 | 32,793,825 o _ . .
S . 8.2.1.1 The market value of securities given as collateral is Rs. 442,733 million (2021: Rs. 448,718 million).
Bai Muajjal with Government of Pakistan ~ 8.5 . - . - 21,214,989 . . 21,214,989
Islamic Naya Pakistan Certificates 8.4 4,806,162 - . 4,806,162 924,941 . - 924,941 Note 2022 2021
1,325,144,764  (12,599,709) (31,850,358) 1,280,694,697 1,382,500,150 (427,503) (3,064,177) 1,379,008,470 8.3 Provision for diminution in value of investments ~  cceeeceeee- (Rupees in '000) -----------
Ordinary shares .

) ) Opening balance 8,146,230 9,343,576
Listed companies 86 2{ 15,334,557 | (6,017,934) 233,489 9,550,112 13,269,396 | (4,623,052)[ 1,019,365 9,665,709 Exchange adjustments 1,195,906 155,536
Unlisted companies 791,144 (67,155) - 723,989 790,083 (60,440) 4 729,684 Charge / (reversals)

16,125,701  (6,085,089) 233,489 10,274,101 14,059,479 (4,683,492) 1,019,406 10,395,393 Charge for the year 19,357,588 446,250
Reversals for the year 8.3.1.1 (207,747) (555,978)
Mutual Fund units 258,179 R (55,649) 202,530 258,179 R (15,711) 242,468 Reversal on disposals (87,936) (1,161,770)
Real Estate Investment Trust units . . 32 19,061,905 (1,271,498)
533,453 109,155 642,608 458,590 48,360 506,950 Amounts written off (1.580.970) (81.384)
Non-Government Debt Securities Closing balance 8.3.1 26,823,071 8,146,230
Listed companies 4,193,021 - - 4,193,021 2,463,124 - - 2,463,124 8.3.1 Provision against investments includes Expected Credit Losses (ECL) / impairment under IFRS 9 amounting to Rs. 20,452.132
Unlisted companies 19,124,659 (873,327) - 18,251,332 20,150,222 |  (308,941) - 19,841,281 million (2021: Rs. 1,488.282 million) on overseas branches.
23,317,680 (873,327) - 22,444,353 22,613,346 (308,941) - 22,304,405
Foreign Securities The Bank has estimated ECL / impairment provisions based on the IFRS 9 requirements in respect of overseas jurisdictions.
: Under the IFRS 9 model, credit impairment provisions, inter alia, takes into account the credit ratings of the relevant bonds
Market Treasury Bills - - -

) Y ) 12,443,105 314 12443419 2,682,985 2,682,985 provided by the International rating agencies and the observed Probability of Default information relevant for such credit rating
Foreign bonds - sovereign 93,753,817 [ (7,262,363)( (4,598,334)| 81,893,120 75,270,627 | (1,024,670)| (1,325,534)| 72,920,423 with appropriate adjustments applied by the Bank. In respect of the deafulted bonds, the Bank considers actual market prices to
Foreign bonds - others 2,326,486 (2583)|  (119,742)] 2,204,161 3359373 | (12,713) 8,036 | 3,354,696 estimate the impairment provision.

CDC SAARC Fund 492 - - 492 383 - - 383
108,523,900 (7,264,946) (4,717,762) 96,541,192 81,313,368 (1,037,383) (1,317,498) 78,958,487 8.3.1.1 The reversal for the year includes Rs. 107.941 million relating to UBL Bank (Tanzania) Limited (UBTL).
Associates
UBL Financial Sector Fund 366,640 - - 366,640 366,640 - - 366,640 8.3.2 Particulars of provision against debt securities
UBL Insurers Limited 240,000 - . 240,000 240,000 - - 240,000 cat ¢ classificati ¥ 2022 ¥ 2021
Khushhali Bank Limited 8121 ) ) ) ) ategory of classification on- on-
usnnal Bank Limite 3 22;:’22 7 22;‘1‘22 7 235‘1‘22 7 235:’22 performing Provision performing Provision
Subsidiari e ’ ’ e i ’ ’ i investments investments
ubsidiaries (Rupees in '000)
Continued operation Domestic
United National Bank Limited (UBL UK) 2,855,223 - - 2,855,223 2,855,223 - - 2,855,223 Loss 285,923 285,923 285,585 285,585
UBL Fund Managers Limited 100,000 - - 100,000 100,000 - - 100,000 Overseas
2,955,223 - - 2,955,223 2,955,223 - - 2,955,223 Defaulted exposure 9,117,129 6,145,880 - -

. . . Total 9,403,052 6,431,803 285,585 285,585
Discontinued operations
UBL Bank (Tanzania) Limited 8.10 - - - - 1,831,006 | (1,688,911) - 142,095 8.4 This represents investment made for the establishment of the modaraba pools in Islamic Naya Pakistan Certificate Company
UBL (Switzerland) AG 8.11 . . - - 589,837 - - 589,837 Limited in accordance with S.R.O 964 (l) / 2020 dated October 05, 2020.

- - - - 2420843 (1,688,911) - 731,932 2022 2021
Total Investments 1,478,298,025 (26,823,071) (36,281,125) 1,415,193,829 1,508,018,303 (8,146,230) (3,329,620) 1,496,542,453 8.5 Bai Muajjal with Government of Pakistan e (Rupees in '000) ----------
Bai Muaijjal investment - 21,611,000
Less: Deferred Income - (396,011)
Bai Muajjal investment - net - 21,214,989
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8.6

2022 2021
Details regarding quality of Available for Sale securities are as follows: Cost
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------
2022 2021 Unlisted
» c°s_t - AA+,AA, AA- 1,140,000 695,002
8.6.1 Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed ~ ceeeeeees (Rupees in '000) -----=---~ SA+ A, A 521,429 607,141
Market Treasury Bills 111,414,256 462,307,400 - Unrated 162,335 162,335
Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed 228,274,771 106,428,744 1,823,764 1,464,478
Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters 451,294,888 365,357,391
Government of Pakistan Sukuks 102,872,728 43,996,036
Islamic Naya Pakistan Certificates 4,806,162 924,941 2022 2021
Government of Pakistan Eurobonds 32,853,852 22,789,875 8.6.5 Foreign Securities Cost Rating Cost Rating
931,516,657 1,001,804,387 (Rupees in '000)
Government Securities
662  Shares 022 Qatar 7,298,165 AR 5,778,888 AA-
__________ (Rupees in "000) --ee-eermv United Arab Emirates 18,529,501 AA 9,808,862 AA
Listed Companies Jordan 2,469,583 B+ 1,938,979 B+
Cement 1,221,443 1,195,440 Oman 2,955,778 BB- 2,301 ,803 BB-
Chemical 559,228 559,228 South Africa 1,682,375 BB- 1,324,904 BB
Commercial Banks 2,071,939 366,799 Egypt 5,089,176 B 3,155,838 B
Fertilizer 4,754,000 4,951,022 Kenya 2,775,375 B 2,182,135 B
Oil & Gas Exploration Companies 1,354,148 1,173,920 Bahrain 7,847,301 B 5,305,846 B
g” & Gés Ma”;eti”g 89'?%3':?65 ) ggg;g? ) 222';22 Nigeria 1,492,871 B- 1,175,329 B
ower Generation istribution ,689, ,568,
Technology & Communication 322,794 309,366 Turkey 2,825,351 B- 5,072,195 B
Textile Composite 766,044 543,544 Srilanka 4,675,457 D 3,647,382 cc
Textile Spinning 395,927 401,680 07,640,933 - 41692161
Engineering 315,872 315,872
Miscellaneous 314,721 314,722 2022 2021
15,334,557 13,269,396 Non Government Debt Securities Cost
2022 2021 e (Rupees in '000) ----------:
Cost Breakup value Cost Breakup value Listed
(Rupees in '000) -AA - -
Unlisted Companies - BBB+, BBB- 1,117,819 877,325
SME Bank Limited 26,950 - 26,950 - -B - -
First Women Bank Limited 21,100 60,514 21,100 69,511 - Unrated - 310,637
National Institutional Facilitation 1,117,819 1,187,962
Technologies (Pvt.) Limited (NIFT) 1,527 44,622 1,527 35,899
National Investment Trust Limited (NIT) 100 910,231 100 971,711 8.7 Particulars relating to Held to Maturity securities are as follows:
Pakistan Agricultural Storage & Services
Corporation (PASSCO) 5,500 3,551,928 5,500 3,448,615 8.7.1 Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed
SWIFT (Belgium) 2,091 23,880 2,091 15,658
VIS Credit Information Services 325 173 325 104 Pakistan Investment Bonds - fixed 295,069,033 216,576,752
Mastercard International 0.003 779 0.003 523 Pakistan Investment Bonds - floaters 47,788,071 47,666,897
Techlogix International Limited 50,703 23,880 50,703 21,419 Government of Pakistan Sukuks 10,002,327 10,002,935
Cinepax Limited 60,122 136,159 60,122 163,786 Government of Pakistan Eurobonds 13,221,686 10,381,683
Pakistan Mortgage Refinance Company Limited 500,000 915,540 500,000 827,525 Bai Muajjal - 21,214,989
1Link (Private) Limited 54,287 428,290 54,287 267,895
The Benefit Company BSC 4,806 133,289 3,745 102,811 366,081,117 305,843,256
Pakistan Corporate Restructuring Company Limited 63,633 50,479 63,633 59,689 8.7.2 Non Government Debt Securities
791,144 6,279,764 790,083 5,985,146
Listed
2022 2021 - AA+, AA- 774,896 1,443,124
Cost - A+ 803,125 250,000
---------- (Rupees in '000) ---------- - Unrated _ _
8.6.3 Others 1,678,021 1,693,124
Mutual Fund units 258,179 258,179 Unlisted
Real Estate Investment Trust units 533,453 458,590 - AAA 9,216,920 10,786,210
- AA+ AA, AA- 5,249,550 5,000,000
8.6.4 Non Government Debt Securities -A+ A 150,000 510,000
. - BB-, B- 360,000 1,715,945
Listed -CCC+ 2,200,838 -
- AA+ AA, AA- 1,570,000 370,000 ’ ’
SA+ A A 1,045,000 400,000 - Unrated 123,587 673,589
- Unrated _ i 17,300,895 18,685,744
2,615,000 770,000

Quality of Available for Sale Securities

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022
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8.7.3 Foreign Securities

2022 2021
Government Securities Cost Rating Cost Rating
(Rupees in '000)

Qatar 12,690,997 AA- 5,675,107 AA-
Jordan 6,370,103 B+ 4,985,479 B+
Bahrain 4,721,684 B 3,712,498 B
Egypt 4,528,908 B 3,554,567 B
Kenya 3,732,975 B 2,938,151 B
Oman 4,330,271 BB- 3,369,670 BB-
Portugal 1,001,469 BBB 783,287 BBB
Sri Lanka 4,441,672 D 3,400,189 CcC
Turkey 2,988,596 B- 2,969,272 B
Nigeria 1,110,765 B- 874,914 B
South Africa 1,682,433 BB- 1,315,332 BB
Yemen 956,116 unrated 2,682,985 unrated
2022 2021
Non Government Debt Securities Cost
------- (Rupees in '000) -------
Listed
- BBB+, BBB- 90,573 70,606
-B - 1,223,295
- Unrated - -
90,573 1,293,901
Unlisted
- BBB- 1,118,094 877,510
Others
CDC SAARC Fund 492 383

8.7.4 The market value of securities classified as held-to-maturity as at December 31, 2022, amounted to Rs. 394,810.915 million
(2021: Rs. 354,991.660 million).

8.8 Investments include net securities amounting to Rs. 874,741 million (2021: Rs. 927,853 million) which are held by the Bank
to comply with the statutory liquidity requirements as set out under Section 29 of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962.

8.9 Investments include Rs. 118 million (2021: Rs. 118 million) held by the State Bank of Pakistan as pledge against demand
loan, TT / DD discounting facilities and foreign exchange exposure limit sanctioned to the Bank and Rs. 5 million (2021: Rs.
5 million) held by the Controller of Military Accounts (CMA) under Regimental Fund Arrangements.

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

8.10

8.11

8.12

UBL Bank (Tanzania) Limited (UBTL), a wholly owned subsidiary of United Bank Limited has been wound up in August 2022. The Banking
operations of the subsidiary ceased on November 01, 2019 as UBTL sold materially all of its assets and liabilities held as at October 31, 2019 to
EXIM Bank Tanzania Limited (Exim), in line with the Asset and Liabilities Purchase Agreement signed on May 22, 2019. The official liquidator was
appointed by Board of Directors of UBTL on December 15, 2021 and after compliance of all local laws and regulations, net proceeds has been
realized. The liquidator had filed deregistration with the Registrar of the Companies on August 12, 2022 and the UBTL name has been strike off
from the companies register on January 23, 2023. The difference between net liquidation proceeds of Rs 250 million and the book value of Rs 142
million have been recognized as reversal of provision in Note 8.3.1.1.

UBL Switzerland AG, a wholly owned subsidiary of United Bank Limited has been wound up in December 2022. The shareholders of the Bank had
resolved the voluntary and orderly wind up of UBL Switzerland AG in the Extra Ordinary General Meeting (EOGM) of shareholders held on August
06, 2021. UBL Switzerland AG was released from FINMA'’s regulatory supervision on March 24, 2022 and entered voluntary liquidation on March
31, 2022. Deloitte AG were appointed as liquidators. Final shareholder meeting, held on December 22, 2022, unanimously approved liquidator
financial statements and accordingly liquidation proceeds has been realized. The liquidator has filed deregistration of the company with the
commercial Registrar. The difference between the liquidation proceeds of Rs. 7,368.7 million and the cost of investment Rs. 589.8 million that
have been recognized as gain on wind up of subsidiary in Note 28.

Summary of financial position and performance of associates and subsidiaries

2022
Country {.’f Holding Assets Liabilities Revenue Profit / (loss)
Note Incorporation
% Bl {1 oY= 1 1) I

Associates

UBL Financial Sector Fund Pakistan 36.07% 854,318 16,594 (112,091) (168,292)

UBL Insurers Limited Pakistan 30.00% 7,715,405 5,764,578 1,839,604 228,214

Khushhali Bank Limited 8.12.1 Pakistan 29.69% 132,153,820 123,942,929 9,588,980 (3,000,005)
Subsidiaries

United National Bank Limited (UBL UK) United Kingdom 55.00% 218,596,550 198,268,523 6,231,454 1,271,485

UBL Fund Managers Limited Pakistan 98.87% 4,415,064 2,273,602 1,192,000 449,412

2021
Country (.)f Holding Assets Liabilities Revenue Profit / (loss)
Incorporation
% memsemsensennsnnsansansansansaneas (RUPEES iN '000) =msmmemmsmmsamsamsamsnnaanan

Associates

UBL Financial Sector Fund Pakistan 23.69% 1,496,764 26,920 95,578 41,785

UBL Insurers Limited Pakistan 30.00% 5,703,286 3,960,407 1,793,771 66,179

Khushhali Bank Limited Pakistan 29.69% 116,523,926 105,339,377 11,798,634 571,680
Subsidiaries

United National Bank Limited (UBL UK) United Kingdom 55.00% 158,086,439 139,142,776 2,989,125 372,188

UBL (Switzerland) AG Switzerland 100.00% 6,833,143 1,069,442 588,471 (999,702)

UBL Fund Managers Limited Pakistan 98.87% 4,356,847 2,295,892 1,014,900 389,464

Discontinued operation

UBL Bank (Tanzania) Limited Tanzania 100.00% 240,248 86,616 - (69,775)

8.12.1 This represents the Bank's subscription towards the paid-up capital of Khushhali Bank Limited. Pursuant to section 10 of the Khushhali Bank

Ordinance, 2000 strategic investors including the Bank cannot sell or transfer their investment before a period of five years that has expired on
October 10, 2005. Thereafter, such sale / transfer would be subject to the prior approval of the SBP. However, these shares are still appearing as
frozen as no approval has been obtained by the Bank to unfreeze these shares.

ADVANCES Note Performing Non-performing Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in '000)

Loans, cash credits, running finances, etc. 9.1 771,367,966 561,742,044 90,270,610 83,224,648 861,638,576 644,966,692
Islamic financings and related assets 9.8 102,281,886 43,859,593 159,579 197,330 102,441,465 44,056,923
Bills discounted and purchased 46,778,723 36,670,914 2,908,653 2,591,046 49,687,376 39,261,960
Advances - gross 920,428,575 642,272,551 93,338,842 86,013,024 1,013,767,417 728,285,575
Provision against advances 9.4
- Specific - - (81,783,522)| (74,703,857) (81,783,522) (74,703,857)
- General (10,146,800)| (7,393,261) - - (10,146,800) (7,393,261)
(10,146,800) (7,393,261)  (81,783,522) (74,703,857) (91,930,322) (82,097,118)
Advances - net of provision 910,281,775 634,879,290 11,655,320 11,309,167 921,837,095 646,188,457
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9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Includes net investment in finance lease as disclosed below:

Minimum lease payments
Financial charges for future periods

Present value of minimum
lease payments

Particulars of advances (Gross)

In local currency
In foreign currencies

2022 2021
Later Later
Not later than one| More than Not later than one More than five
than one " Total than one Total
and upto | five years and upto years
year . year .
five years five years
(Rupees in '000)
9,775 224,749 8,112 242,636 45,314 55,160 611 101,085
(696) (17,923) (2,748)  (21,367) (8,502)  (14,848) (245) (23,595)
9,079 206,826 5,364 221,269 36,812 40,312 366 77,490
2022 2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

765,445,158 531,161,298
248,322,259 197,124,277
1,013,767,417 728,285,575

Advances include Rs. 93,338.842 million (2021: Rs. 86,013.024 million) which have been placed under non-performing status as detailed below:

Category of Classification

Domestic
Other Assets Especially Mentioned *
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

Overseas
Not past due but impaired **
Overdue by:
Upto 90 days
91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days
> 365 days

Total

* The Other Assets Especially Mentioned category pertains to agriculture, housing and small enterprises financing.

** Not past due but impaired category mainly represents restructured exposure.

Particulars of provision against advances

Opening balance
Exchange adjustments

Charge for the year
Reversals for the year
Net (reversal) / charge against advances

Amounts charged off -
agriculture financing
Amounts written off
Transfers (out) / in - net
Closing balance

Note

32

9.5
9.6

2022 2021
Non- .
Performing | Provision Non-Performing Provision
Loans
Loans
(Rupees in '000)
135,948 1,948 155,903 -
2,307,269 569,848 2,398,883 595,091
732,137 365,716 563,051 346,746
23,018,816 22,067,588 23,945,768 22,853,989
26,194,170 23,005,100 27,063,605 23,795,826
5,192,817 1,806,054 4,207,043 1,233,410
1,194,694 403,030 1,004,416 303,038
82,114 31,978 1,811,745 1,620,231
1,511,494 1,511,494 4,666,129 3,620,254
59,163,553 55,025,866 47,260,086 44,131,098
67,144,672 58,778,422 58,949,419 50,908,031
93,338,842 81,783,522 86,013,024 74,703,857
2022 2021
Specific General Total Specific General Total
(Rupees in '000)
74,703,857 7,393,261 82,097,118 71,755,668 7,271,844 79,027,512
14,624,765 1,386,654 16,011,419 5,068,084 734,361 5,802,445
2,460,068 366,812 2,826,880 4,901,313 361,989 5,263,302
(3,677,644)| (2,089,277) (5,766,921) (3,048,379) (974,933) (4,023,312)
(1,217,576)  (1,722,465) (2,940,041) 1,852,934 (612,944) 1,239,990
(66,894) - (66,894) (257,446) - (257,446)
(3,171,280) - (3,171,280)  (3,711,835) - (3,711,835)
(3,089,350) 3,089,350 - (3,548) - (3,548)
81,783,522 10,146,800 91,930,322 74,703,857 7,393,261 82,097,118

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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9.4.1

9.4.2

9.4.3

9.5

9.6

9.6.1

9.6.2

9.7

9.8

10.

10.1

Particulars of provision against advances

2022 2021
Specific General Total Specific General Total
(Rupees in '000)
In local currency 22,248,009 769,159 23,017,168 23,205,037 402,418 23,607,455
In foreign currencies 59,535,513 9,377,641 68,913,154 51,498,820 6,990,843 58,489,663
81,783,522 10,146,800 91,930,322 74,703,857 7,393261 _ 82,097,118

General provision represents provision amounting to Rs. 469.159 million (2021: Rs. 402.418 million) against consumer
finance portfolio as required by the Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP and Rs. 9,337.641 million (2021: Rs.
6,990.843 million) pertaining to overseas advances to meet the requirements of the regulatory authorities of the respective
countries in which the overseas branches operate. In addition, bank has created a general charge on agriculture finance
portfolio of Rs. 300.000 million (2021: Nil).

The Bank has availed the benefit of Forced Sale Value (FSV) of certain mortgaged properties held as collateral against non-
performing advances as allowed under BSD Circular 1 of 2011. Had the benefit under the said circular not been taken by
the Bank, the specific provision against non-performing advances would have been higher by Rs. 5.359 million (2021: Rs.
16.258 million).

The Bank has also availed FSV benefit of certain mortgaged properties held as collateral against non-performing advances
of overseas branches in accordance with the applicable regulations in the respective countries where the branches operate.
Had the benefit not been taken by the Bank, the specific provision against non-performing advances would had been higher
by Rs. 5,329.058 million (2021: Rs. 3,528.942 million) for the overseas branches.

The FSV benefit availed is not available for the distribution of cash or stock dividend to shareholders.

These represent non-performing advances for agriculture finance which have been classified as loss, are fully provided and
are in default for more than 3 years. These non-performing advances have been charged off by extinguishing them against
the provision held in accordance with the SBP's Prudential Regulations for Agriculture Financing. This charge off does not,
in any way, prejudice the Bank's right of recovery from these customers.

Note 2022 2021
Particulars of write-offts e (Rupees in '000) -------
Against provisions 9.4 3,171,280 3,711,835
Directly charged to profit and loss account 35,871 42,643
3,207,151 3,754,478
Write-offs of Rs. 500,000 and above
- Domestic 9.7 57,121 171,013
- Overseas 3,116,334 3,534,481
3,173,455 3,705,494
Write-offs of below Rs. 500,000 33,696 48,984
3,207,151 3,754,478

Details of loan write-offs of Rs. 500,000 and above

In terms of sub-section (3) of Section 33A of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the statement in respect of written
off loans or any other financial relief of five hundred thousand rupees or above allowed to a person during the year ended
December 31, 2022, is given in annexure | to the unconsolidated financial statements (except in case of overseas branches
which is restricted by overseas regulatory authorities).

Information related to Islamic financing and related assets is given in annexure Il and is an integral part of these
unconsolidated financial statements.

Note 2022 2021
FIXED ASSETS e (Rupees in '000) -------
Capital work-in-progress 10.1 1,042,334 1,294,646
Property and equipment 10.2 69,774,650 67,243,007
70,816,984 68,537,653
Capital work-in-progress
Civil works 844,654 419,443
Equipment 197,680 875,203
1,042,334 1,294,646
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10.2  Property and Equipment 10.3 Revaluation of properties
2022 The properties of the Bank has been revalued by independent professional valuers as at December 31, 2021. The
Buildings Buildings | Electrical, revaluation was carried out by M/s. Engineering Pakistan International (Private) Limited, M/s. M. J. Surveyors (Private)
Freehold on on easehold  Furniture o ond ) Right-of-use Limited, and M/s. Perfect Consultants on the basis of professional assessment of present market values which resulted in an
Leasehold land Improve- and Vehicles 9 Total . . L . . ]
land Freehold Leasehold ) computer Assets increase in surplus by Rs. 16,411.878 million. The total surplus against revaluation of fixed assets as at December 31, 2022,
ments fixtures . L
land land equipment amounts to Rs. 41,481.000 million.
At 012022 (Rupees in 000) Had there been no revaluation, the carrying amount of the revalued assets at December 31, would have been as follows:
anuary 01,
Cost / Revalued amount 9,543,663 32,091,510 3,369,459 7,562,721 6,167,104 2,275,782 17,195,351 374,844 10,846,625 89,427,059 2022 2021
Accumulated depreciation - - - (11,641) (3,673,899) (1,491,180) (13,015474) (221,893) (3769,965) (22,184,052) (Rupees in '000) =----
Net book val 9,543,663 32,091,510 3,369,459 7,551,080 2,493,205 784,602 4,179,877 152,951 7,076,660 67,243,007
el pooivale Freehold land 782,581 782,581
Leasehold land 3,464,652 3,397,652
Year ended December 31, 2022 Buildings on freehold land 1,907,093 1,970,022
Opening net book value 9,543,663 32,091,510 3,369,459 7,551,080 2,493,205 784,602 4,179,877 152,951 7,076,660 67,243,007 Buildings on leasehold land 4.431 387 4.640 885
Additions - 101,460 - - 874,068 274612 3865125 368,202 3031755 8515222 70.585.713 70.791.140
Movement in surplus on assets revalued . o
during the year ) ) ) ) ) i ) i 10.4  Carrying amount of temporarily idle property of the Bank 82,420 82,420
Disposals : (134,860) - (42,167) - (481) (4.078) - (2791) (213,125) - (397,502) 10.5 The cost of fully depreciated assets that are still in Bank's use is as follows:
Depreciation charge - - (122233) (294223) (767,664) (244,679) (2,094,041)  (70,270) (2,097,830)  (5,690,940)
Exchange rate adjustments - - - 3024 47915 2,206 43422 (1,795) 10,091 104,863 Furniture and fixtures 729,632 561,051
Other adjustments / transfers . - - - (10,455) N 10,455 - . - Electrical, office and computer equipment 8,960,303 7,507,420
Closing net book value 9543663 32058110 3247,226 7,217,714 2637069 816260 6,000,760 446,297 7,807,551 69,774,650 Vehicles 110,524 120,125
Leasehold improvements 1,779,919 1,116,951
At December 31, 2022 . . . . . 11,580,378 9,305,547
Cost / Revalued amount 9543663 32,058,110 3369459 7525987 7,143430 2,544,283 21073572 724,541 12,469,707 96,452,752 10.6  Details of disposal of operating fixed assets to related parties
Accumulated depreciation - - (122,233) (308,273) (4,506,361) (1,728,023) (15,072,812) (278,244) (4,662,156) (26,678,102) The information relating to operating fixed assets disposed off during the year to related parties is given in annexure Ill and
Net book value 9,543,663 32,058,110 3,247,226 7,217,714 2,637,069 816,260 6,000,760 446,297 7,807,551 69,774,650 is an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.
Rate of depreciation (%) - - 2.5-5 2.5-5 125  12.5-25 5-33.33 20 4-100 10.7  During the year, the Bank has reviewed the useful lives of its fixed assets. This review has resulted in a change in the useful
lives of these assets. The effect of these changes are presented in note 3.2 to the unconsolidated financial statements.
2021 Note 2022 2021
Buildings _Buildings . Electrical, 11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS e (Rupees in '000) -----
Leasehold Furniture . . . .
FrTehgld Leasehold land _ 0: L °nh  mprove- and office atnd Vehicles ng:t-oft-use Total Capital work-in-progress - Computer software 384,706 604,751
an reehold Leaseho ments fixtures  COMPUter ssets Intangible assets 1.1 2,021,509 1,626,514
land land equipment 2.406,215 2,231,065
(Rupees in '000) 11.1  Intangible assets
At January 01, 2021
Cost / Revalued amount 6,433,625 21,468,648 2,790,183 6,797,040 5,786,556 2,187,778 15,455,565 314,148 9,558,101 70,791,644 Computer Software
Accumulated depreciation - - (252,595) (743,991) (3,287,316) (1,366,937) (11,281,161) (226,466) (2,873,368) (20,031,834) At January 1,
Net book value 6,433,625 21,468,648 2,537,588 6,053,040 2499240 820,841  4,174/404 87,682 6,684,733 50,759,810 Cost 7,131,567 6,554,387
Accumulated amortisation (5,505,053) (4,915,531)
Year ended December 31, 2021 Net book value 1,626,514 1,638,856
Opening net book value 6433625 21468648 2537588 6,053,049 2499240 820841  4,174404 87,682 6,684,733 50,759,810 Year ended December 31,
Additions - - - - 459,781 119,247 1,840,683 117,007 3,007,028 5,543,746 Opening net book value 1,626,514 1,638,856
Movement n surplus on assets revalued Additions - directly purchased 1,193,493 776,946
during the year 3,110,038 10,622,829 920,324 1,758,687 - - - - - 16,411,878 Disposals (4,342) (981)
Disposals - - - (4.726)  (14,940) (250) (5.766)  (8,130) (701,200)  (735,012) Amortisation charge (814,607) (801,197)
Depreciation charge - - (88453) (256,861) (462,222) (153,021) (1,844,679)  (43,779) (1,928,943)  (4,777,958) Exchange rate adjustments 20,451 12,931
Exchange rate adjustments - 25 - 852 13,508 566 24,145 141 10,777 50,014 Other adjustments - (41)
Other adjustments / transfers - 8 - 79 (2,162) (2,781) (8,910) 30 4,265 (9,471) Closing net book value 2,021,509 1,626,514
Closing net book value 9,543,663 32,091,510 3,369,459 7,551,080 2,493,205 784,602 4,179,877 152,951 7,076,660 67,243,007
At December 31,
At December 31, 2021 Cost o 8,639,910 7,131,567
Cost / Revalued amount 0543663 32001510 3369450 7562721 6,167,104 2275782 17195351 374,844 10,846,625 89,427,059 Qc‘t"gmul'(ate? amortisation (g'g;?'gg;) (f’ggg’gfi’)
Accumulated depreciation - - - (11641) (3673899) (1,491180) (13,015474) (221893) (3,769,965) (22,184,052) et book value L 22
Net book value 9543663 32,091,510 3369459 7,551,080 2493205 784602 4,179,877 152951 7,076,660 67,243,007 Rate of amortisation (%) 10-25 10- 25
Rate of depreciation (%) - . 255 255 5.20 1025  5-3333 20 4-100 Useful life (in years) 4-10 4-10

11.2  The cost of fully amortised intangible assets that are still in the Bank's use amounted to Rs. 3,711.286 million (2021: Rs.
2,985.136 million).
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12.

13.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deductible temporary differences on
- Provision against advances and off balance sheet obligations
- Surplus on revaluation of investments
- Post retirement employee benefits
- Workers' Welfare Fund
- Others

Taxable temporary differences on:
- Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets / non-banking assets
- Accelerated tax depreciation

Deductible temporary differences on:
- Provision against advances and off balance sheet obligations
- Surplus on revaluation of investments
- Post retirement employee benefits
- Workers' Welfare Fund
- Others

Taxable Temporary Differences on:
- Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets / non-banking assets
- Accelerated tax depreciation

OTHER ASSETS

Income / mark-up accrued in local currency
Income / mark-up accrued in foreign currencies
Advance taxation - net of provision for taxation
Receivable from staff retirement fund

Receivable from other banks against telegraphic transfers and demand drafts

Unrealised gain on forward foreign exchange contracts
Rebate receivable - net

Unrealised gain on derivative financial instruments
Suspense accounts

Stationery and stamps on hand

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Advances, deposits, advance rent and other prepayments

Acceptances

Dividend Receivable

Commission receivable - Branchless Banking
Commission receivable - Bancassurance
Receivable against fraud & forgery and looted notes
Others

Less: Provision held against other assets
Other assets - net of provisions

Surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets acquired in

satisfaction of claims
Other assets - Total
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2022

Recognised in

At January 01, fit and | Recognised in At December
2022 profit anc ‘oss ocl 31, 2022
account
(Rupees in '000)
5,172,302 (2,543,636) - 2,628,666
1,304,902 - 14,295,697 15,600,599
716,805 70,623 (729,235) 58,193
2,231,742 804,811 - 3,036,553
36,404 - (105,399) (68,995)
9,462,155 (1,668,202) 13,461,063 21,255,016
(1,683,947) 63,761 (95,015) (1,715,201)
(573,933) (91,114) - (665,047)
(2,257,880) (27,353) (95,015) (2,380,248)
7,204,275 (1,695,555) 13,366,048 18,874,768
2021
At January 01, Recft')tgnlzeld n Recognised in At December
2021 profit and loss ocl 31, 2021
account
(Rupees in '000)
6,390,263 (1,217,961) - 5,172,302
(1,697,416) - 3,002,318 1,304,902
1,381,087 92,722 (757,004) 716,805
1,833,191 398,551 - 2,231,742
(131,623) - 168,027 36,404
7,775,502 (726,688) 2,413,341 9,462,155
(646,666) 30,134 (1,067,415) (1,683,947)
(729,569) 155,636 - (573,933)
(1,376,235) 185,770 (1,067,415) (2,257,880)
6,399,267 (540,918) 1,345,926 7,204,275
Note 2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------
48,134,777 25,128,445
13.2 3,463,398 2,771,265
13.1 2,514,314 4,144,088
374 2,517,968 2,077,069
2,960,752 365,000
2,831,134 4,069,229
2,030,996 652,112
231 22,900 8,476
254,279 158,508
418,454 206,616
13.3 40,800 196,640
2,144,988 1,177,703
19 16,502,130 11,421,246
561,390 676,483
208,047 111,180
632,418 564,693
1,637,304 1,877,987
86,876,049 55,606,740
13.4 (1,244,972) (1,163,055)
85,631,077 54,443,685
21.2 - 16,704
85,631,077 54,460,389
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131

13.2

13.3

13.3.1

13.3.2

13.3.3

The Income Tax returns of the Bank have been filed up to the tax year 2022 (accounting year ended December 31, 2021)
and were deemed to be assessed under section 120 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (Ordinance).

The income tax authorities have issued amended assessment orders for the tax years 2003 to 2021, and created additional
tax demands (including disallowances of provisions made prior to Seventh Schedule) of Rs.14,695 million (2021: Rs.13,752
million) . The Bank has filed appeals before the various appellate forums against these amendments. Where the appellate
authorities have allowed relief on certain issues, the assessing authorities have filed appeals before higher appellate forums.
Where the appellate authorities have not allowed relief the Bank has filed appeals before higher appellate forums. The
management of the Bank is confident that the appeals will be decided in favor of the Bank.

The tax returns for Azad Kashmir (AK) and Gilgit Baltistan (GB) branches have been filed upto the tax year 2022
(accounting year ended December 31, 2021) under the provisions of section 120(1) read with section 114 of the Ordinance
and in compliance with the terms of the agreement between banks and the Azad Kashmir Council in May 2005. The returns
filed are considered as deemed assessment orders under the law.

The tax authorities have also carried out monitoring for Federal Excise Duty, Sales tax and withholding taxes covering period
from year ended 2005 to 2019. Consequently various addbacks and demands were raised creating a total demand of Rs.
2,632 million (2021: Rs. 2,632 million). The Bank has filed appeals against all such demands and is confident that these
would be decided in the favor of the Bank.

The tax returns for Yemen have been filed upto the year ended December 31, 2019 and for UAE and Qatar branches upto
the year ended December 31, 2021 under the provisions of the laws prevailing in the respective countries, and are deemed
as assessed unless opened for reassessment.

Unrealised mark-up held in suspense amounting to Rs. 26,547.699 million (2021: Rs. 16,929.481 million) against non-
performing overseas advances has been netted off.
2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------

Market value of Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims 40,800 213,344

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims have been revalued by independent professional valuer as at
December 31, 2022. The revaluation was carried out by M/s. Asif Associates (Private) Limited on the basis of an
assessment of present market values and resulted in a net reversal of deficit of Rs. 17.782 million.

Note 2022 2021
Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims ~ ceeeee (Rupees in '000) -------
Opening balance 213,344 203,316
Additions - -
Revaluation during the year - 15,208
Disposals 13.3.3 (188,336) -
Depreciation 29 (34,827) (5,180)
Impairment - -
Other adjustments 50,619 -
Closing balance 40,800 213,344
Loss on disposal of Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Note 2022 2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

Disposal proceeds 180,000 -

Less:

- Cost less accumulated depreciation 155,750 -

- Surplus 32,586 -
13.3.2 188,336 -

Loss (8,336) -
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14.

15.

16.
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Advances and other receivables
Receivable against fraud & forgery and looted notes
Others

Movement in provision held against other assets

Opening balance

Exchange adjustments

Charge / (reversals)
Charge for the year
Reversals for the year

Transfers out - net

Amounts written off
Closing balance

CONTINGENT ASSETS

There were no contingent assets as at December 31, 2022 (2021: Nil).

BILLS PAYABLE

In Pakistan
Outside Pakistan

BORROWINGS

Secured
Borrowings from the SBP under:
Export refinance scheme
Refinance facility for modernization of SME
Long term financing facility
Refinance scheme for payment of wages and salaries
Renewable energy scheme
Temporary economic refinance facility
Refinance facility for combating COVID-19
Repurchase agreement borrowings
Refinance for women entrepreneurs
Financing facility for storage of agriculture products
Mudarbaha base open market operations (OMO)

Repurchase agreement borrowings from other banks

Unsecured
Call borrowings

Overdrawn nostro accounts

Note

32

16.2
16.3
16.4
16.5
16.6
16.7
16.8
16.9
16.10
16.11
16.12

16.13

16.14

2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------
54,834 54,674
632,418 564,693
557,720 543,688
1,244,972 1,163,055
1,163,055 1,392,976
74,408 28,541
165,347 33,348
(154,074) (201,953)
11,273 (168,605)
(348) (41,160)
(3,416) (48,697)
1,244,972 1,163,055
30,473,754 25,898,903
6,000,263 894,067
36,474,017 26,792,970
41,707,841 38,881,750
543,586 5,100
17,390,998 20,056,964
427,410 3,225,644
767,091 513,403
17,072,471 9,972,210
431,902 390,962
419,211,752 | | 417,755,950
26,624 18,487
48,125 -
19,436,837 -
517,064,637 490,820,470
6.792.865 54,783,321
523,857,502 545,603,791
39,830,000 15,885,337
831,086 1,795,622
40,661,086 17,680,959
564,518,588 563,284,750
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16.1

16.2

16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7

16.8

16.9

16.10

16.11

16.12

16.13

16.14

2022 2021
Particulars of borrowings with respect to currencies ~ eeeeee (Rupees in '000) -------

In local currency 556,894,637 545,603,791
In foreign currencies 7,623,951 17,680,959
564,518,588 563,284,750

The Bank has entered into an agreement with the SBP for extending export finance to customers. As per the terms of the
agreement, the Bank has granted the SBP the right to recover the outstanding amounts from the Bank at the date of
maturity of the finances by directly debiting the Bank's current account maintained with the SBP. These borrowings are
repayable within six months, latest by June 2023. These carry mark-up at rates ranging from 0.00% to 12.00% (2021: 1.00%
to 2.00%) per annum.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under a scheme to finance modernization of Small and Medium
Enterprises by providing financing facilities for setting up of new units, purchase of new plant and machinery for Balancing,
Modernization and Replacement (BMR) of existing units and financing for import / local purchase of new generators upto a
maximum capacity of 500 KVA. These borrowings are repayable latest by May 2030 and carry mark-up at rates of 3.00%
(2021: 2.00%) per annum.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP for providing financing facilities to exporters for adoption of new
technologies and modernization of their plant and machinery. These borrowings are repayable latest by August 2032. These
carry mark-up at rates ranging from 2.00% to 9.70% (2021: 2.00% to 9.70%) per annum.

In order to dampen effects of COVID-19, the State Bank of Pakistan has introduced conventional and Islamic temporary
refinance schemes for payment of wages and salaries to the workers and employees of the business concerns. These
borrowings are repayable latest by January 2023. These carry mark-up / profit at rates ranging from 0.00% to 2.00% (2021:
0.00% to 1.00%) per annum.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP for providing financing facilities to address challenges of energy
shortage and climate change through promotion of renewable energy. These borrowings are repayable latest by May 2032.
These carry mark-up at rates ranging from 1.00% to 3.00% (2021: 2.00% to 3.00%) per annum.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under a scheme to provide concessionary refinance for setting up of
new industrial units in the backdrop of challenges being faced by industries post pandemic scenario. These carry mark-up at
rates ranging from 1.00% to 3.00% (2021: 1.00% to 1.25%) per annum and are due to mature latest by August 2032.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under a scheme to provide the emergency refinance facility to hospitals
& medical centre to develop capacity for the treatment of COVID-19 patients. These carry mark-up at 2.00% (2021: 0.00%)
per annum and are due to mature latest by September 2026.

This represents repurchase agreement borrowing from SBP at rates ranging from 16.11% to 16.21% (2021: 9.95% to
10.07%) per annum having maturity upto March 2023. The market value of securities given as collateral against these
borrowings is given in note 8.2.1.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under a scheme to provide refinance for women entrepreneurs in the
underserved areas of the country. These carry mark-up at 0.00% (2021: 0.00%) per annum and are due to mature latest by
April 2027.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under a scheme to provide refinance for storage of agricultural
products in rural areas. These carry mark-up at 2.00% (2021: Nil) per annum and are due to mature latest by March 2026.

These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under Mudarabah Financing Facility Agreement for Open market
Operations (OMO) for placements financing by SBP under the prescribe terms and conditions. These carry mark-up at
16.25% (2021: Nil) per annum and are due to mature latest by February 2023.

These repurchase agreement borrowings from other banks are secured against 'Foreign bonds - sovereign' and carry mark-
up at 6.32% (2021: 9.75% to 10.70%) per annum. These borrowings are repayable latest by March 2023. The market value
of securities given as collateral against these borrowings is given in note 8.2.1.

These are unsecured borrowings carrying mark-up at 15.6% to 16.2% (2021: 1.20% to 2.09%) per annum, and are
repayable latest by January 2023.
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17.2

18.

DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2022 2021
In Local In Forellgn Total In Local In Forelgn Total
Currency Currencies Currency Currencies
Note (Rupees in '000)
Customers
Current accounts - remunerative 4,104,403 12,136,002 16,240,405 2,528,236 6,001,961 8,530,197
Current accounts - non-remunerative 664,860,887 168,211,589 833,072,476 633,109,393 117,505,435 750,614,828
Savings deposits 580,708,939 54,787,271 635,496,210 574,380,924 48,883,320 623,264,244
Term deposits 162,072,945 130,362,096 292,435,041 134,138,693 135,909,226 270,047,919
Sundry deposits 4,437,495 2,150,060 6,587,555 9,313,881 1,283,385 10,597,266
Margin deposits 7,191,728 3,977,673 11,169,401 4,356,837 3,149,326 7,506,163
1,423,376,397 371,624,691 1,795,001,088  1,357,827,964 312,732,653 1,670,560,617
Financial Institutions
Current deposits 18,727,195 3,289,623 22,016,818 35,723,146 3,186,112 38,909,258
Savings deposits 16,002,797 86,058 16,088,855 16,824,931 54,784 16,879,715
Term deposits 2,232,603 3,027,450 5,260,053 18,612,650 5,981,525 24,594,175
36,962,595 6,403,131 43,365,726 71,160,727 9,222,421 80,383,148
17.2  1,460,338,992 378,027,822 1,838,366,814  1,428,988,691 321,955,074 1,750,943,765
2022 2021
Composition of deposits e (Rupees in '000) ---------
- Individuals 1,146,706,153 998,444,542
- Government (Federal and Provincial) 119,289,576 136,084,730
- Public Sector Entities 85,811,251 100,639,787
- Banking Companies 8,397,192 29,086,274
- Non-Banking Financial Institutions 34,968,534 51,296,874
- Private Sector 443,194,108 435,391,558

1,838,366,814  1,750,943,765

This includes deposits eligible to be covered under insurance arrangements in accordance with DPC Circular No. 04 dated
June 22, 2018, amounting to Rs. 1,174,510.768 million (2021: Rs. 1,078,654.532 million).

SUBORDINATED DEBT

The Bank has issued fully paid up, rated, listed, perpetual, unsecured, subordinated, non-cumulative and contingent
convertible debt instruments in the nature of Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) under Section 66 of the Companies Act,
2017 which qualify as Additional Tier | Capital as outlined by State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) under BPRD Circular No. 6 dated

August 15, 2013.

Salient features of the Additional Tier 1 issue are as follows:

Issue Size Rs. 10,000 million

Issue Date January 29, 2019

Tenor Perpetual (i.e. no fixed or final redemption date)

Rating “AA+" (Double A Plus) by VIS Credit Rating Company Limited
Security Unsecured

Mark-up rate

The TFCs shall carry mark-up at the rate of 3 Month KIBOR + 1.55%.

Mark-up payment frequency

Profit / Mark-up shall be payable quarterly in arrears, on a non-cumulative basis.

Call option

The Bank may, at its sole discretion, call the TFCs, at any time after five years from the Issue Date subject
to the prior approval of the SBP.

Lock-in clause

Mark-up on the TFCs shall only be paid from the current year's earnings and if the Bank is fully compliant
with SBP’s Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR), Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) and Liquidity Ratio (LR)
requirements.

Loss absorbency clause

The TFCs shall, at the discretion of the SBP, be either permanently converted into ordinary shares or|
permanently written off (partially or in full) pursuant to the loss absorbency clause as stipulated in the
“Instructions for Basel Il Implementation in Pakistan” issued vide BPRD Circular No. 6 dated August 15,

2013.
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19.

19.1

19.1.1

19.2

OTHER LIABILITIES

Mark-up / return / interest payable in local currency
Mark-up / return / interest payable in foreign currencies
Accrued expenses

Branch adjustment account

Deferred income

Unearned commission and income on bills discounted
Provision against off-balance sheet obligations
Unrealised loss on forward foreign exchange contracts
Unrealised loss on derivative financial instruments
Liability against trading of securities

Provision for post-retirement medical benefits
Payable to staff retirement fund

Provision for compensated absences

Deferred liabilities

Workers' Welfare Fund payable

Liabilities against card settlement

Insurance payable against consumer assets
Dividends payable

Unclaimed dividends

Acceptances

Charity fund balance

Lease liability against right-of-use assets

Levies and taxes payable

Others

Provision against off-balance sheet obligations

Opening balance

Exchange adjustments

Charge / (reversal)
Charge for the year

Reversals for the year

Transfer out

Closing balance

This represents provision recognized against guarantees of non-performing customers.

Deferred liabilities

End of service benefits - Overseas branches

End of service benefits - Outsourced services

Note

19.4

19.1

37.4
37.4

19.2
30

19.5

13

19.3

32

19.1.1

2022

2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

39,684,708 15,032,556
1,094,717 863,563
5,364,561 4,416,101

556,451 479,517
1,046,001 997,320
183,945 231,988
882,445 730,630
608,811 1,156,024

1,357 -

- 1,521,590
2,628,679 2,175,874
37,824 103,685
860,544 835,134
967,918 590,579
6,861,753 5,522,416
414,697 40,996
380,743 477,866
8,226,111 2,762,515
321,619 292,141
16,502,130 11,421,246
6,922 4,039
9,418,000 8,412,023
2,622,779 3,017,195
1,700,719 1,416,877
100,373,434 62,501,875
730,630 1,065,233
187,328 14,927
5405 8,819
(40,918) (353,069)
(35,513) (344,250)
- (5,280)
882,445 730,630
623,292 458,228
344,626 132,351
967,918 590,579
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19.4

19.5

20.

20.1

20.2

20.3

20.4

20.5

116 | United Bank Limited I 1 | NN 1] Annual Report 2022 | 117

The total cash outflow for leases during the year was Rs. 2,884.117 million (2021: Rs. 2,649.400 million).

This includes deferred income of IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" on account of fee of debit and credit
cards, guarantee commission and locker rent.

This amount represents dividend payable to foreign shareholders subject to completion of regulatory formalities.
SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised Capital

2022 2021 2022 2021
(Number of shares) e (Rupees in '000) -------
2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 20,000,000 20,000,000

Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital

2022 2021 2022 2021
(Number of shares) e (Rupees in '000) -------
Fully paid-up ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each
518,000,000 518,000,000 Issued for cash 5,180,000 5,180,000
706,179,687 706,179,687 Issued as bonus shares 7,061,797 7,061,797
1,224,179,687 _1,224,179,687 12,241,797 12,241,797

In 2007, the Bank was admitted to the official list of the UK Listing Authority and to the London Stock Exchange
Professional Securities Market for trading of Global Depository Receipts (GDRs), each representing four ordinary shares
issued by the Bank. The GDRs constitute an offering in the United States only to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on
Rule 144A under the U.S Securities Act of 1933 and an offering outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S.

Holders of GDRs are entitled, subject to the provisions of the depository agreement, to receive dividends, if any, and rank
pari passu with other equity shareholders in respect of such entitlement. However, the holders of GDRs have no voting
rights or other direct rights of shareholders with respect to the ordinary shares underlying such GDRs. Subject to the terms
and restrictions set out in the offering circular dated June 25, 2007, the deposited ordinary shares in respect of which the
GDRs were issued may be withdrawn by the GDR holders from the depository facility. Upon withdrawal, the holders will
rank pari passu with other ordinary shareholders in respect of voting powers. As at December 31, 2022, 242,278 (2021:
242,278) GDRs, representing 969,112 (2021: 969,112) shares are in issue.

Major shareholders (holding more than 5% of total paid-up capital)

2022 2021

Number of Percentage of Number of Percentage of
Name of shareholder shares held shareholding shares held shareholding
Bestway International Holdings Limited 631,728,895 51.60% 631,728,895 51.60%
Bestway Cement Limited 93,649,744 7.65% 93,649,744 7.65%

2022 2021

Shares of the Bank held by its associates @~ e (Number of shares) -------
UBL Financial Sector Fund 1,673,279 1,409,693
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21.

211

21.2

22.

SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS

(Deficit) / Surplus arising on revaluation of:
- Available for sale securities
- Fixed assets

- Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Deferred tax on (deficit) / surplus on revaluation of:
- Available for sale securities
- Fixed assets

- Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets as at January 01,

Recognised during the year

Realised on disposal during the year

Exchange adjustments

Transferred to unappropriated profit in respect of incremental
depreciation - net of deferred tax

Related deferred tax liability on incremental depreciation

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets as at December 31,

Less: Related deferred tax liability on
- Revaluation as at January 01,
- Revaluation recognised during the year
- Surplus realised on disposal of fixed assets during the year
- Other adjustments
- Exchange adjustments
- Incremental depreciation charged during the year
- Revaluation as at December 31,

Surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets

Surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets as at January 01,
Revaluation of non-banking assets during the year

Other adjustments

Realised on disposal during the year

Surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets as at December 31,

Less: Related deferred tax liability on
- Revaluation as at January 01,
- Revaluation of non-banking assets during the year

- Surplus realised on disposal of non-banking assets during the year

- Other adjustments
- Revaluation as at December 31,

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Guarantees
Commitments
Other contingent liabilities

Note

8.1
211
21.2

12
211
21.2

221
222
22.3

2022

2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

(36,280,464) (3,345,902)
41,481,000 41,764,572
- 16,704
5,200,536 38,435,374
(15,600,599) (1,304,902)
1,715,201 1,677,432
- 6,515
(13,885,398) 379,045
19,085,934 38,056,329
41,764,572 25,630,817
- 16,214,990
(138,121) (4,804)
5,324 2,746
(87,014) (48,298)
(63,761) (30,879)
41,481,000 41,764,572
1,677,432 646,083
- 1,044,814
(1,975) (1,689)
103,505 18,032
: 1,071
(63,761) (30,879)
1,715,201 1,677,432
39,765,799 40,087,140
16,704 1,496
- 15,208
15,882 -
(32,586) -
- 16,704
6,515 583
. 5,932
(7,183) -
668 -
- 6,515
- 10,189
220,370,427 167,884,838
1,111,169,863 | | 947,939,838
14,822,814 16,452,188

1,346,363,104

1,132,276,864
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22.2

22.21

22.2.2

22.2.3

Note 2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------
Guarantees:

Financial guarantees 84,241,944 55,725,856
Performance guarantees 129,275,378 107,821,730
Other guarantees 6,853,105 4,337,252
220,370,427 167,884,838
Commitments:
Documentary credits and short-term trade-related transactions
- letters of credit 212,235,272 169,653,706
Commitments in respect of:
- forward foreign exchange contracts 2222 703,834,168 652,382,419
- forward government securities transactions 22.2.3 42,757,100 11,780,000
- derivatives 2224 572,342 1,808,940
- forward lending 22.2.5 149,185,701 109,605,370
- operating leases 22.2.6 103,099 99,911
896,452,410 775,676,640
Commitments for acquisition of:
- fixed assets 1,544,753 1,049,017
- intangible assets 937,428 1,560,475
2,482,181 2,609,492
1,111,169,863 947,939,838

Commitments to extend credit

The Bank makes commitments to extend credit in the normal course of its business but these being revocable
commitments do not attract any significant penalty or expense if the facility is unilaterally withdrawn.

Note 2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------
Commitments in respect of forward foreign

exchange contracts

Purchase 379,231,558 350,490,749
Sale 324,602,610 301,891,670
703,834,168 652,382,419

Commitments in respect of forward government

securities transactions

Purchase 23.1 41,457,100 9,081,000
Sale 23.1 1,300,000 2,699,000
42,757,100 11,780,000
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22.2.4

22.2.5

22.2.5.1

22.2.6
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22.31

22.3.2

22.3.3

23.

Note 2022 2021
Commitments in respect of derivatives e (Rupees in '000) -------
FX options
Purchase 231 286,171 904,470
Sale 231 286,171 904,470
572,342 1,808,940
Commitments in respect of forward lending
Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and
other commitments to lend 22.2.51 92,346,042 63,017,022
Others 56,839,659 46,588,348
149,185,701 109,605,370

These represent commitments that are irrevocable because they cannot be withdrawn at the discretion of the Bank without
the risk of incurring significant penalty or expense.

Note 2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------
Commitments in respect of operating leases

Not later than one year 103,099 99,661

Later than one year and not later than five years - 22

Later than five years - 228
103,099 99,911

Other contingencies

Claims against the Bank not acknowledged as debts 22.3.2 10,733,511 12,362,885

These mainly represent counter claims filed by the borrowers for restricting the Bank from disposal of assets (such as
mortgaged / pledged assets kept as security).

Based on legal advice and / or internal assessments, management is confident that the matters will be decided in the
Bank's favour and the possibility of any outcome against the Bank is remote and accordingly no provision has been made
in these unconsolidated financial statements.

During 2016, penalties amounting to Rs. 4.089 billion were levied by the FE Adjudication Court of the State Bank of
Pakistan relating to alleged contraventions of the requirements of foreign exchange regulations with respect to issuance
and certification of E-Forms by the Bank to certain customers (exporters) who failed to submit the export documents there
against. Consequently, foreign exchange on account of export proceeds have not been repatriated. The Bank maintains
that it fully discharged its liability, in accordance with the law and has filed a civil suit in the High Court of Sindh challenging
the levy of the penalty. The High Court has granted a stay on action being taken against the Bank. The management,
based on the advice from legal counsel, is confident that the view of the Bank will prevail and the Bank will not be exposed
to any loss on this account.

For contingencies relating to taxation, refer note 13.1.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives are a type of financial contract, the value of which is determined by reference to one or more underlying assets
or indices. The major categories of such contracts include forwards, futures, swaps and options. Derivatives also include
structured financial products that have one or more of the characteristics of forwards, futures, swaps and options.

The Bank, as an Authorised Derivative Dealer (ADD), is an active participant in the Pakistan derivatives market and offers
a wide variety of derivatives products covering both hedging and market making to satisfy customers’ needs. Where

required, specific approval is sought from the SBP for each transaction.

The Risk management policy related to derivatives is discussed in note 45.7
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23.1 Product analysis 23.2 Maturity analysis of derivatives
2022
Forward purchase Forward sale contracts N : Noti I 2022 Mark to Market
. Interest rate swaps FX options contracts of of Government Total Remaining Maturit 0.0 ‘_) 'o_na
Counterparties Government Securities Securities g y contracts principal Negative Positive Net
(Rupees in '000)
Notional Mark to Notional Mark to Notional Mark to Notional Mark to Notional Mark to
OUONaL market o 0@ market otona market otona  arket otonan  arket Upto 1 month 30 36,637,442 (1,357) 19,760 18,403
principal . principal . principal . principal principal X
gain gain gain loss gain 1 to 3 months 3 6,692,000 - 3,140 3,140
(Rupees in '000) 3 to 6 months - - - -

With banks for 6 months to 1 year - - - - -
Hedaing - - 286,171 - - - - - 286,171 - 1to 2 years - - - - -
Market making - - - - || 16,000,000 5492 |[ 1,300,000 (384)] | 17,300,000 5,108 2 to 3 years - - - - -

286,171 - 16,000,000 5,492 1,300,000 (384) 17,586,171 5,108 310 5 vears _ _ _ _ _

With Fls other than Banks for Y
Hedaing - - . N _ . - _ _ _ 5to 10 years - - - - -
Market making - - - - 7,963,900 5,805 - - 7,963,900 5,805 Above 10 years - - - - -

. . : - 7963800 580 : - T963%00 580 33 43,329,442 (1,357) 22,900 21,543

With other entities for

Hedging - - - - - - . - - -
Market making - - 286,171 - 17,493,200 10,630 - - 17,779,371 10,630 2021
- - 286,171 - 17,493,200 10,630 - - 17,779,371 10,630 L. . No. of Notional Mark to Market
Total Remaining Maturity s - —
. contracts principal Negative Positive Net
Hedging - - 286,171 - - - - R 286,171 B = -
Market making - - 286,171 - ||41457100 || 21,927 || 1,300,000 (384)| | 43,043,271 21,543 (Rupees in "000)
- - 572,342 - 41,457,100 21,927 1,300,000 (384) 43,329,442 21,543
Upto 1 month 15 1,088,140 - 1,047 1,047
2021 1 to 3 months 18 9,893,490 - 7,374 7,374
. Forward purchase Forward sale contracts 3 to 6 months 3 2607.310 - 55 55

Counterparties . ' ’

Interest rate swaps FX options contracts of government of government Total 6 months to 1 vear _ _ _ _ _

securities securities y

1to 2 years - - - - -

Notional Mark to Notional Mark to Notional Mark to Notional Mark to Notional Mark to 2o 3 years ) ) ) ) )

o market g market o market o market o market 3to 5 years - - - - -
principal . principal . principal . principal . principal .

gain gain gain gain gain 5to0 10 years _ _ _ . .

(Rupees in '000) 36 13,588,940 - 8,476 8,476

With banks for
Hedging - - 904,470 - - - 2,500,000 55 3,404,470 55 2022 2021
Market making - - - - - - - - - - .

- - 904,470 - - - 2,500,000 55 3404470 55 e (Rupees in '000) -------

With Fls other than Banks for 24, MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EARNED
Hedging - - - - - - 199,000 1,047 199,000 1,047
Market making - - - - - - - - - - On:

- - - - - - 199,000 1,047 199,000 1,047 ’

With other entities for Loans and advances 70,553,650 39,108,151
Hedging - - - - 9,081,000 7,374 - - 9,081,000 7,374 Investments 172,471,201 106,242,797
Market making - - 9031278 - = — - - 904,370 - Lendings to financial institutions 6,182,330 2,079,192

fota ] - L L ] 9885410 ] Balances with banks 1,471,497 544,015
Hedging - - 904,470 B 9,081,000 7.374 |[ 2,699,000 1,102 | [ 12,684,470 8,476 250,678,678 147,974,155
Market making - - 904,470 - - - - - 904,470 -

- 1,808,940 - 9,081,000 7,374 2,699,000 1,102 13,588,940 8,476 25. MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EXPENSED
On:
Deposits 109,054,016 57,310,275
Borrowings 33,157,365 14,046,041
Subordinated debt 1,511,490 901,417
Cost of foreign currency swaps against foreign currency deposits / borrowings 2,685,113 2,993,848
Lease liability against right-of-use assets 1,061,373 964,050

147,469,357 76,215,631
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26. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Branch banking customer fees
Consumer finance related fees

Card related fees (debit and credit cards)
Investment banking fees

Financial institution rebate / commission
Corporate service charges / facility fee
Commission on trade

Commission on guarantees

Commission on cash management
Commission on remittances including home remittances - net
Commission on bancassurance

Rent on lockers

Others

27. GAIN ON SECURITIES - NET

Realised
Unrealised - held for trading

271 Realised gain on:

Federal Government securities
Shares
Foreign securities

28. OTHER INCOME

Charges recovered

Rent on properties

Gain on sale of fixed assets - net

Gain on wind-up of subsidiary

(Loss) / gain on sale of ljarah assets - net
Loss on disposal of non-banking assets - net
Gain on trading liabilities - net

Note

271
8.1

8.11

13.3.3 & 28.1

2022

2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

2,331,305 1,755,824
1,075,178 1,098,806
3,056,532 2,519,265
304,489 479,830
582,491 364,083
802,590 473,528
1,282,316 642,754
677,769 600,046
1,114,635 979,969
2,568,220 2,231,221
1,605,442 1,543,168
203,924 202,623
266,300 172,856
15,871,191 13,063,973
467,076 3,741,248
(661) 16,282
466,415 3,757,530
378,156 1,241,594
41,385 574,559
47,535 1,925,095
467,076 3,741,248
402,317 268,231
70,620 70,827
102,240 32,655
6,778,877 103,993
(1,292) 3,928
(8,336) -
204,584 30,883
7,549,010 510,517

28.1 The bank incurred a net loss of Rs 8.336 million (2021: Nil) against the sale of non-banking assets.
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29. OPERATING EXPENSES
Total compensation expense

Property expense

Rent and taxes

Insurance

Utilities cost

Security (including guards)

Repair and maintenance (including janitorial charges)

Depreciation on owned fixed assets

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Depreciation on non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims
Others

Information technology expenses
Software maintenance

Hardware maintenance
Depreciation

Amortisation

Network charges

Consultancy charges

Other operating expenses

Legal and professional charges
Commission paid to branchless banking agents
Commission paid to sales force
Outsourced service costs

Travelling and conveyance

Clearing charges

Depreciation

Depreciation on Islamic financing against leased assets
Training and development

Postage and courier charges
Communication

Stationery and printing

Marketing, advertisement and publicity
Donations

Auditors' remuneration

Insurance

Deposit protection premium expense
Cash transportation and sorting charges
Entertainment

Vehicle expenses

Subscription

Office running expenses

Banking service charges

Repairs and maintenance

Cartage, freight and conveyance
Miscellaneous expenses

Note

29.1

29.5

10.2
10.2
13.3.2

10.2
111

10.2

29.3
29.4

2022

2021

(Rupees in '000) -------

19,713,745 16,522,421
1,133,669 954,004
287,224 250,254
2,534,569 1,648,792
1,224,317 1,011,412
337,193 317,940
1,184,120 807,536
2,097,830 1,928,943
34,827 5,180
32,917 31,611
8,866,666 6,955,672
1,989,552 1,480,019
515,600 392,971
997,411 823,801
814,607 801,197
741,740 731,331
282,327 240,587
5,341,237 4,469,906
1,424,014 761,731
357,016 388,782
1,697,671 1,405,699
1,734,019 1,361,284
196,405 136,997
250,125 211,543
1,411,579 1,217,678
146,494 169,954
85,559 53,024
436,092 373,349
363,514 397,628
1,014,288 807,542
930,959 725,050
211,140 134,236
107,028 106,489
104,487 95,281
1,725,847 1,586,701
910,810 833,196
246,906 176,004
158,370 99,983
119,739 91,294
190,833 168,619
2,982,201 2,220,659
1,002,633 791,025
48,875 48,508
506,090 435,088
18,362,694 14,797,344
52,284,342 42,745,343
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291

29.2

Total compensation expense

Non- Executive Directors' fees
Shariah Board's fees and allowances
Managerial Remuneration

i) Fixed

ii) Variable - Cash Bonus
Charge for defined benefit plan
Contribution to defined contribution plan
Charge for compensated absences
Rent & house maintenance
Utilities
Medical
Conveyance
Group assurance premium
Others
Sub-total
Awards

Severance allowance
Grand Total

Awards
Severance allowance

39.2
39.3

2022

2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

89,550 75,300
11,586 10,548
10,227,690 9,223,548
2,322,658 1,128,725
348,798 579,028
434,928 393,269
200,322 39,083
2,713,526 2,451,373
1,451,856 1,318,074
989,434 819,360
824,411 355,754
91,655 19,796

331 96
19,706,745 16,413,954
7,000 108,467
19,713,745 16,522,421

Number of person

Total cost for the year included in other operating expenses relating to outsourced activities is Rs. 2,087.590 million (2021:
Rs. 1,712.093 million). This cost includes outsourced service costs, which are disclosed specifically in note 29. Of the total
cost of Rs. 2,087.590 million (2021: Rs. 1,712.093 million), Rs. 1,844,071 million (2021: Rs. 1,465.852 million) pertains to the
payment to companies incorporated in Pakistan and Rs. 243.520 million (2021: Rs. 246.241 million) pertains to payment to
companies incorporated outside Pakistan. This includes payments other than outsourced services costs, which are disclosed

above. Total cost of outsourced activities for the year given to related parties is Nil (2021: Nil).

The material outsourcing arrangements along with their nature of services are as follows:

Name of service provider

TCS (Private) Limited

Paradise Press (Private) Limited
APEX Printry (Private) Limited
Printlink

ASC First Solution (Private) Limited
Raaziq International

Phoenix Armour (Pvt) Limited

Askari Guards (Pvt) Limited
Wackenhut Pakistan (Private) Limited
Qadri Enterprises

EBRYX Technologies F.Z.C

Type of service

Statement of account printing

and dispatching
Cheque book printing services
Cheque book printing services
Cheque book printing services
Storage and digital archiving services
Storage and digital archiving services
Cash Replenishment
Cash Replenishment
Cash Replenishment
Key Punch
IT security gateway solution

2022

2021

87,248 80,219
59,901 45,152
74,508 55,531
61,322 46,115
5,525 5,322
19,864 15,706
15,678 -
16,669 -
1,667 25,130
11,189 9,061
- 68,573
353,571 350,809
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29.3

294

29.5

30.

Details of donations

Donations individually exceeding Rs.0.5 million
Bestway Foundation

Habib University

Indus Hospital

Shaukat Khanum Memorial Trust

Namal Educational Foundation

The Noorani Foundation

Lahore University of Management Sciences
Saylani Welfare International Trust

Shalamar Hospital

Forman Christian College

The Citizens Foundation

Sahara for Life Trust

Marie Adelaide Leprosy Center

Patients Aid Foundation

Jinnah Foundation

Family Educational Services Foundation
Patients Behbud Society for AKUH

Kashmir Education Foundation

Nasra Schools

Memon Medical Institute Hospital

Hisaar Foundation

Afzaal Memorial Thalassemia Foundation
National Institute of Child Health through OAKS
Million Smiles Foundation

Karachi Down Syndrome Program

SOS Children's Village

Chal Foundation

Donations individually not exceeding Rs. 0.5 million

Auditors' remuneration

Audit fee

Fee for statutory certifications and other services
Tax and consultancy services

Out of pocket expenses

Audit fee

Fee for statutory certifications and other services
Tax and consultancy services

Out of pocket expenses

2022 2021
------- (Rupees in '000) -------

110,000 -

15,200 -

10,000 -
- 35,000
- 30,000
- 20,000
10,000 10,000
10,000 10,000
5,000 5,000
- 5,000
- 3,400
- 3,294
1,000 850
5,000 3,000
1,500 1,000
2,500 1,350
3,750 1,540
3,800 2,519
2,500 1,783

6,750 -

5,000 -

5,000 -

4,000 -

3,600 -

3,240 -

1,800 -

1,500 -
- 500
211,140 134,236

2022
Domestic Overseas Total
------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------
19,258 43,940 63,198
14,521 2,448 16,969
10,580 9,115 19,695
5,357 1,809 7,166
49,716 57,312 107,028
2021
Domestic Overseas Total
------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------

17,280 30,373 47,653
39,006 4,227 43,233
6,061 1,375 7,436
7,447 720 8,167
69,794 36,695 106,489

This includes expense in respect of short term leases and low value assets not included in lease liabilities amounting to Rs.
26.318 million (2021: Rs. 32.860 million) and Rs. 0.006 million (2021: Rs. 0.007 million) respectively.

WORKERS' WELFARE FUND

The Bank has made provision for Workers' Welfare Fund (WWF) based on profit for the respective years.
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31.

32.

33.

33.1

34.

35.

Note 2022 2021
OTHERCHARGES e (Rupees in '000) ----------
Penalties imposed by the SBP 45172 164,032
Penalties imposed by other regulatory bodies of overseas branches 3,690 34,525
48,862 198,557

PROVISIONS / (REVERSALS) AND WRITE-OFFS - NET
(Reversal) / provision against loans and advances - net 9.4 (2,940,041) 1,239,990
Provision / (reversal) for diminution in value of investments - net 8.3 19,061,905 (1,271,498)
Bad debts written off directly 9.6 35,871 42,643
Provision / (reversal) against other assets 13.41 11,273 (168,605)
Reversal against off - balance sheet obligations 19.1 (35,513) (344,250)
Recoveries against written off / charged off bad debts (620,082) (633,138)
Reversal of deficit on revaluation of fixed assets - (196,888)
Other provisions / write-offs 155,933 376,339

15,669,346 (955,407)
TAXATION
Current 30,870,770 20,893,122
Prior years 3,681,026 (189,010)
Deferred 1,695,555 540,918

36,247,351 21,245,030
Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit
Accounting profit for the year 68,310,006 52,127,153
Tax on income @ 39% (2021: 35%) 26,640,902 18,244,504
Super tax @ 10% (2021: 4%) 6,831,001 2,085,086
Prior year charge 3,681,026 (189,010)
Additional tax charge under sub rule 6A - 800,223
Tax effect of permanent differences 23,942 77,437
Others (929,520) 226,790
Tax charge 36,247,351 21,245,030
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Profit after taxation for the year 32,062,655 30,882,123

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,224,179,687

1,224,179,687

---------- (Rupees) ----------

Basic and diluted earnings per share 26.19 25.23
There were no convertible dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding as at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Note 2022 2021
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS e (Rupees in '000) -------
Cash and balances with treasury banks 5 143,004,094 267,937,282
Balances with other banks 6 15,692,567 23,363,057

158,696,661 291,300,339
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35.1

36.

36.1

37.

371

37141

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Balance as at January 01,

Changes from financing cash flows
Payment of lease liability

against right-of-use assets

Dividend paid

Total changes from financing cash flows

Other Changes

- Liability related

Cash dividend

Interest expense on lease liability
against right-of-use assets
Non-cash based

Total other changes
- Equity related

Balance as at December 31,

STAFF STRENGTH

Permanent

On contract

Bank's own staff strength
Outsourced

Total

2022 2021
Lease liability . . Lease liability - .
against right-of- Dmde;lds Unappro;:_ntnated against right-of- D|V|de:Ids Unappro:?:lated
use assets payable protf use assets payable proft
(Rupees in '000)
8,412,023 3,054,656 84,625,954 7,776,503 357,578 81,916,463
(2,884,117) - - (2,649,400) - -
- (17,766,341) - - (23,622,786) -
(2,884,117)  (17,766,341) - (2,649,400) (23,622,786) -
- 23,259,415 (23,259,415) - 26,319,864 (26,319,864)
1,061,373 - - 964,050 - -
2,828,721 - - 2,320,870 - -
3,890,094 23,259,415 (23,259,415) 3,284,920 26,319,864 (26,319,864)
- - 30,071,613 - - 29,029,355
9,418,000 8,547,730 91,438,152 8,412,023 3,054,656 84,625,954
2022 2021
Note (Number of employees)
Domestic Overseas Total Domestic Overseas Total
12,054 222 12,276 11,420 212 11,632
30 7 37 11 2 13
12,084 229 12,313 11,431 214 11,645
36.1 1,382 27 1,409 1,542 46 1,588
13,466 256 13,722 12,973 260 13,233

This excludes employees of outsourced services companies assigned to the Bank to perform services of security guards, admin

and janitorial staff.
DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

General description

The Bank operates the following schemes:

Pension Fund

The Bank operates a funded pension scheme established in 1975. The Pension Scheme was introduced on 1st January 1975 for
Clerical and Non-Clerical employees and on the 1st May 1977 for Officers. Those in service at these dates were given an option

to join the Pension Scheme or stay in the Bank's old gratuity scheme.
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37.1.2 Gratuity scheme

The Bank also operates a funded gratuity scheme for new employees and for those employees who have not opted for the
pension scheme.

37.1.3 Benevolent fund scheme

The Bank also operates a funded benevolent fund scheme which covers all regular employees of the Bank who joined the Bank
pre-privatization. Under this scheme, a fixed monthly subscription is made by employees by way of a salary deduction.
Employees covered under this scheme, are entitled to receive benevolent grants on death, disability, retirement and other
contingencies as monthly grant payment or one-time payment subject to certain conditions as specified in the rules of the fund.

37.1.4 Post retirement medical benefits

The Bank also provides a non-funded post retirement medical benefits to eligible retired employees. The post-retirement medical
scheme cover all regular employees of the Bank who joined the Bank pre-privatization.

37.1.5 Compensated absences

The Bank maintains a non-funded scheme for compensated absences.

37.1.6 Other schemes

37.2

37.3

Employee benefit schemes offered by the Bank’s overseas branches are governed by the laws of the respective countries in
which the branches operate.

Number of Employees under the scheme

The number of employees covered under the following defined benefit schemes are:

2022 2021
---------- (Number) =-==-=----
- Pension fund 584 695
- Gratuity fund 11,516 10,776
- Post-retirement medical benefit scheme 787 959
- Benevolent fund 891 1,062
- Employee compensated absences 891 1,061

In addition to above active employees, pension fund, benevolent fund and post-retirement medical benefit schemes include 6,897
(2021: 7,064), 1,783 (2021: 1,951) and 7,620 (2021: 7,640) members respectively who have retired or whose widows and other
beneficiaries are receiving the benefits.

Principal actuarial assumptions

The actuarial valuations were carried out as at December 31, 2022, using Projected Unit Credit Method. The following significant
assumptions were used for the valuation:

2022 2021
---------- Per annum ----------
Discount rate 14.50% 11.75%
Expected rate of salary increase 12.50% 9.75%
Expected rate of increase in pension 5.00% 5.00%
Expected rate of increase in medical benefit 8.50% 5.75%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 14.50% 11.75%

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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37.4  Pension, gratuity, benevolent fund schemes and other benefits

37.4.1 The fair value of plan assets and the present value of defined benefit obligations of these schemes as at December 31,

2022 are as follows:

2022
Post -
Pension Gratuity  Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit
(Rupees in '000) ------=-=======mmmmmmmmm
Present value of defined benefit obligations (7,986,943) (1,386,100) (235,203) (2,628,679)
Fair value of plan assets 10,439,543 1,348,276 300,571 -
Receivable / (payable) 2,452,600 (37,824) 65,368 (2,628,679)
2021
Post -
Pension Gratuity = Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit
(Rupees in '000) ------=-====-==m=mmmmmmm.
Present value of defined benefit obligations (10,109,150) (1,205,040) (298,047) (2,175,874)
Fair value of plan assets 12,155,659 1,101,355 328,607 -
Receivable / (payable) 2,046,509 (103,685) 30,560 (2,175,874)
37.5 Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations
2022
Post -
Pension Gratuity  Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit
Note (Rupees in '000) =-======mm=mmmmmmmmmmmaee,
Obligations at the beginning of the year 10,109,150 1,205,040 298,047 2,175,874
Current service cost 23,909 190,662 3,163 403
Interest cost 1,051,852 144,397 32,154 248,712
Benefits paid by the Bank (925,466) (200,978) (39,703) (128,357)
Return allocated to other funds 37.8.1 51,499 - - -
Re-measurement (gains) / losses (2,324,001) 46,979 (58,458) 332,047
Obligations at the end of the year 7,986,943 1,386,100 235,203 2,628,679
2021
Post -
Pension Gratuity = Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit
(Rupees in '000) =-======mm=mmmmmmmmmnmaee,
Obligations at the beginning of the year 11,604,939 1,049,184 331,363 2,028,687
Current service cost 23,694 164,282 3,917 471
Interest cost 1,020,574 104,189 29,798 192,584
Benefits paid by the Bank (891,349) (167,607) (40,031) (136,430)
Return allocated to other funds 37.8.1 51,513 - -
Re-measurement (gains) / losses (1,700,221) 54,992 (27,000) 90,562
Obligations at the end of the year 10,109,150 1,205,040 298,047 2,175,874
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37.6

37.7

Movement in fair value of plan assets

2022 2021
Pension Gratuity Benevolent Pension Gratuity  Benevolent
fund fund fund fund fund fund

(Rupees in '000)

Fair value at the beginning of the year 12,155,659 1,101,355 328,607 10,521,021 1,015,218 330,708

Interest income on plan assets 1,371,033 132,872 35,551 1,000,068 101,028 29,737
Contribution by the Bank (1,897,466) 304,996 1,152 1,439,154 132,415 1,384
Contribution by the employees - - 1,152 - - 1,384
Amount paid by the fund to the Bank (864,335) (200,424) (64,452) (1,107,948) (171,523) (40,036)
Re-measurements gains / (losses) (325,348) 9,477 (1,439) 303,364 24,217 5,430

Fair value at the end of the year 10,439,543 1,348,276 300,571 12,155,659 1,101,355 328,607

Movement in (payable) / receivable under defined benefit schemes

2022
Post -
Pension Gratuity  Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit

(Rupees in '000)

Opening balance 2,046,509 (103,685) 30,560 (2,175,874)

Adjustment for mark-up 3,870 1,408 596 -
(Charge) / reversal for the year 243,773 (202,187) 1,386 (249,115)

Contribution by the Bank (1,897,466) 304,996 1,152 -

Amount paid by the Fund to the Bank (864,335) (200,424) (64,452) -
Benefits paid by the Bank 925,466 200,978 39,703 128,357
Re-measurement gains / (losses) recognised in OCI 1,994,783 (38,910) 56,423 (332,047)
Closing balance 2,452,600 (37,824) 65,368 (2,628,679)

2021

Post -
Pension Gratuity Benevolent retirement

fund fund fund medical

benefit

(Rupees in '000)

Opening balance (1,083,918) (33,966) (655) (2,028,687)

Adjustment for Mark-up 2,777 544 199 -
(Charge) / reversal for the year (95,713) (167,443) (2,594) (193,055)

Contribution by the Bank 1,439,154 132,415 1,384 -

Amount paid by the Fund to the Bank (1,107,948) (171,523) (40,036) -
Benefits paid by the Bank 891,349 167,607 40,031 136,430
Re-measurement gains / (losses) recognised in OCI 2,000,808 (31,319) 32,231 (90,562)

Closing balance 2,046,509 (103,685) 30,560  (2,175,874)

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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37.8

37.8.1

37.8.1.1

37.8.2

Charge for defined benefit plans

Cost recognised in profit and loss 2022
Post -
Pension Gratuity Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit
Note  ---—mememeemeeeeeeeeee (Rupees in '000) -=-=-======mme-mmmmmanes
Current service cost 23,909 190,662 3,163 403
Past service cost - - - -
Net interest on defined benefit asset / (liability) (319,181) 11,5625 (3,397) 248,712
Return allocated to other funds 37.8.1.1 51,499 - - -
Employees' contribution - - (1,152) -
(243,773) 202,187 (1,386) 249,115
2021
Post -
Pension Gratuity = Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit
-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -===-======mnmmmmmmmmanan
Current service cost 23,694 164,282 3,917 471
Past service cost - - - -
Net interest on defined benefit asset 20,506 3,161 61 192,584
Return allocated to other funds 51,513 - - -
Employees' contribution - - (1,384) -
95,713 167,443 2,594 193,055

This represents return allocated to those employees who exercised the conversion option offered in the year 2001, as
referred in note 4.12.

Re-measurements recognised in OCI during the year

2022
Post -
Pension Gratuity = Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit

Losses / (gains) on obligation
- Financial assumptions (1,646,138) 21,632 (26,375) 382,797
- Experience adjustment (677,863) 25,347 (32,083) (50,750)

Return on plan assets over interest income 325,348 (9,477) 1,439 -

Adjustment for mark-up 3,870 1,408 596 -

Total re-measurements recognised in OCI (1,994,783) 38,910 (56,423) 332,047

2021
Post -
Pension Gratuity Benevolent retirement
fund fund fund medical
benefit

Losses / (gains) on obligation

- Financial assumptions (1,584,685) 14,089 (28,611) 216,207

- Experience adjustment (115,536) 40,903 1,611 (125,645)
Return on plan assets over interest income (303,364) (24,217) (5,430) -
Adjustment for mark-up 2,777 544 199 -

Total re-measurements recognised in OCI (2,000,808) 31,319 (32,231) 90,562

Re-measurements recongnised in OCI during the year pertaining to other schemes as disclosed in note 37.1.6 is Rs.
15.646 million (2021: Rs. 29.878 million)
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37.9 Components of fair value of plan assets 37.13 Funding Policy

The weighted average duration of the obligation (in years) 6.69 6.70 3.10 7.84

2022 2021
Pension fund Gratuity fund Be"fe"‘(’i'e"t Pension fund Gratuity fund Be“fe"?i'e"t The Bank endeavours to ensure that liabilities under the various employee benefit schemes are covered by the Fund on any
un — un valuation date, based on various actuarial assumptions.
(Rupees in '000)
Cash and cash equivalents - net 57,789 8,181 11,082 1,469,670 20,075 49,037
Ordinary shares 384,888 4,434 10,102 371,767 6,068 13,426 37.14 The significant risks associated with the staff retirement benefit schemes are as follows:
Term deposits - - - 741,376 - -
Non-Government debt securities 743,195 13,956 12,010 394,397 23,000 12,012 -
Mutual funds units - - 6,790 1,113,120 120,560 10,548 Asset Volatility
Pakistan Investment Bonds 8,271,671 1,205,528 242,675 5,798,245 666,061 198,390 . . . . . . o . . .
Market Treasury Bills 982,000 67,540 - 2,267,084 265,567 45,194 The risk arises due to inclusion of risky assets in the funds portfolio, inflation and interest rate volatility.
National Saving Certificates / Bonds - - 17,912 - - -
Repurchase agreements - 48,637 - - 24 - Changes in Bond Yields
10,439,543 1,348,276 300,571 12,155,659 1,101,355 328,607
The risk arises when bond yield is lower than the expected return on the planned assets (duration based PIB discount rate).
37.9.1 The Funds primarily invest in Government Securities and accordingly do not carry any significant credit risk. These are y P P ( )
subject to interest rate risk based on market movements. Investment in Non-Govt debt securities are subject to credit risk Inflation Risk
and interest rate risks, while equity securities are subject to price risk. These risks are regularly monitored by Trustees of ation Ris
the employee funds. . o . . . o . .
The salary inflation is the major risk that the Gratuity and Compensated absences liability carries. In pension fund the
37.10  Sensitivity analysis increase has been determlned by the Supreme Court .and does nqt carry thls risk as the benefit is practlcally no longer
exposed to future salary increases. Some of the post-retirement medical benefits are capped to a proportion of Pension, thus
Sensitivity analysis has been performed by varying one assumption keeping all other assumptions constant and carrying no salary inflation risk. However, the hospitalization benefit is susceptible to medical inflation risk.
calculating the impact on the present value of the defined benefit obligations under the various employee benefit
schemes. The increase / (decrease) in the present value of defined benefit obligations as a result of change in each Withdrawal Risk
assumption is summarized below:
2022 Withdrawal risks is the risk of higher or lower withdrawal experience than assumed. The final effect could go either way
Pensionfund  Gratuity fund Benevolent fund ' OStetirement depending on the beneficiaries’ service/age distribution and the benefit.
medical benefit
(Rupees in '000) .
Increase in Discount Rate by 1 % (736,441) (87,493) (8,197) (255,319) Other Risks
Decrease in Discount Rate by 1 % 529,523 99,016 8,884 307,392 . . . . . .
Increase in expected future increment in salary by 1% _ 106,536 _ ) Though, not imminent and generally observable, over long term there are some risks that may crystallise. This includes:
Decrease in expected future increment in salary by 1% - (95,479) - - . . . . . . . . . .
Increase in expected future increment in pension by 1% 556,491 B B B} - Retention Risk — The rISk‘ that employeg .WI|| not be motivated to continue the service or start working with the Bank if
Decrease in expected future increment in pension by 1% (495,318) - - - no market comparable retirement benefit is provided.
Increase in expected future increment in medical benefit by 1% - - - 290,833
Decrease in expected future increment in medical benefit by 1% - - - (247,567) - Final Salary Risk — The risk, for defined benefit gratuity, that any disproportionate salary merit increases in later service
years will give rise to a multiplicative increase in the gratuity liability as such increase is applicable to all the past years
37.11  Expected contributions to be paid to the funds in the next financial year of service.
The Bank contributes to the pension and gratuity funds according to the actuary's advice. Contribution to the benevolent - Model Risk — The defined benefit gratuity liability is valued by actuary each year. Further, the assets in the Fund are
fund is made by the Bank as per the rates set out in the benevolent fund scheme. Based on actuarial advice, also marked to market. This two-tier valuation gives rise to the model risk.
management estimates that the expected contribution and charge / (reversal) for the year ending December 31, 2023,
would be as follows: - Operational Risk related to a separate entity - Retirement benefits are funded through a separate trust fund which is a
2023 Sostrel n different legal entity than the Bank. Generally, the protocols, processes, and conventions used throughout the Bank are
Pensionfund  Gratuity fund Benevolent fund m‘:sdi{::tl'[;"r::;t not applicable or are not actively applied to the retirement benefit Funds. This gives rise to some specific operational
(Rupees in '000) risks.
Expected contribution - - 1,069 - - Compliance Risk — The risk that retirement benefits offered by the Bank do not comply with minimum statutory
Expected (reversal) / charge for the year (329,730) 226,539 (7.482) 370,803 requirements.
- Legal / Political Risk — The risk that the legal / political environment changes and as a result, the Bank is required to
37.12  Maturity profile 2022 _ offer additional or different retirement benefits than what the Bank projected. Specifically, in the light of recent Supreme
Pension fund  Gratuity fund  Benevolent fund Post.retlremerft Court decisions, this risk has materialised.
medical benefit
38. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution plan

The Bank operates a contributory provident fund scheme for 11,516 (2021: 10,776) employees who are not in the pension
scheme. The employer and employee each contribute 8.33% of the basic salary to the funded scheme every month.
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39.

391

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Total Compensation Expense

2022
Directors Other
Executives Memb.ers President / Key Material Risk
Items . Non- Shariah Management
Chairman  (other than . CEO Takers/
Executives Board Personnel
CEQ) Controllers
(Rupees in '000)
Fees and Allowances etc. 10,500 - 79,050 11,586 - - -
Managerial Remuneration
i) Fixed - - - - 118,560 180,308 411,603
ii) Variable - Cash Bonus - - - - 107,172 203,543 231,121
Contribution to defined contribution plan - - - - 9,880 13,546 34,300
Charge for defined benefit plan - - - - 4,338 6,863 21,565
Rent & house maintenance - - - - 18,151 81,139 185,221
Utilities - - - - 3,856 36,062 82,321
Medical - - - - 102 18,031 41,160
Conveyance - - - - 6,016 37,937 151,474
Others - - - - 1,480 3,761 13,991
Sub-total 10,500 - 79,050 11,586 269,555 581,190 1,172,756
Awards - - - - - 7,000 -
Total 10,500 - 79,050 11,586 269,555 588,190 1,172,756
Number of Persons 1 - 7 3 1 17 98
2021
Directors Members Key Other
Items - Executives Non- Shariah President / Management Material Risk
Chairman  (other than Executives  Board CEO Personnel Takers/
CEOQ) Controllers
(Rupees in '000)
Fees and Allowances etc. 8,400 - 66,900 10,548 - - -
Managerial Remuneration
i) Fixed - - - - 105,600 152,703 415,952
ii) Variable - Cash Bonus - - - - 95,703 210,824 222,380
Contribution to defined contribution plan - - - - 8,800 10,722 34,361
Charge for defined benefit plan - - - - 2,861 4,310 15,970
Rent & house maintenance - - - - 12,036 68,716 187,178
Utilities - - - - 2,574 30,541 83,190
Medical - - - - 115 15,270 41,595
Conveyance - - - - 4,707 24,331 131,481
Others - - - - - 1,638 29,867
Sub-total 8,400 - 66,900 10,548 232,396 519,055 1,161,974
Awards - - - - 108,467 - -
Total 8,400 - 66,900 10,548 340,863 519,055 1,161,974
Number of Persons 1 - 7 3 1 17 117

The total amount of deferred bonus as at December 31, 2022 for the President / CEO, Key Management Personnel and other Material Risk Takers
(MRT) / Material Risk Controllers (MRC) is Rs. 219.981 million (2021: Rs. 181.016 million). The deferred bonus is held in a trust fund.
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39.2

39.3

40.

Remuneration paid to Directors for participation in Board and Committee Meetings

2022

Meeting Fees and Allowances Paid

For Board Committees

Board Human

Sr. Name of Director For Board Board Audit Resource & Board F.{ISk & Board IT Bt.)ard.
No. . . . Compliance . Nomination Total Amount
Meetings Committee Compensation . Committee . Allowance )
. Committee Committee Paid
(BAC) Committee (BRCC) (BITC) (BNC)
(HRCC)
(Rupees in '000)
1 Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk 5,400 - 3,750 - - 750 600 10,500
2 Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, SI Pk 4,500 - - 3,750 3,750 750 900 13,650
3 Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey 4,500 4,500 - - 3,750 - 900 13,650
4 Mr. Arshad Ahmad Mir * 3,750 - 3,750 4,200 - 750 - 12,450
5  Mr. Rizwan Pervez 4,500 4,500 3,750 - - - 900 13,650
6 Ms. Shazia Syed 3,750 4,350 - 3,000 - - 150 11,250
7 Mr. Amar Zafar Khan 3,750 - - - - - - 3,750
8  Mr. Tarig Rashid 3,750 - 3,450 - 3,450 - - 10,650
Total Amount Paid 33,900 13,350 14,700 10,950 10,950 2,250 3,450 89,550
* Mr. Arshad Ahmad Mir retired from the Board with effect from December 14, 2022.
2021
Meeting Fees and Allowances Paid
For Board Committees
Board Human .
o Name of Director For Board Board Audit Re g BoardRisk& oo i Board
No. ; source Compliance Nomination Total Amount
Meetings Committee Compensation ) Committee . Allowance .
. Committee Committee Paid
(BAC) Committee (BRCC) (BITC) (BNC)
(HRCC)
(Rupees in '000)
1 Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk 4,500 - 3,000 - - 750 150 8,400
2 Lord Zameer M. Choudrey, CBE, S| Pk 3,750 - - 3,000 3,000 750 300 10,800
3 Mr. Haider Zameer Choudrey 3,750 3,750 - - 3,000 - 300 10,800
4 Mr. Arshad Ahmad Mir 3,750 - 3,000 3,000 - 750 - 10,500
5  Mr. Rizwan Pervez 3,750 3,750 3,000 - - - 300 10,800
6 Ms. Shazia Syed 3,750 3,750 - 3,000 - - - 10,500
7 Mr. Amar Zafar Khan 3,750 - - - - - - 3,750
8  Mr. Tariq Rashid 3,750 - 3,000 - 3,000 - - 9,750
Total Amount Paid 30,750 11,250 12,000 9,000 9,000 2,250 1,050 75,300
Remuneration paid to Shariah Board Members
2022 2021
Resident Non-Resident Resident  Non-Resident
It i i
ems Chairman Member Member Total Chairman Member Member Total
(Rupees in '000)
Meeting fees and allowances 5,400 4392 1,794 11,586 4,152 3,564 2,832 10,548
Total number of persons 1 1 1 1 1 1

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of quoted securities other than those classified as held to maturity, is based on quoted market price. Quoted
securities classified as held to maturity are carried at cost. The fair value of unquoted equity securities, other than
investments in associates and subsidiaries, is determined on the basis of the break-up value of these investments as per
their latest available audited financial statements.
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The fair value of unquoted debt securities, fixed term loans, other assets, other liabilities, fixed term deposits and borrowings cannot be 2022
calculated with sufficient reliability due to the absence of a current and active market for these assets and liabilities and reliable data Carrving value Fair value
regarding market rates for similar instruments. ving Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(Rupees in '000)
In the opinion of the management, the fair value of the remaining financial assets and liabilities are not significantly different from their Financial assets - disclosed but not measured at fair value
carrying values since these are either short-term in nature or, in the case of customer loans and deposits, are frequently repriced. Investments B
- Federal Government Securities 362,552,249 - 333,494,230 - 333,494,230
. . . . . o . . . - Foreign Bonds - Market Treasury Bills 6,469,775 - 6,469,775 - 6,469,775
40.1 The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the - Foreian Bonds - sovereign 38,539,412 R 36,402,565 R 36,402,565
measurements: - Foreign Bonds - others 1,207,251 - 1,086,799 - 1,086,799
- Non-Government debt securities 18,167,923 - 17,357,546 - 17,357,546
Level 1: Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 426,936,610 - 394,810,915 - 394,810,915
1.410,075,000 10,192,720 1,367,756,585 - 1,377,949.305
Level 2: Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or Off-balance sheet financial instruments - measured at fair value
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). Forward purchase and sale of foreign exchange contracts 703,834,168 - 2,222 323 - 2,222 323
Level 3: Fair value measurements using input for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable FX options - purchased and sold S = = = =
inputs). Forward purchase and sale of Government Securities 42,757,100 - 21,543 - 21,543
2021
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting period by the level in the fair value hierarchy into Carrving value Fair value
which the fair value measurement is categorised: rving Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
On balance sheet financial instruments (Rupees in '000)
40.1.1 Valuation techniques used in determination of fair values within level 2 and level 3. Financial assets - measured at fair value
Investments
ltem Valuation approach and input used - Federal Government Securities 1,073,306,788 - 1,073,306,788 - 1,073,306,788
— - — - - - - - Foreign Bonds - sovereign 39,983,159 - 39,983,159 - 39,983,159
Federal Government securities The fair value of Federgl lGovernme.nt securities is determined using the prices / rates available ~ Foreign Bonds - others 1194.895 } 1.194.895 i} 1194.895
on Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP) / Bloomberg. - Ordinary shares of listed companies 9,665,709 9,665,709 R R 9,665,709
Non-Government debt securities The fair value of non-government debt securities is determined using the prices / rates from - Mutual Fund units 242,468 - 242,468 - 242,468
MUFAP. - Non-Government debt securities 2,072,482 - 2,072,482 - 2,072,482
Foreign debt securities The fair value of foreign corporate and foreign government securities is determined using the - Real Estate Investment Trust units 506,950 506,950 - - 506,950
1,126,972,451 10,172,659 1,116,799,792 - 1,126,972,451
rates from Bloomberg. . . . .
- - - - - - - Financial assets - disclosed but not measured at fair value
Mutual Fund units The fair values of investments in units of mutual funds are determined based on their net asset - Federal Government Securities 305,701,682 _ 296,942,277 _ 296,942,277
values as published at the close of each business day. - Foreign Bonds - Market Treasury Bills 2,682,985 - 2,682,985 - 2,682,985
Forward foreign exchange contracts |The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts and forward Government securities - Foreign Bonds - sovereign 32,937,264 - 32,805,738 - 32,805,738
and Forward Government securities [transactions are determined using forward pricing calculations. - Foreign Bonds - others 2,159,801 - 2,183,328 - 2,183,328
transactions - Non-Government debt securities 20,231,923 - 20,377,332 - 20,377,332
T T - - - — - 363,713,655 - 354,991,660 - 354,991,660
Derivatives The fair valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models using present value
: 1.490,686.,106 10,172,659 1.471,791.452 - 1.481,964.111
calculations.
Fixed assets and non-banking Land, buildings and non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims are revalued on a Off-b ] L .
_ . . . . . . . . -balance sheet financial instruments - measured at fair value
assets acquired in periodic basis using professional valuers. The valuation is based on their assessment of the )
satisfaction of claims market value of the assets. The effect of changes in the unobservable inputs used in the Forward purchase and sale of foreign exchange contracts —052.382.419 = 2.913.205 = 2913205
valuations cannot be determined with certainty. Accordingly, a qualitative disclosure of sensitivity| FX options - purchased and sold 1,808,940 - - - -
has not been presented in these unconsolidated financial statements. Forward purchase and sale of Government Securities 11,780,000 - 8,476 - 8,476
40.3 Fair Value of non-financial assets 2022
: " : . Fair value
40.2 Fair value of financial assets Carrying value Tovel Tovel2 Tovel 3 Total
. . . . . . . . . (Rupees in '000)
The following table provides the fair values of those of the Bank’s financial assets that are recognised or disclosed at fair value in these
unconsolidated financial statements: Fixed Assets 52,066,713 - - 52,066,713 52,066,713
2022 Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims 40,800 - - 40,800 40,800
. Fair value 52,107,513 - - 52,107,513 52,107,513
Carrying value — oo Level 2 Level 3 Total
" 2021
] o (Rupees in '000) - Fair value
On balance sheet financial instruments Carrying value Tovel Tovel 2 Tovel3 Total
Financial assets - measured at fair value (Rupees in '000)
Investments Fixed Assets 52,555,712 - - 52,555,712 52,555,712
- Federal Government securities 918,142,448 - 918,142,448 - 918,142,448 Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims 213,344 - - 213,344 213,344
- Foreign Bonds - Market Treasury Bills 5,973,644 - 5,973,644 - 5,973,644 52,769,056 - - 52,769,056 52,769,056
- Foreign bonds - sovereign 43,353,708 - 43,353,708 - 43,353,708
- Foreign bonds - others 996,910 - 996,910 - 996,910 40.4 Certain categories of fixed assets (land and buildings) and non-banking assets acquired in satisfactions of claims are carried at revalued
- Ordinary shares of listed companies 9,550,112 9,550,112 - - 9,550,112 amounts (level 3 measurement) determined by professional valuers based on their assessment of the market values.
- Mutual fund units 202,530 - 202,530 - 202,530
- Non-Government debt securities 4,276,430 - 4,276,430 - 4,276,430
- Real Estate Investment Trust units 642,608 642,608 - - 642,608
983,138,390 10,192,720 972,945,670 - 983,138,390
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2021
41. SEGMENT INFORMATION -
. . . L Corporate / Branch Islamic International
41.1 Segment details with respect to business activities Commercial Treasury . ) branch Others Total
i Banking Banking .
2022 Banking operations
Corporate / . International (Rupees in "000)
. Branch Islamic
Commercial Treasury Banking Banking branch Others Total ]
Banking operations Borrowings 62,724,244 474,334,893 4,626,077 5,714,199 15,885,337 - 563,284,750
Profit & Loss (Rupees in 000) Subordinated debt - - - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000
Deposits & other accounts 47,718,108 302491 1331212978 139,534,238 232,014,732 161,218 1,750,943,765
Net mark-up / return / profit 42,008,327 124,341 ,642 (82,106,763) 9,399,022 10,792,638 (1 ,225,545) 103,209,321 Net inter segment borrowing 307,488,592 969,169,066 _ _ 942,640 . 1,277,600,298
Inter segment (expense) | revenue - net (38.010,216) (144,558,389) 173,145,285 - - 9,423,320 - Others 26,327,1 13 (10,792,063) 49,140,583 4,697,855 7,199,334 121722‘023 89,294,845
Non mark-up / return / interest income 4,496,504 7755302 10500422 463,561 2,972,305 8.254.477 34,442,571 Total Liabilities 444258057 1433014387 1,384,979638 149946202 256,042,043  22,883241  3,601,123,658
Total Income 8,494,615 (12,461,445) 101,538,944 9,862,583 13,764,943 16,452,252 137,651,892 Equity 3,761,132 4,141,264 12,664,491 7,005,840 52,800,411 124,269,409 204,642,547
Segment direct expenses 1,250,497 441,845 32,230,007 2,884,548 6.328,023 10,537,600 53,672,540 Total Equity & liabilities 448019180 1437155651 _1,397,644129 156952132 308842454 _ 147152650 _ 3895766205
Inter segment expense allocation 296,693 87,343 7,556,459 - 443,494 (8,383,989) - Contingencies and Commitments 368,891,124 239,061,601 40,476,794 14,347,612 469,317,371 182,362 1,132,276,864
Total expenses 1,547,190 529,188 39,786,486 2,884,548 6,771,517 2,153,611 53,672,540
Provisions - net 385,570 (1,383,354) 353,664 (48,212) (14,997,701) 20,687 (15,669,346) 2022
Profit / (loss) before tax 7,332,995 (14373.987) 62,106,122 6,929,823 (8,004,275) 14,319,328 68,310,006 Export
Balance Sheet 41.2 Geographical segment analysis Pakistan Middle East Pn;cessing Total
ones
Cash & Bank balances 9,822 67,380,161 18,506,973 7,841,130 64,958,575 - 158,696,661 Profit and Loss (RUPEES 11 '000) e
Investments . 11,095,886  1,152,628,315 - 124,800,008 113,900,328 12769292 1,415,193,829 Net markeup  retun  proft 02,416,683 10,376,199 H64% 103200321
Netinter segment lending ; - 1377293672 ; ; 139,390,783 1,516,684,455 Non mark-up / return / interest income 31,470,265 2,953,964 18,342 34,442,571
Lendings to financial institutions - 85,296,480 - - - - 85,296,480 Total Income 123,886,948 13,330,163 134781 137,651,892
Advances - performing 600,765,401 14,337 51,511,037 102,195,674 152,526,997 3268329 910,281,775
Advances - non-performing net of provision 2,615,887 10,927 496,965 37613 8,366,249 27,679 11,555,320 Segment direct expenses 47,344,516 6,300,292 27,732 53,672,540
Others 35253173 40,061,081 19,796,931 5,526,837 15498233 61502789 177,729,044 'T”é‘:;f:f:;”st:sxpense allocation 46(;‘3?33‘2‘) - ‘;ﬂéfg 355;; —
Total Assets 649740169  1,345391,301 1,467,605578 240,401,262 355,250,382 217,048,872 4,275437,564 Provisions - el (671545) (14.997.701) ] (15.660.346)
Borrowings 63395001 420,042,838 5,195,348 69,092,536 6,792,865 - 564,518,568 Profit / (loss) before tax 76,314,281 (8.409,053) 404,778 68,310,006
Subordinated debt - - - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000 Balance Sheet
Deposits & other accounts 59,231,055 3359197  1331,562123 151,693,394 291,357,894 1,163,151  1,838,366,814
Net inter segment borrowing 492593529 944,787,486 - - 79,303,440 - 1516684455 Cash & Bank balances 93,738,086 64,900,382 58,193 158,696,661
Others 23,313,085 2485234 70453015 7,203,929 9887892 23504296 136,847,451 Investments , 1301293499 111,418,388 2481,942 1415193829
Total Liabilities 638532670 1,370,674755 1407,210486 227,989,859 387,382,001 34667447  4,066417,308 ’L\’:r: é’l’;‘;’s Stzil’::tc i’:l”iZ’S”tﬁuﬁons ! 5;223‘;223 : -] 5;2222122
o EEoi e et T aEsE iy e Irohes skl pavarcs - prtrming TIOR8 0TS
— e e — _— —_— _ Advances - non-performing net of provision 3,189,070 8,366,250 - 11,555,320
Contingencies and Commitments 509,367,455 221,290,949 30,493,205 7626255 576,647,813 937,427 1,346,363,104 Others 162,230,811 15,365,212 133,021 177,729,044
= Total Assets 3,920,187,180 351,413,700 3,836,684  4,275437,564
2021 , Borrowings 557,725,723 6,792,865 - 564,518,568
Corporatgl Branch Islamic International Subordinated debt 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
Commercial  Treasury Banking Banking branch Others Total Deposits & other accounts 1547008919 286,466,505 4891300  1,838,366,814
Banking operations Net inter segment borrowing 1,437,381,015 78,144,168 1159272 1,516,684,455
(Rupees in '000) Others 126,959,558 9,866,624 21,269 136,847,451
Profit and Loss Total Liabilities 3,679,075,215 381,270,162 6,071,931  4,066,417,308
Net mark-up / return / profit 24,469,344 78385139 (43,705,708) 5,200,775 8,043,384 (634,410) 71,758,524 Bquty 241,111,965 (20856.462)  (2235247) 209,020,256
Inter segment (expense) / revenue - net (20339,695)  (75031,260) 89,795,726 . . 5,575,229 . Total Equity & liabilities 3920187180 ___ 351413700 3836684 _4.275437.564
Non mark-up / return / interest income 3,124,616 4,899,001 9,194,527 349,080 4,709,662 1,102,162 23,379,048 Contingencies and Commitments 769,657,510 576,648,809 56,785  1,346,363,104
Total Income 7,254,265 8,252,880 55,284,545 5,549,855 12,753,046 6,042,981 95,137,572 .
Segment direct expenses 1,263,533 577,401 27,653,589 2,010,649 4,945,848 7,514,806 43,965,826 2021
Inter segment expense allocation 498,100 80,888 6,390,687 - 428,085 (7,397,760) - . i Export
Total expenses 1761633 656280 34044276 2,010,649 5,373,933 117,046 43,965,826 Pakistan Middle East P";"ess'"g Total
Prov!sions - net 642,747 862,204 383,545 (70,032) (1,022,450) 159,393 955,407 (Rupees in -ooc:)l;is_ _________________________________
Profit before tax 6,135,379 8,456.795 21,623,814 3469174 6,356,663 6,085,328 52,127,153 Profit and Loss
Balance Sheet Net mark-up / return / profit 63,715,140 7,826,769 216615 71,758,524
Cash & Bank balances 5,847 83432361 131,280,024 20,417,689 56,164,418 - 291,300,339 Non mark-up / return / interest income 18,669,386 4,561,882 147,780 23,379,048
Investments 8,802,055  1,281,680,391 - 87,124,858 113,449,568 5485581  1496,542,453 Total Income 82,384,526 12,388,651 364,395 95,137,572
Net inter segment lending - - 1,200,813,673 3,061,160 - 73725465  1,277,600,298 Segment direct expenses 39,019.978 4921186 24,662 43.965,826
Lendings to financial institutions - 49,826,776 - - - 1,874,300 51,701,076 Inter segment expense allocation (428,085) 425738 2.347 ;
Advances - performing 421,026,745 16,109 48,013,514 43,788,936 118,247,080 3,786,906 634,879,290 Total expenses 38,591,893 5,346,924 27,009 43,965,826
Advances - non-performing net of provision 2,765,799 - 414,816 66,191 8,041,387 20,974 11,309,167 Provisions - net 1,977,857 (1,022,450 - 955,407
Others 15,418,743 22,200,014 17,122,102 2,493,298 12,940,001 62,259,424 132,433,582 Profit before tax 45,770,490 6,019,277 337,386 52,127,153
Total Assets 448019189  1437,155651 1397,644,129 156,952,132 308,842,454 147,152,650  3,895,766,205
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Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022 For the year ended December 31, 2022
2021 43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Export
Pakistan Middle East Pr;?::sing Total The Bank has related party transactions with its parent, directors, key management personnel, subsidiaries, associates and

other related parties including employee benefit schemes of the Bank.

(RUpEES in '000) ==smrmmsmemmsmmmmsmmmemmsmemmmnmn
Balance Sheet
The Bank enters into transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same terms

Cash & Bank balances 235,135,921 55,820,921 343,497 291,300,339 X . L K e . .
Investments 183,092,885 107,079.223 6370345  1.496,542,453 as for comparable transactions with person of similar standing. Contributions to and accruals in respect of staff retirement
Net inter segment lending 1,277,600,298 - . 1,277,600,298 benefits and other benefit plans are made in accordance with the actuarial valuations / terms of the contribution plan.
Lendings to financial institutions 51,701,076 - - 51,701,076 Remuneration to the executives / officers is determined in accordance with the terms of their appointment.
Advances - performing 516,632,210 118,165,300 81,780 634,879,290
Advances - non-performing net of provision 3,267,780 8,041,387 . 1,309,167 Details of transactions with related parties during the year, other than those which have been disclosed elsewhere in these
Others 119,493,580 12,709,197 230,805 132,433,582 . . .
Total Assets 3586,923,750 301,816,028 7026427 3,895,766,205 unconsolidated financial statements, are as follows:
Borrowings 547,399,413 15,885,337 - 563,284,750
Subordinated debt 10,000,000 i - 10,000,000 o 2022
Deposits & other accounts 1,518,929,033 227,406,988 4,607,744 1,750,943,765 Parent Directors management  Subsidiaries Associates Other related
Net inter segment borrowing 1,276,657,658 499,009 443,631 1,277,600,298 parties
Others 82,095,511 7,032,758 166,576 89,294,845 N - personnel _
Total Liabilities 3435081615 250,824,002 5217951 3,691,123,658 Statement of financial position (Rupees in ‘000)
Equity 151,842,135 50,991,936 1,808,476 204,642,547 Balances with other banks
Total Equity & liabilities 3,586,923,750 301,816,028 7,026,427 _3,895,766,205 In current accounts ) B B 762.976 ) B
Contingencies and Commitments 662,959,493 469,287,284 30,087 1,132,276,864 In deposit accounts - - - - - -
- - - 762,976 - -
Transactions between reportable segments are based on an appropriate transfer pricing mechanism using agreed rates.
Lendings to financial institutions
42. TRUST ACTIVITIES Opening balance - - - - - 2,355,115
The Bank acts as a custodian for securities held in Investor Portfolio Securities (IPS) accounts. These are not assets of the Bank and, therefore, éiiglizndi:irrzggtrt]zeyﬁjr _ _ ~ ~ ~ (gggﬁi?g)
are not included in these unconsolidated financial statements. Assets held under trust in IPS accounts are shown in the table below: Transfer in / (out) - net _ _ ~ ~ ~ ~
Closing balance - - - - N -
2022
Number of Pakisst::urltles held (Face Valul\:)arket Invesltments
Category IPS Investment GoP ljara Treasury Total Opening balance _ - - - 5,376,066 1,799,125 4,654,612
Accounts Sukuks : Investment made during the year - - - - 6,225,001 645,756
Bonds Bills Investment disposed / written off during the year - - - (2,420,843)  (6,000,000) -
------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) --------n-wrmmmmeemmooenenee Transfer in / (out) - net - - - - - -
Asset Management Companies 1 _ 983,000 _ 983,000 Closing balance - - - 2,955,223 2,024,126 5,300,368
ﬁzrisi(;rj;ess 1?? 182;:288 5,000 5223::28 73;21;28 Provision for diminution in value of investments - - - - - 952,719
Insurance Companies 5 432,032,500 1,272,500 94,952,500 528,257,500 o )
NGO / Charitable Organisation 4 1,634,000 _ 4,697,500 6,331,500 Provision written off - - - 1,580,970 - -
Pension & Employee Funds 33 56,179,300 325,000 16,577,650 73,081,950 Ad
Others 16 78,996,000 - 58,842,520 137,838,520 vances
—_— —_— — Opening balance - 645 277,816 - - 1,768
Total 192 587,593,200 2,585,500 238,696,050 828,874,750 Addition during the year ) 488 161,738 ) ) 24,653,259
Repaid during the year - (653)  (121,333) - - (6,846,111)
_ 2021 Transfer in / (out) - net - - 404 - - (873)
Number of _Securities held (Face Value) Closing balance - 480 318,625 - - 17,808,043
Pakistan GoP ljara Market
Category IPS Investment Sukuks Treasury Total . :
Accounts . Provision held against advances - - - - - 1,274,449
Bonds Bills
------------------ (Rupees in '000) -----=-=n-mznnnumnn Other Assets
Asset Management Companies 1 - 783,000 - 783,000 Interest / mark-up accrued - - - - 42,198 711,313
Corporates 13 6,080,000 _ 8,283,000 14,363,000 Receivable from staff retirement fund - - - - - 2,517,968
Individuals 40 44,700 - 1,767,590 1,812,290 Prepaid insurance - - - - 58,739 -
Insurance Companies 7 350,617,700 210,000 3,458,000 354,285,700 Other receivable - - - 6,630 - -
NGO / Charitable Organisation 4 550,000 - 2,790,300 3,340,300 - .
Pension & Employee Funds 32 47,275,200 175,000 8425700 55,875,900 Provision written off . . . . . .
Others 13 4,512,900 - 3,037,730 7,550,630
Total 110 409,080,500 1,168,000 27,762,320 438,010,820
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Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022

2022
Parent Directors man:gegment Subsidiaries Associates Other rfelated
personnel parties
(Rupees in '000)

Borrowings
Opening balance - - - - - -
Borrowings during the year - - - - - 1,769,000
Settled during the year - - - - - (1,769,000)
Closing balance - - - - - -
Deposits and other accounts
Opening balance 18,601 7,769,284 66,177 227,997 2,209,154 16,151,170
Received during the year 19,125 42,580,952 920,072 13,467,062 145,487,253 264,099,764
Withdrawn during the year (23,399) (36,425,873) (932,677) (13,624,302) (146,030,832) (264,257,733)
Transfer in - - 15,265 - - 6,890
Closing balance 14,327 13,924,363 68,837 70,757 1,665,575 16,000,091
Other Liabilities
Interest / mark-up payable on deposits and borrowings 1,106 26,310 407 1,805 14,382 37,353
Dividend payable 8,212,476 222,289 - - - 57,128
Payable to staff retirement fund - - - - - 37,824
Unearned income - - - 444 - 29,608
Other payable - 5,100 - - 5,982 -
Contingencies and Commitments
Letter of guarantee - - - - - -
Forward Government securities sale - - - - - -
Profit and loss account
Income
Mark-up / return / interest earned - 1 16,133 5,336 102,018 2,864,381
Commission / charges recovered - 218 1,387 782 32,504 24,286
Dividend income - - - 529,749 49,878 448,486
Net gain on sale of securities - - - - - -
Other income - - - 2,510 - 32,067
Gain on sale of fixed assets - - 1,905 - 8,047 -
Gain on wind-up of subsidiary - - - 6,778,877 - -
Reversal of provision - - - 107,941 - -
Switch revenue - - - - - 285,399
Management fee - - - 49,759 - -
Expense
Mark-up / return / interest paid 1,930 210,224 4,538 2,856 290,057 287,932
Remuneration paid - - 824,164 - - -
Post employment benefits - - - - - -
Directors' fees and allowances - 89,550 - - - -
Charge for defined contribution plans - - 23,426 - - 434,928
Charge for defined benefit plans - - 10,155 - - 99,335
Other expenses - - - - - 211,212
Clearing charges - - - - - 156,767
Donations - - - - - 110,000
Membership, subscription, sponsorship and

maintenance charges - - - - - 9,172
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Other Information
Dividend paid
Insurance premium paid
Insurance claims settled

Statement of financial position

Balances with other banks
In current accounts
In deposit accounts

Lendings to financial institutions
Opening balance

Addition during the year

Repaid during the year

Transfer in / (out) - net

Closing balance

Investments

Opening balance

Investment made during the year

Investment disposed / written off during the year
Transfer in / (out) - net

Closing balance

Provision for diminution in value of investments

Provision written off

Advances

Opening balance
Addition during the year
Repaid during the year
Transfer out - net
Closing balance

Provision held against advances

Other Assets

Interest / mark-up accrued
Receivable from staff retirement fund
Prepaid insurance

Other receivable

Provision written off

Borrowings

Opening balance
Borrowings during the year
Settled during the year
Closing balance

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2022
Key
Parent Directors management  Subsidiaries Associates Other r.elated
parties
personnel
(Rupees in '000)
6,127,770 182,386 7,362 - 118,243 1,926,481
- - - - 561,401 -
- - - - 541,718 -
2021
Key
Parent Directors management  Subsidiaries Associates Othe;r:ieelzted
personnel P
(Rupees in '000)
- - - 478,967 - -
- - - 1,765,018 - -
- - - 2,243,985 - -
- - - - - 5,726,952
- - - - - (3,371,837)
- - - - - 2,355,115
- - - 5,406,166 1,582,485 3,997,489
- - - - 216,640 2,563,634
- - - (30,100) - (1,906,511)
- - - 5,376,066 1,799,125 4,654,612
- - - 1,688,911 - 938,502
- - - - - 77,606
- 10 237,861 - - 9,365,687
- 1,170 87,189 - - 84,111,001
- (535) (49,221) - - (93,474,920)
- - 1,987 - - -
- 645 277,816 - - 1,768
- - - 91 4,541 149,672
- - - - - 2,077,069
- - - - 65,811 -
- - - 13,282 - -
- - - - - 30,164
- - - 1,598,323 - -
- - - 2,834,585 - 488,300
- - - (4,432,908) - (488,300)




Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022 For the year ended December 31, 2022
2021 44.  CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS 2022 2021
Key Otherrelated LT (Rupees in '000) ------
Parent Directors management  Subsidiaries Associates i Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR):
personnel parties Paid-up capital (net of losses) 12,241,797 12,241,797
(Rupees in '000) Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR):
Deposits and ofher accounts Elifbls Addiional Tier 1 (ADT 1) Gaptal osusaos | | osesces
) igible itional Tier apita ,803, 825,
Opening balance - 6,431,790 62,761 598,007 4,285,435 14,387,025 Total Eligible Tier 1 Capital 144,078,335 140,725,383
Received during the year 101,751 30,758,130 1,048,423 27,454,331 180,782,484 240,407,932 Eligible Tier 2 Capital 47,616,511 45,533,655
Withdrawn during the year (83,150) (29,420,636) (1,074,629) (27,824,341) (182,858,765) (238,650,477) Total Eligible Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2) 191,694,846 186,259,038
Transfer in - - 29,622 - - 6,690 Risk Weighted Assets (RWAS):
Closing balance 18,601 7,769,284 66,177 227,997 2,209,154 16,151 ,170 Credit Risk 71 7,763,967 622,392,344
Market Risk 81,055,011 75,576,397
Other Liablties ol 590 74500 64759208
Interest / mark-up payable on deposits and borrowings - 33,314 1 - 11,222 76,214 ota - - - =
Dividend payable 2,526,916 8,000 - - - 17,578 Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 13.43% 15.14%
Payable to staff retirement fund - - - - - 103,685 Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 14.41% 16.27%
Unearned income ) ) ) 406 B 19,501 Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 19.17% 21.54%
Oth bl - - - - 13,613 - . . . . - . .
er payabie The SBP through its BSD Circular No. 07 dated April 15, 2009 has prescribed the minimum paid-up capital (net of
) . ) accumulated losses) for Banks to be raised to Rs.10,000 million by the year ending December 31, 2015. The paid-up
Contingencies and Commitments capital of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2022 stood at Rs.12,241.797 million (2021: Rs.12,241.797 million)
Letter of guarantee - - - 5,295 - - and is in compliance with SBP requirements. Banks are also required to maintain a minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio
Forward Government securities sale - - - - 199,000 - (CAR) of 10.0% plus capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of the risk weighted exposures of the Bank.

In order to dampen the effects of COVID-19, the State Bank of Pakistan under BPRD Circular Letter No. 12 of 2020 has
given a regulatory relief and reduced the Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) as prescribed vide BPRD Circular No. 6 of
August 15, 2013, for the time being, from its existing level of 2.5% to 1.5%, till further instructions.

Profit and loss account

Income
Mark-up / return / interest earned R ) 14.405 13,335 36,684 508,576 l:urt?er, fugcé;; Baze;llfl)oi/nstructior:'s, I|3anks atr%also rgquigﬁd ;%ngai_rllthainBa Ckomr?ciln Equiterieir 1.t£‘CET 1).|:ti§> ar:q Tier
. ratio of 6.0% and 7.5%, respectively, as at December 31, . The Bank is fully compliant with prescribed ratios as
C / ch d 22 333 3,118 1,410 28,237 24,814 , ) . . .
ommission / charges recovere the Bank's CAR is 19.17% whereas CET 1 and Tier 1 ratios stood at 13.43% and 14.41% respectively.
Dividend income - - - 434,550 28,481 811,111
Net gain on sale of securities - 78 - - - - Furthermore, under the SBP’s Framework for Domestic Systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs) introduced vide BPRD
Other income - - - 2,296 - 21,763 Circular No. 04 of 2019 dated April 13, 2019, UBL has been designated as a D-SIB under letter BSD-
Gain on sale of fixed assets R ) 7.041 R 556 ) 3/.Bank/UBL/394468/2022 dated Dgcember 20, 2022. !n line with this fr'a'mework, the Ban is required to meet the
Gain on wind-up of subsidia ) i ) 103.993 i i Higher Loss Absorbency (HLA) capital charge of 0.5%, in the form of Additional CET 1 capital, on a standalone as well
p. ) v ’ as consolidated level. The prescribed HLA under D-SIB shall remain effective till the next D-SIB designation
Reversal of provision - - - - - 528,488 announcement is made by State Bank of Pakistan.
Switch revenue - - - - - 241,157
Management fee - - - 21,970 - - Under the current capital adequacy regulations, credit risk and market risk exposures are measured using the
Standardised Approach and operational risk is measured using the Basic Indicator Approach. Credit risk mitigants are
Expense applied against the Bank’s exposures based on eligible collateral under comprehensive approach.
Mark-up / return / interest paid 862 401,218 2,946 12,150 168,159 933,291 2022 2021
Remuneration paid - - 833,225 - - O, (Rupees in '000) ====---------
Post employment benefits - - 7171 - - - Leverage Ratio (LR):
. , Eligible Tier-1 Capital 144,078,335 140,725,383
Direct f d all - 75,300 - - - - ) ) ’ ’
rectors fees and aflowances Total Exposures 3,283,578.765  3,498,758,906
Charge for defined contribution plans - - 19,522 - - 393,269 Leverage Ratio 4.39% 4.02%
Charge for defined benefit plans - - - - - 579,028
) B B B B Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR):
Other expenses 110,279 Total High Quality Liquid Assets 1,014,739,744  1,597,732,985
Clearing charges - - - - - 132,758 Total Net Cash Outflow 316,508,188 476,786,878
Donations - - - - - - Liquidity Coverage Ratio 320.60% 335.10%
Membership, subscription, sponsorship and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSER):
maintenance charges - - - - - 65,092 Total Available Stable Funding 2,194,772,092  2,409,606,992
Total Required Stable Funding 1,355,300,059 1,341,535,238
Net Stable Funding Ratio 161.94% 179.62%
Other Information
Dividend paid 10,502,493 253,519 6,279 - 125,384 1,820,822 441 The full disclosures on the CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS as per SBP
Insurance premium paid - - - - 524,781 - instructions issued from time to time are placed on the website. The link to the full disclosure is available at

Insurance claims settled i} B ; } 524,094 B https://www.ubldigital.com/Investor-Relations/CAR-Statements.aspx.
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Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

45.

45.1

45.2

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank has an integrated risk management structure in place covering domestic and international operations. The Board Risk and
Compliance Committee (BRCC), a sub-committee of the Board of Directors (BoD); oversees the entire risk management process of the
Bank. Risk Management Committee (RMC) oversees all risks collectively at senior management level. The Committee is chaired by the
President and comprises of Heads of all major areas such as Risk, Finance and Business Groups. The Risk and Credit Policy Group led by
Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for the development and implementation of all risk policies approved by the BoD in line with the
guidelines issued by SBP and respective overseas central banks. The group is organized into various functions such as Credit Risk
Management, Credit Policy & Research, Market, Treasury Risk and Basel, Financial Institution Risk, Consumer Credit Policy, Operational
Risk, Fraud Risk Management, Credit Administration Division and Information Security Risk. The role of the Risk and Credit Policy Group
includes:

- Determining guidelines relating to the Bank’s risk appetite.
- Reviewing risks on an aggregate and enterprise level

- Recommending risk management policies in accordance with the Prudential Regulations, Basel Il / Il framework, Regulatory framework
of foreign countries where the bank operates and international best practices.

- Reviewing policies / manuals and ensuring that these are in accordance with BRCC / BoD approved risk management policies.
- Approving credits and granting approval authority to qualified and experienced individuals.

- Portfolio reviews focusing on quality assessment, risk profiles, industry concentrations etc.

- To identify problem credits and level of provisioning required.

- To establish an extensive Information Security (IS) Program and governance structure to manage the Security of the Information
assets.

As COVID-19 has shown signs of abatement globally; countries around the world removed restrictions which was followed by a V-shaped
recovery. However, the combination of unwarranted events such as Russia VS. Ukraine war and climate change pushed the world into
further energy crisis and high inflation mode.

For Pakistan, continued higher commaodity prices and inflation deteriorated the foreign exchange reserves and resultantly put pressure on
the exchange rate. In order to curtail the magnitude of the crisis, SBP increased interest rates by a massive 625 basis points and imposed a
stringent criteria for import of goods. Sovereign foreign debt repayment has further exacerbated the foreign exchange reserves.

In the first half of the year banking industry flourished and saw an increase of 16% in the asset book. This expansion was driven by private
sector advances and increase in investments, mainly government securities. Later part of the year saw a slowdown in economic activity
due to prevailing economic crisis post massive floods, whereby a significant declining trend was observed in wholesale & retail sectors
mainly in textile sector & consumer finance.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty may not settle an obligation for full value, either when due or at any time thereafter.
This risk arises from the potential that a customer's or counterparty’s willingness or ability to meet such an obligation is impaired, resulting
in an economic loss to the Bank.

The credit risk management process is driven by the Bank's Risk Management Policy, Credit Policy for domestic operations, Collateral
Management Policy, Credit Policy of respective overseas operation, which provide guidance in relation to credit initiation, approval,
documentation and disbursement, credit maintenance and remedial management process.

Individual credit authorities are delegated to credit officers by the Group Executive - Risk & Credit Policy (authorized by BoD), according to
their seasoning / maturity. Approvals for Consumer loans are centralized, while approval authorities for overseas operations, Corporate,
Commercial, SME and Agri exposures are delegated at a Country / Regional level. Furthermore, credit authorities are also delegated to
business teams in various regions for Commercial, SME & Agri lending. All credit policy functions globally are centrally organized. The bank
is at an advanced stage of automating the credit initiation and approval work flow. Domestic Corporate portfolio has achieved Go-Live
status on Dec 28, 2022.

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

45.2.1

45.2.2

Concentration of credit risk exists if clients are engaged in similar activities or are located in the same geographical region or have
comparable economic characteristics such that their ability to meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in
economic, political or other conditions. The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk to individual counterparties and
groups, and to industries, where appropriate. Limits are also applied to portfolios or sectors where the Bank considers it appropriate to
restrict credit risk concentrations, to areas of higher risk, or to control the rate of portfolio growth. To manage cross border exposure, the
bank has a Country Risk Policy in place which provides the framework for managing Country and FI related risks.

The Risk Management function of the Bank regularly conducts assessments of the credit portfolio to identify borrowers most likely to get
affected due to changes in the continuously evolving business and economic environment. The Bank has been continuously reviewing the
portfolio, to identify accounts susceptible to higher risk, resulting from the ongoing economic crisis.

IFRS 9 is applicable currently on the international branches of the Bank and requires the estimation of Expected Credit Losses (ECL) based
on various parameters such as client fundamentals, credit structure, historical portfolio default rate and transitions i.e. probability of default,
loss given default as well as current and forecasted macro-economic variables. Since 2020, the Bank has reviewed the potential impact of
the COVID-19 outbreak along with other required scenarios on the inputs and assumptions for IFRS 9 ECL measurement based on best
judgment as well as Regulatory guidelines of each overseas jurisdiction.

Lendings to financial institutions

Non-performing

Credit risk by public / private sector Gross lendings Provision held

lendings
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in '000)
Public / Government 40,953,209 19,123,292 - - - -
Private 44,343,271 32,577,784 - - - -
85,296,480 51,701,076 - - - -

Investment in debt securities

Credit risk by industry sector Gross investments Non-performing investments Provision held

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in '000)

Chemical and pharmaceuticals 54,351 54,351 54,351 54,351 54,351 54,351
Fertilizers - - - - - -
Financial 1,439,781,128 1,468,255,470 9,117,129 - 6,145,880 -
Food 912 912 912 912 912 912
Production and transmission of energy 13,917,757 15,552,505 - - - -
Metal and allied 203,125 250,000 - - - -
Textile 400,692 486,407 229,263 228,925 229,263 228,925
Others 2,627,887 1,826,836 1,397 1,397 1,397 1,397

1,456,985,852  1,486,426,481 9,403,052 285,585 6,431,803 285,585

Gross investments Non-performing investments Provision held

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in '000)

Credit risk by public / private sector

Public / Government 1,443,604,651 1,474,328,831 9,117,129 - 6,145,880 -
Private 13,381,201 12,097,650 285,923 285,585 285,923 285,585
1,456,985,852  1,486,426,481 9,403,052 285,585 6,431,803 285,585
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45.2.3 Advances

Credit risk by industry sector Gross advances

Non-performing

Provision held

advances
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in '000)

Agriculture 127,093,190 84,388,774 606,572 696,371 398,296 413,421
Airlines 4,549,885 4,566,378 1,729,061 1,507,975 1,729,061 1,507,975
Automobile and transportation equipment 20,131,906 17,068,006 1,191,162 123,939 693,110 123,939
Education and medical 1,231,550 58,064 - - - -
Cables 1,246,367 1,381,760 541,751 586,751 541,751 586,751
Cement 6,023,774 8,848,609 395,518 349,947 395,518 349,947
Chemical and pharmaceuticals 11,016,483 8,030,266 120,805 91,984 120,805 91,984
Construction 10,360,921 26,710,061 7,654,204 9,821,929 6,812,452 8,776,121
Contractors 15,592,901 6,277,111 388,414 - 385,557 -
Electronics and electrical appliances 14,645,253 15,121,471 10,526,449 10,246,873 8,335,717 8,040,748
Engineering 708,077 915,514 440,932 34,632 440,932 34,632
Fertilizer 12,809,337 10,007,744 40,042 64,682 40,042 60,932
Financial 174,514,899 44,508,765 4,136,785 3,999,205 4,136,785 3,999,205
Food, tobacco and beverages 11,247,429 5,944,450 9,110,134 5,719,233 6,972,421 3,976,694
Glass and allied 381,609 554,401 - - - -
Hotel and tourism 1,313,101 1,651,600 569,263 369,697 569,263 369,697
Individuals 78,577,187 40,674,544 6,666,972 10,468,858 4,648,700 8,541,939
Paper and allied 1,382,369 2,017,238 888,388 13,991 888,388 13,991
Polyester and fiber 2,144,665 1,857,979 1,577,051 1,577,051 1,577,051 1,577,051
Production and transmission of energy 221,162,165 203,802,341 5,267,307 8,701,745 3,689,629 7,089,870
Shoes and leather garments 2,473,814 2,019,904 2,309,853 929,492 2,309,853 929,492
Sugar 6,183,719 4,183,878 154,729 169,729 154,729 169,729
Metal and allied 6,468,805 6,597,346 942,255 408,300 - 408,300
Telecommunication 44,313,174 31,364,524 5,035,931 58,511 4,791,857 58,511
Textile composite 61,550,323 79,450,444 3,627,268 3,201,074 3,627,268 3,201,074
Textile 28,427,078 16,891,919 2,625,432 3,019,595 2,474,632 3,013,468
Textile spinning 24,891,681 18,531,359 3,253,154 2,399,319 3,253,154 2,399,319
Textile weaving 3,687,893 4,802,142 151,520 69,291 151,520 69,291
Wholesale and retail trade 36,186,552 27,726,220 15,298,856 15,991,045 14,616,618 15,382,883
Others 83,451,310 52,332,763 8,089,034 5,391,805 8,028,413 3,516,893

1,013,767,417 728,285,575 93,338,842 86,013,024 81,783,522 74,703,857

Credit risk b blic / privat t
redit risk by public / private sector Gross advances

Non-performing

Provision held

advances
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in '000)
Public / Government 311,144,344 225,945,664 964,568 1,089,669 22,313 22,313
Private 702,623,073 502,339,911 92,374,274 84,923,355 81,761,209 74,681,544
1,013,767,417 728,285,575 93,338,842 86,013,024 81,783,522 74,703,857

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022

45.2.4 Contingencies and Commitments

Credit risk by industry sector

Agri business

Airlines

Automobile and transportation equipment
Cables

Cement

Chemical and pharmaceuticals
Construction

Contractors

Electronics and electrical appliances
Engineering

Fertilizer dealers

Financial

Food, tobacco and beverages
Glass and allied

Hotel and tourism

Individuals

Paper and allied

Polyester and fiber

Production and transmission of energy
Shoes and leather garments

Sugar

Telecommunication

Textile

Wholesale traders

Others

Credit risk by public / private sector

Public / Government
Private

45.2.5 Concentration of Advances

2022

2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

9,688,638
83,982
17,060,374
617,831
2,722,521
6,344,093
12,289,111
11,589,571
3,197,903
5,131,864
6,789,726
817,188,270
10,729,033
431,969
2,907,013
7,855,614
2,686,432
3,656,870
169,906,265
1,640,048
405,397
12,664,873
33,872,610
28,703,214
178,199,882

13,528,192
70,243
4,475,318
266,556
3,329,371
4,088,189
5,818,193
235,252
3,407,536
8,294,865
7,087,353
759,770,819
6,777,604
291,706
2,247,647
8,631,596
1,732,281
7,885,097
133,134,614
60,030
330,827
6,603,098
25,195,707
31,748,588
97,266,182

1,346,363,104

1,132,276,864

470,075,580
876,287,524

236,113,927
896,162,937

1,346,363,104

1,132,276,864

The Bank's top 10 exposures on the basis of total (funded and non-funded exposures) aggregated to Rs. 458,202 million (2021: Rs.

334,457 million) are as follows:

Funded
Non Funded
Total Exposure

2022

2021

------- (Rupees in '000) -------

275,701,388 190,484,427
182,500,668 143,973,021
458,202,056 334,457,448

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 exposures aggregated to Rs. 549,819 million (2021: Rs. 372,084 million).

None of the exposure against these top 10 exposures is classified.

For the purpose of this note, exposure means outstanding funded facilities and utilised non-funded facilities as at the reporting date.
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45.2.6 Advances - Province / Region-wise Disbursement & Utilisation

45.3

45.31

2022
Utilisation
Province / Region Disburse- . . . .
. . KPK including . AJK including
ments Punjab Sindh FATA Balochistan Islamabad Gilgit-Baltistan
(Rupees in '000)
Punjab 512,247,865 512,247,865 - - - - -
Sindh 708,110,877 -] 708,110,877 - - - -
KPK including FATA 1,961,863 - - 1,961,863 - - -
Balochistan 769,154 - - - 769,154 - -
Islamabad 137,901,587 - - - - 137,901,587 -
AJK including Gilgit-Baltistan 182,728 - - - - - 182,728
Total 1,361,174,074 512,247,865 708,110,877 1,961,863 769,154 137,901,587 182,728
2021
Utilisation
Province / Region Disburse- . . . .
. . KPK including . AJK including
ments Punjab Sindh FATA Balochistan Islamabad Gilgit-Baltistan
(Rupees in "000)

Punjab 227,618,012 227,618,012 - - - - -
Sindh 186,426,890 - 186,426,890 - - - -
KPK including FATA 2,908,622 - - 2,908,622 - - -
Balochistan 15,907 - - - 15,907 - -
Islamabad 25,640,983 - - - - 25,640,983 -
AJK including Gilgit-Baltistan 22,810 - - - - - 22,810
Total 442,633,224 227,618,012 186,426,890 2,908,622 15,907 25,640,983 22,810
Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of changes in market conditions that may adversely impact the value of assets or liabilities, following a
negative impact on earnings. Market risk mainly arises from trading activities carried out by Treasury and Capital Market
(TCM) like lending / borrowing, Investments and client facilitating activities.

To manage Market Risk, a well-defined Market Risk policy approved by the Board of Directors is in place. The policy defines
appropriate risk measures, controls and methods carried out for proactive market risk management.

The Bank carries out market risk management through effective risk measurement tools including Value at Risk (VaR), Price
Value per Basis Point (PVBP), Duration, Beta, and Expected Shortfall on regular basis. Bank also ascertains the impact of
changes in market factors on Bank’s earnings through regular stress testing and Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Processes (ICAAP).

Balance sheet split by trading and banking books

2022 2021
Bankin: Tradin Bankin: Tradin
bookg bookg Total book ? bookg Total
(Rupees in '000)

Cash and balances with treasury banks 143,004,094 - 143,004,094 267,937,282 - 267,937,282
Balances with other banks 15,692,567 - 15,692,567 23,363,057 - 23,363,057
Lendings to financial institutions 85,296,480 - 85,296,480 51,701,076 - 51,701,076
Investments 693,292,393 721,901,436 1,415,193,829 510,155,570 986,386,883 1,496,542,453
Advances 921,837,095 - 921,837,095 646,188,457 - 646,188,457
Fixed assets 70,816,984 - 70,816,984 68,537,653 - 68,537,653
Intangible assets 2,406,215 - 2,406,215 2,231,265 - 2,231,265
Deferred tax assets 18,874,768 - 18,874,768 7,204,275 - 7,204,275
Other assets 85,631,077 - 85,631,077 54,460,389 - 54,460,389
2,036,851,673 721,901,436 2,758,753,109 1,631,779,024 986,386,883 2,618,165,907

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

45.3.2

45.3.3

45.3.4

Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange (FX) risk arises from the fluctuation in the value of assets and liabilities due to the changes in foreign
exchange rates.

The FX risk and associated concentration risk is managed through approved currency wise net open position limits, tenor
wise limits and an overall FEE limit.

The currency risk is effectively monitored against the applicable regulatory limits. Market risk monitors that the FX exposure
remains under limits prescribed by SBP and Internal Limits approved by GALCO.

2022 2021
Foreign Foreign Off-balance Net foreign Foreign Foreign Off-balance Net foreign
Currency Currency sheet items currency Currency Currency sheet items currency
Assets Liabilities exposure Assets Liabilities exposure
(Rupees in '000)
United States Dollar 242,413,070 119,412,092  (121,995,592) 1,005,386 234,596,295 136,795,093 (102,559,248) (4,758,046)
Great Britain Pound 2,097,483 26,833,750 25,299,696 563,429 2,087,074 21,469,450 20,009,696 627,320
Japanese Yen 34,449 11,445 (17,136) 5,868 30,118 99,659 70,978 1,437
Euro 3,483,404 14,366,025 10,850,347 (32,274) 2,777,761 8,076,568 5,299,402 595
UAE Dirham 116,182,231 214,805,842 98,557,128 (66,483) 68,981,715 168,285,202 100,557,440 1,253,953
Bahraini Dinar 12,534,064 37,937,332 24,742,967 (660,301) 16,963,843 29,179,381 12,281,281 65,743
Qatari Riyal 23,375,382 40,361,795 16,868,237 (118,176) 15,801,817 34,055,642 16,847,242  (1,406,583)
Other Currencies 11,703,634 10,944,608 323,301 1,082,327 8,349,602 6,357,272 (2,086,131) (93,801)
411,823,717 464,672,889 54,628,948 1,779,776 349,588,225 404,318,267 50,420,660  (4,309,382)
2022 2021
Banking Trading Banking Trading
book book book book
------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) =======mm=mmmmmmmmammmmmanes
Impact of 1% change in foreign exchange rates on
- Profit and loss account - - - -
- Other comprehensive income (17,798) - 43,094 -

Equity Position Risk

Equity risk is the risk that the fair value of an equity instrument will fluctuate due to changes in the prices of individual stocks
or market indices.

To manage equity risk, The Bank has a well-defined criterion for identifying the Investible Universe based on the Market
Capitalization, Liquidity & Average Daily Traded Volumes.

The Bank has an active and regular monitoring mechanism for utilization against approved portfolio limits, scrip wise limits,
sector limits and timely escalation of Management Action Trigger Levels (MAT).

2022 2021
Banking Trading Banking Trading
book book book book
------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) =--=-===s==mmmmmmmmmmmmnmannes
Impact of 5% change in equity prices on,
- Profit and loss account - - - -
- Other comprehensive income 32,130 487,632 25,348 495,409

Yield / Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) - Basel Il Specific

Interest rate risk is the risk that fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates,
including changes in the shape of yield curves. Interest rate risk is inherent in the overall business of the Bank and arises

from mismatches between the contractual maturities and the re-pricing of on and off-balance sheet assets and liabilities.

Interest rate risk is monitored and managed by performing periodic gap analysis, sensitivity analysis and stress testing. In
case of any distressed event the results and corresponding action plan is presented at the relevant management / BoD

committee.

Impact of 1% change in interest rates on
- Profit and loss account
- Other comprehensive income

2022 2021
Banking Trading Banking Trading
book book book book
------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) =--=-==ss=mmmmmmemmnmmnnmannas
- 21,338 - 271,551
17,811,510 2,025,824 4,481,288 3,743,314
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Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
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195,966,118 152,290,922 133,521,925 131,707,099 613,418,179 154,628,901 136,899,026 253,602,006 641,489,184
320,770,993 227,971,993

422,784,050

2,413,523,360

(549,752,921)

162,390,723

(422,030,444)  (8,574,249)

91,484,711

(40,402,309)

204,642,547

Net assets

12,241,797

Share capital

69,718,467
38,056,329

Reserves

Surplus on revaluation of assets

84,625,954
204,642,547

Unappropriated profit

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

45.6

45.7

Information Security Risk

Information security risk is the probability of exposure or loss resulting from a cyberattack or data breach on the Bank. It is
the potential for unauthorized use, disruption, modification or destruction of information such incidents can violate privacy,
disrupt business, damage assets and facilitate other crimes like frauds.

UBL has a dedicated Information Security Division, functioning within Risk and Credit Policy Group which manages
information security risks to protect the technology and information assets by preventing, detecting and responding to
threats, both internal and external.

Offensive security unit within the information security division manages Penetration Testing by simulating the real world
hacking scenarios. This unit remains responsible for establishing, implementing, maintaining and continually improving an
information / cyber security management system through control design and controls validation, primarily in the domain of
applications / network penetration testing, and also supporting the other domains of information security i.e., security
monitoring and threat hunting.

Moreover, to overcome social engineering frauds, extensive awareness campaigns are launched to provide specific training
and guidance on information security related matters such as phishing, identity theft, online transaction frauds, etc. through
various mechanisms such as social media, website, email advisories, SMS, webinars, phishing simulation exercises, new
joiner’s orientation, and targeted awareness sessions for executive leadership. These initiatives by Governance, Risk and
Compliance Unit are focused on elevating level of awareness for both internal as well as external customers to better equip
them to counter security challenges. This unit manages the security compliance efforts, risk management and the
development and implementation of information security policies, procedures, guidelines and standards. Cyber &
Infrastructure Security unit ensures that the IT Infrastructure function and services are resilient, secure, well-designed,
accessible, and adaptable to the organization's changing demands. This unit is responsible for the continuous improvement
of information / cyber security architecture that protects against both internal and external threats.

Significant progress has been made in securing the international territories as well by deploying 24/7 Security Operation
Center (SOC) at UBL. This unit deals with security issues. The unit continuously shares awareness news, alerts,
announcements, advisories and threats intelligence research reports to relevant stakeholder for securing the bank’s assets.

Application Security in Information security (IS) manages IS Risk Analysis on software applications, APIs, Mobile Apps,
Digital Channels, Cloud Computing, ATM including review of security aspects of assets, enterprise architecture design
controls of the applications in accordance with applicable policies, standards & controls.

Further, The Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI-DSS) program was initiated which aims to enhance
security for customer card data by setting guidelines for any company that accepts, stores, processes, or transmits card
information. This compliance framework is an industry-mandated set of standards intended to keep customer card data safe
when it is used by merchants and service providers.

Moving ahead, Bank’s main focus remains on the continuous improvement of UBL’s security posture and to effectively
prevent, monitor and rapidly respond to emerging threats and vulnerabilities.

Financial Crime Compliance (FCC) risk management and Pakistan FATF & APG action plan

The Bank monitor key risks on an ongoing basis to strengthen risk management in an effort to meet challenges emanating
from a volatile market environment and the complexity driven by the changing regulatory frameworks. By utilizing
comprehensive risk management processes and sophisticated control systems, the Bank aims to minimize the negative
impact that may arise from varied degrees of risk exposures.

In response to changing landscape around FCC risks across the globe and in response to Financial Action Task Force
(FATF) & Asia Pacific Group (APG) action plan and State Bank of Pakistan's AML / CFT / CPF Regulations, the Bank
embarked upon a comprehensive Financial Crime Compliance Transformation Program under the guidance of Board of
Directors (BoD), specifically geared towards uplifting FCC Framework and fortifying controls across Process, People and
Technology (Regtech) work streams in line with international best practices and Standards. Targeted investments were
done across these work streams, brief highlights are as under:
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1. Under FCC Process Workstream; the Bank uplifted the framework at design level with key deliverables as:

» FCC Strategy

* Bank’s FCC Risk Appetite Statement

* Target Operating Model (TOM) across three lines of defense

* FCC Policies & Standards

* Enterprise Wide FCC Risk Assessment Methodologies/Internal Risk Assessment Review (EWRA/IRAR) with focus on
AML, CFT, Sanctions / CPF & Transnational Risks etc.

» Management Information (M) Suite.

2. The Bank rolled out comprehensive role based FCC training modules and staff capacity assessment carried out under
FCC Transformation People Workstream.

3. On Regtech work stream, the Bank upgraded and implemented best in class Transaction Monitoring and payments
screening systems. These systems were independently reviewed by a reputed international third party expert.

4. Effective risk governance sets a solid foundation for comprehensive risk management discipline. The Bank’s risk
governance framework is based on “three line of defense” governance model, wherein each line has a specific role with
defined responsibilities and work in close collaboration to identify, assess and mitigate risks. Key management and
board committee covering FCC and compliance matters is Compliance Committee of Management (CCM) and Board
Risk & Compliance Committee (BRCC).

Moreover, FCC Transformation & Controls Fortification Programme is an ongoing initiative that is managed by Compliance
Governance team in consultation with FCC teams across first and second line of defence.

Derivative Risk
There are a number of risks undertaken by the Bank, which need to be monitored and assessed.
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of non-performance or default by a party to a derivatives transaction, resulting in an adverse
impact on the Bank’s profitability. Credit risk associated with derivatives transactions is categorized into settlement risk and
pre-settlement risk. Credit proposals for derivatives transactions are approved by the Credit Committee. The credit exposure
of each counterparty is estimated and monitored against approved counterparty limits by Treasury Middle Office (TMO) on a
daily basis.

Market risk

The Bank, as a policy, hedges back-to-back all options transactions. In addition, the Bank does not carry any exchange risk
on its Cross Currency Swaps portfolio as it hedges the exposure in the interbank market. To manage the interest rate risk of
Interest Rate Derivatives, the Bank has implemented various limits which are monitored and reported by TMO on a daily
basis.

Liquidity risk
Derivatives transactions, usually being non-funded in nature, do not carry a specific funding liquidity risk.

The liquidity risk arises from the fact that in Pakistan, interest rate derivatives generally have a uni-directional demand, and
no perfect hedge is available. The Bank mitigates its risk by limiting the portfolio in terms of tenor, notional and sensitivity
limits, and can also hedge its risk by taking on and off balance sheet positions in the interbank market, where available.

Operational risk

The staff involved in the trading, settlement and risk management of derivatives is carefully trained to deal with the
complexities involved in the process. Adequate systems and controls are in place to carry out derivatives transactions
smoothly. Each transaction is processed in accordance with the product program or a transaction memo, which contains
detailed guidance on the accounting and operational aspects of the transaction to further mitigate operational risk. In
addition, TMO and the Compliance and Control Department are assigned the responsibility of monitoring any deviation from
policies and procedures. The Bank’s Audit and Inspection Group also reviews this function, with a regular review of systems,
transactional processes, accounting practices and end-user roles and responsibilities.

Notes to and forming part of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

46.

47.

48.

48.1

48.2

49.

The Bank uses FX and Derivatives module of Treasury System which provides an end-to-end valuation solution, supports the
routine transactional process and provides analytical tools to measure various risk exposures, carry out stress tests and
sensitivity analysis.

TMO produces various reports on a periodic basis which are reviewed by senior management. These reports provide details
of the derivatives business profile such as outstanding positions, profitability, risk exposures and the status of compliance with
limits.

YEMEN OPERATIONS

Despite risky situation and continued operational losses the Bank has been striving to honor liabilities for past eight years.
However, on account of several factors, including but not limited to fragile political and economic situation in Yemen,
bankruptcy of CBY Sana’a, existence of two Central Banks (i.e. CBY Sana’a and CBY Aden), has resulted in illiquid market,
which does not appears to be reversed in near future.

It is no longer possible for the Bank to continue its operations in Yemen due to reasons not attributable to the Bank and
caused by circumstances entirely beyond the Bank’s control. Therefore, Bank has completely exited from Yemen. The Bank is
cognizant of the associated risks arising out of its exit from Yemen.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Board of Directors, in its meeting held on February 22, 2023 has proposed a final cash dividend of Rs.9.0 per share for
the year 2022. This is in addition to Rs. 13.0 already paid during the year bringing the total dividend for the year to Rs. 22.0
per share (2021: Rs. 18.0 per share). This appropriation is expected to be approved by the shareholders in forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. The unconsolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 do not include the
effect of this appropriation which will be accounted for in the unconsolidated financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 2023.

GENERAL

Comparative information has been reclassified, rearranged or additionally incorporated in these unconsolidated financial
statements for the purposes of better presentation.

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees unless otherwise stated.
DATE OF AUTHORISATION

These unconsolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on February 22, 2023, by the Board of Directors of the
Bank.

S~ = —

e )

Arif Akmal Saifie

Shazad G. Dada Shazia Syed Muhammad Jawaid Igbal  Sir Mohammed Anwar Pervez, OBE, HPk

Chief Financial Officer President & Director Director Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Il Annual Report 2022 | 161



ueaypoi

1S1Q B22Rd JO0UR)Y [ISYD] Uy

692'9 - 692'9 - 0.2°0L - 1469 662°€ pewweynin uer(  T-G67/868-¢079€ 1|y boouey pewweyny| osuey yey) ueseyg esuon liseq
1|y boouey pewweynin| 4,

ueJypoq nisia

3 UBIYPOT |ISY3L ‘seyy Jelh|ny|

€zL'l - €zL'L - €2€°C - €TET 000°T pewiweyn|A J0ON|  §-L9TT9€0-€0C9€E pawyy Jioyez N quny) od ‘lIleM Uey[elA liseg
pawyy Joyez llen| ¢

ueyy Jep wiyey

1s1q "andieber j1sya | ezoua4

~ 191UplY pewweynA 0d ‘v/zL "ON Yeyd eaia ye|lv iey

6%9 - 6¥9 - 6vv'C - 6176 00S'T ejoyg wer)  g-0v9¢eL-TOETE 19 Jeqy pewweyniy liseg pewweyniy JIA wer elsg

PPV
pewweyniA g Jeqyy pewweynin|f z;

ueaypoi

"1SIQ BJORd JOO0URY [ISYD] Uyl

yie's - vie's - yLELL - viv'L 006°€ pewweyn|n uer  /-S7€S60S-V0ETE 1|V POOSeA pljeyy|| osuey yey) ueieyg esuon liseq
IV POOSEIN PIIEUM| |

103j|elS ‘peoy eseq 30y Ped

YEL - YeL - S€L - VeEL T pPeysly pewweyniAf  T-€SE9E6L-TO9VE ure|bes pewweynin

siaylo.g uiejbes /N o,

elemuel(ng

10143510 ‘PegRIIZBAN [ISYDL ‘Dlueyy

6L - 16L - L6L°L - T6L (004 IV JeqAV| L-v06€CSC-VOTVE pawyy poosbel\| peaH O'd ‘uejey aioyiey ase||IA
pawyy poosbe\| ¢

qoobe, pewweyniy elemuel(no 1pLISIg ‘pPeqedizep\

SBUNOA pewweyn 1sya] ‘eyneyd JeseN paw

€9G°L - €9G°) - €9G'G - €95°T 000t nng eyyey yejy L¥1S089 u_mmsow ”mEEm“:x lisiaL BUmEN N patitv
qnAy pewweyniy wued Aiynod Jiwysey S/N| g
dn-yJep dn-yep S10}23l1p / si0jaridoad "ON
|elol [T Te) /350503 Jedidung |ejol siayl0 J1saul ledioung aweN pueqsnH / Jayjeq JaquinN JIND | s1ouped | SIENPIAIPUL JO SWIEN 19Mo.10( 3y} JO SSaIppy pue sweN g

HO-USHIIA Buiuuibaq sy 3y

spuesnoy} uj ‘sy

aA0Qe J0 saadny puesnoy| palpunH

2202 ‘LS 1equwieda poapus Jesk ayl bulinp paplaoid
9l JO Jal|aJ |eloueul) J1oylo Aue Jo sedueApe JJO-Ud1llim BUIMOYS Juswialels
Sjusuwialels |eiloueuld

pa31epI|osSuU0)D pue pajepljosuodun sjueg ayj JO 96 910U Ul 0] Palid)al sk |, dinXauuy

006

006

056°L

10[BIS 101181Q
“1ueD 10%[BIS ‘PeOY pifseln elwer

056 000°T |oosey wenyo|  S-ey8/1¥8-€09t7€ Je3iez |oosey Jeyyiy| ‘700N P4BM ‘€/TTT "ON 3SNOH

JeSiez [oosey eyl ,

¥88

788

¥8€°L

ejemuellng
113sIQ ‘peqedizepn [IsyaL ‘Dwes

86 oot utessny JizeNf  /-T98%989-V0TVE Zemen |no 0'd ewaay) ejepepn ade||IA

zemeN N9 ¢

£V0'L

£Y0°L

£vsL

elemued(ng
PLISIg puy peqedizepn jIsys L

€60'T 0sv we|sy pewweyniA|  6-¥T€8896-vOTYE| UnAeweH ueiw| pewweyniy ‘awes O'd “4eyjer 10 35e||IA

unAewey uelw| pewweyniy| ¢

z8L'L

z8LL

zel'L

elemuel(no 1o13sIq ‘peqedizep

ISYaL ‘dwes O'd yJeo |Ipy ade||iA

LST'T TA4 uey wnjeH| T1-9/968¥8-701vE pawyy zery

wJeq Ajnod Aypneyd s/IN

99¢

996

99Y'L

elemued(no 1o13sIq ‘peqedizep

l'sya1 ‘dwes O'd esdoyl ae||IA

99§ 006 anbippis pewweyniAl|  £-79%2S80-TO9VE pawyy zef|

pawyy zefl| ¢

661°C

661°C

YET'E

elemuedno 1013sIq ‘peqedizepy

lisyaL ‘dwes 0'd ‘ ise[ey ase||IA

vET'T 000°T ZBlY pewweynin| - ¢-099¢C9T-v0Tve 1qig zeuyeys

1q1g zeuyeys

859'L

859'L

859'L

Jemeysad
pawyy beysny peoy AusIaAlun ‘4amo] pemer

ZIzy |npqv

6-CSYEOTV-TOELT
6-806719T-TOELT

d1qes [99py

8391 ) ueJw| pewweyn|a

sa1035-27| |

lejol

s19Y10

dn-yiep
1sa193u]

Jediound

lejol

s19Y0

dn-yiep S10}0a11p | siojendoid "ON

lediduud | aweN pueqsnH /Jayjeq JaquinN JIND 13MO0110( 3} JO SSAIPPY pue aweN

1s@I19)u] | siauypied | sjenpiAlpul jo aweN IS

HO-UD

HLM

Buruuibag

a3y} W

spuesnoyj} ul ‘sy

aA0Qe J0 seadny puesnoy| paJpunH

2202 ‘LS 1equwieda poapus Jesk ayl bulinp papliaoid
9l JO Jal|aJ |eloueul) J1oylo Aue Jo sadueApe JJO-Ualllim BUIMOYS Juswalels
Sjusuwialels |eildoueuld

pPa31epI|oSuU0) pue pajepljosuodun sjueg ayj JO 96 910U Ul 0] Pa1id)dl Se |, dInXauuy

162 | United Bank Limited I 1 | INEEEEEEEE e e 1] Annual Report 2022 | 163



ceLL

[44N*

26S'L

uexueN Ya] peqezieq Ipuejn|

0d y3uis Jewwep ejip a3e||1
It oLy IV WbeH|  6-7¥ZEESO-COVSE 1V Jeyssy d Hetis LY A

IV Jeyssy| g

09

709

206

Jiye] 10y Ao qiyes

euejueN Ya1 Jiye] 10) ezoN
09 86¢C [lews| pewweyn|Al|  §-0/69¢T0-TOSSE| [lews| pewweyniz O S blel

|lews| pewweyniy| O S buel| gz

0€L

0eL

0€0°}

peqezijey 1sig uenieyg
Ipuld ya| ‘ Jede] Und |oosey
0€L 00€ pewyy ueyns| T-¥Z8Z6TS-TOEVE IV qesue|y 0/ d eieyo eyieyy agej|IA

IV qesueiN| gz

298

298

yizl

uesSoq ebueyy

e0Y eypopJES BUBYRYS BISQ
16 00¢€ JIPeY NPV YD| 6-69CCSS-C0TSE|  JIPED ejelsniA pewweynin P upop el

JIpep ejeisn|n pewweyninf 4z

39

39

06

Jey3euseg A1) qiyes eueduen
1V 1epeyeys yaL Jeyseteg O d Aeuyay
799 0S¢ IIv 3epeyeys| /-8TT609T-C0VSE 05 |egb| pewweyny

11V 3epeyeys os [eqb| pewweyniy
9¢

Syl

SrL°L

GL9°L

Jeyseseg Al qiyes euedueN ya|

, Jeyeseg od Sueues eisoyyoe|n
SYT'T oLy IV Joswe)|  S-08/L¢TT0-T0SSE 1|V Je3We) O S 1|V pawyy 4 o

IV J23wey| O S 1|V pawyy
GC

8€G

8¢S

8€8

uomnagJepm
and uediy AYD giyes eueyuen
8€S 0og ueyyl pewweyn|y ey /-¢¢v0v6T-¢0vSE uteudib|nz 1|y ey Ya1 awes od Jnduediy d3e||IA

ureunbinz v 1ey| 4z

8l

Y9

789

1uawueddy gzs J00[4

1G [|BIN SISXe] udaJg 81ag|no
- - ulessny pljeyyl 1zeD| 6-££0T9ST-90VLE prey v sl al

PlEYN 1IV| ¢z

lejol

s18Y0

dn-iep
/1s@I13)u]

Jedidung

lejol

s19Y30

dn-Iep S1030011p | Siojendoid “ON
lediduud | aweN pueqsnH /1ayjeq JaquinN JIND 19M0110( 3Y} JO SSAIPPY pue dweN

/3sa19ju] | siaupied / s|enpIAIpul JO dweN "Ig

Jo-ua

BLUM

Buruuibaq

2y} Iy

spuesnoy} uj ‘sy

aA0Qe J0 saadny puesnoy| palpunH

2202 ‘LS 1equwieda poapus Jesk ayl bulinp paplaoid
9l JO Jal|aJ |eloueul) J1oylo Aue Jo sedueApe JJO-Ud1llim BUIMOYS Juswialels
Sjusuwialels |eiloueuld

pa31epI|osSuU0)D pue pajepljosuodun sjueg ayj JO 96 910U Ul 0] Palid)al sk |, dinXauuy

099

S0l

oy

1IeYIN paanef Jeap Jaagersq

BaJy q4 ST ST 20|19 6¢V d #H
- - ulessnH plyeys| [-L€0S8EL-T0TCY Lswyy

Jswyy| zz

95S

€C

99

“umo] Jeyor 13-8Z ON H
- - SEUNOA pewweynin|  6-/871089-207SE J351eD pewWeyn|n
._wm_md pewweynipy 1z

GES

GES

GES

yJedieyezniy
"11s1Q %3 101€f |IsYa L ‘peoy
S€S - anbyjey pewweyniAl|  £-86T9ELT-ZOETE uewiyay Jn Neyy| Jejnauid ‘ejeys oeo ‘60 "ON pIeM

uewyay 4n ey | oz

Le0'L

Le0'L

Les'L

indjemeyegq 131s1g ‘uewze, |1Isyal
) ‘eep PNy Od ‘0Q/8E "ON By
18T'T | 0SE YelINPAY PeWWeYNA|  €-6ETTO8Z-SOZTE ey Ye|y 1emp aa/ IEY

eyyey yejy
6l

oze'l

oze'l

020'Cc

indjemeyeg 1sig Indjisey |1sya1
‘ ‘|0 IndjiseH ‘dexeqnqy e||eyoln
oze'T | 0oL e pewweyniv| - €-666TLTS-€0ZTE segez pewweynpy| P10 eNav eljey

Jejez pewweynip
8l

80l

801

80L'G

ueyy| JeA wiyey "1siq Jndieben

, , |Isya| ez0J24 Jezeq Jepes
60T°C 666'C |'BJnl pewweynin| - T-TE6ELEB-COETE U99seA pewiweyniy

uaaseA pewweyninlf 4,

00L'L

00L°L

0SL°L

ueyni
‘11513 8 [ISY3L ‘peoy [emaueyy
0ST'T - ueyy seqqy JeyzeN| 0-99807TT-C0E9€E 1919 yejiwsig|  ‘Auojo) pueqysbeN ‘SE0T "ON H

191d yeqjiwsig) g,

C14°]

s

904

indjemeyeq "1siq

‘and ISeH |Isyal ‘4/98 ‘ON 3eyd
0L - Alyseg pewweyniAl| - 6-02£269T-E0CTE wnfuy pases IISeH IIS4aL 3/ ey

wnluy pases| g,

lejol

s19Y10

dn-yiep
/3sa19u|

Jediound

lejol

s1PYI0

dn-iep S10}0011p | siojendoid "ON
ledidund | aweN pueqsnH /Jayjeq J3quinN JIND 13M0110( 3} JO SSAIPPY pue aweN

/3sa19u| | siauypied | s|enpiAlpul jo aweN g

1O-UBNIIM

Buiuuibag

U

spuesnoyj ul sy

2202 ‘LS 1equwieda poapus Jesk ayl bulinp papliaoid

aA0Qe 0 saadny puesnoy] paJpunH aAIH JO jaljaJ [eIDURUL J8Y10 AUR O S9DURAPE JJO-UdIIIIM BUIMOYS JUBWIDIRIS

Sjus